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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

On December 5, 2018, in accordance with the 2012 Charter of the City of Detroit (Charter), 
the Office of Inspector General (OIG) initiated an investigation in response to an anonymous 
complaint pertaining to questions surrounding hiring practices of the City of Detroit Health 
Department.  It is important to note that we are an independent agency that is charged with 
ensuring honesty and integrity in the City.  Our jurisdiction is limited by the Charter to 
investigate matters concerning abuse, waste, fraud and corruption.  We gather evidence during 
the course of our investigation and make factual findings.  Our investigation led to the following 
findings: 

 
• Former Health Department Director Dr. Joneigh Khaldun abused her authority and 

wasted City resources by posting a competitive position that was intended to benefit one 
specific individual; and  

• Flaws in the City of Detroit Human Resources job posting and classification process that 
left the positions posted open to possible abuse and manipulation 

Pursuant to Section 7.5-311 (1) of the Charter, prior to releasing any report that is critical of 
an official act, the OIG allows the affected parties to respond the OIG’s draft report, either via a 
written response, an administrative hearing or both.  The goal of the written 
response/administrative hearing is for the affected parties to present new evidence that 
challenges the OIG’s findings in the draft report.  Thereafter, all evidence is evaluated, which 
may result in changes to the OIG’s report if necessary.   

 
The following report highlights the effectiveness of the OIG’s Administrative Hearing 

process.  The OIG does not approach its investigations with a pre-determined outcome.  Instead 
we allow the evidence to lead us to a conclusion.  The Administrative Hearing process allows the 
affected parties to challenge our findings with additional evidence. 

 
In this case, the administrative hearings resulted in some substantive changes, which are 

reflected in our final report.  While the findings of abuse of authority and waste of City resources 
stand, there were some other findings that were amended as a result of the additional evidence.  
For example, although it is no longer mentioned in the final report, you will see references to HR 
scoring in the written responses from the parties in the final report.  This is because the parties 
provided sufficient additional evidence that resulted in a more complete analyses, leading the 
OIG to reach a different conclusion in this case.  Likewise, you will see references to the OIG’s 
request to discipline an employee for providing a false statement.  However, additional 
information and interviews show the employee misunderstood the OIG’s questions, allowing the 
OIG to remove its recommendation for discipline as there was no longer a clear intent to provide 
a false statement.   

 
The OIG is committed to providing factually accurate reports to the public.  This is why we 

have a process that ensures that our initial findings are not absolute or final, allowing for ongoing 
discussions, review of new evidence and additional investigation when necessary, before the 
report is final.    We are pleased with how the process worked in this case, and encourage others 
to actively participate in the process for the best outcome.   



 
 

I. Recommendation 

This report is based on an anonymous complaint and subsequent investigation by 
the Office of Inspector General (OIG).  The investigation found sufficient evidence 
that Dr. Joneigh Khaldun, former Director of the City of Detroit Health Department 
(Health Department) wasted City resources and abused her authority, by orchestrating 
a job posting and interview process intended to benefit a specific individual, 
Valentina Djelaj, who at the time held the position Special Associate to the Director.1 
The OIG further finds the Human Resources Department (HR) should train hiring 
managers pertaining to matters when it is appropriate to add a sub-classification to an 
established position, times when a new position needs to be created or the  entire 
position needs to be reclassified.  Because Dr. Khaldun no longer works for the City 
of Detroit Health Department, the OIG cannot recommend action against her.  
However, the OIG is recommending the following action be taken by HR: 

• The HR Department provide training for all hiring managers pertaining to 
the proper procedures in posting jobs, including when a sub-classification 
is appropriate, when a new position needs to be created and when a 
position no longer fits the department’s needs and has to be reclassified. 
   

II. Allegations from the Anonymous Complaint 

In December 2018, the OIG received an anonymous complaint regarding certain 
hiring practices in the Health Department.  The letter alleged misuse of public funds 
and abuse of authority.  The complaint contained the following allegations: 

• The former Health Department Director, Dr. Joneigh Khaldun, promoted a 
personal friend to a high ranking position in the Health Department and 
doubled her salary to about $120,000; 

• The person hired by the Health Department, Valentina Djelaj, lacked the 
necessary experience to run public health programs; 

• The position was specifically created for Ms. Djelaj without any intent of it 
being competitive; 

• Internal candidates who applied for the position were told “they should have 
known the position was created for Valentina;” and 

• Ms. Djelaj used intimidation tactics with Health Department staff by emailing 
notifications of terminated employees.  

The OIG was not able to substantiate the following allegations: 

• The OIG found no evidence that Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj had any 
personal relationship outside of a working relationship at the Health 
Department;  

• The OIG also found no evidence to support that Ms. Djelaj was attempting 
to intimidate Health Department employees by alerting the staff to 

                                                            
1 Special Associate to the Director was a position in the City of Detroit Health Department through the 
Southeastern Michigan Health Association.  



 
 

personnel changes that affect Health Department programs and points of 
contact; 

• The OIG found no evidence that Ms. Djelaj lacked the experience 
necessary to run public health programs; and 

• The OIG also found no evidence that Ms. Djelaj’s salary was doubled by 
Dr. Khaldun. 

However, the OIG did find evidence to support the allegation regarding internal 
candidates.  Furthermore, while looking into the hiring process of the Chief 
Integration Officer (CIO) position, the OIG noted several concerns with the process 
from creation until the time Ms. Djelaj was selected for the position.   

III. Discussion 

Abuse of Authority/Waste of City of Resources 
The complaint alleged that the CIO position was created specifically for Valentina 

Djelaj, with no intention of it being a competitive position.  Based on the OIG’s 
investigation, there is sufficient evidence to substantiate this allegation.  Therefore, 
the OIG concludes Dr. Khaldun wasted City resources by using HR personnel to post 
and schedule interviews for a position that was solely intended for Ms. Djelaj. 

The OIG’s review of several Health Department emails is summarized as follows:  

• September 8, 2017—Ms. Djelaj prepares a memorandum to Southeastern 
Michigan Health Association (SEMHA)2 for her title change to CIO, 
along with a position description, and submits both documents to Dr. 
Khaldun. 

• October 2, 2017—Ms. Djelaj followed up with Dr. Khaldun, asking if she 
had any revisions to the position description and if it is ok to submit the 
paperwork to SEMHA. 

• October 3, 2017—Dr. Khaldun sends her revisions to Ms. Djelaj, stating 
Dr. Khaldun would be fine if Ms. Djelaj moved forward with the position 
description. 

• October 3, 2017—Ms. Djelaj states she would stamp the paperwork with 
Dr. Khaldun’s signature and submit to SEMHA. 

• October 3, 2017—Zaundra Wimberley (Operations Administrator with 
SEMHA) emails Ms. Djelaj asking for the CIO position description to 
process her promotion, which Ms. Djelaj emailed to Timothy Lawther, 
Deputy Director of the Health Department. 

• October 4, 2017—Mr. Lawther emails Dr. Khaldun stating the need to 
change Valentina Djelaj and Zaundra Wimberley’s City titles3 to Public 
Health Division Administrator to accommodate their salary increases; a 
follow-up email is sent on the same day from Mr. Lawther to Dr. Khaldun 
which reveals the other option would be to reduce Ms. Djelaj and 

                                                            
2 SEMHA provides employees for grant-funded health programs. 
3 Ms. Djelaj and Ms. Wimberley were both employed with SEMHA; the email refers to transitioning 
both to City of Detroit positions. 



 
 

Wimberley’s salaries by $10K respectively or go through a very long 
process of creating new positions. 

• October 18, 2017—Dr. Khaldun emails Mr. Lawther asking if the CIO 
position could be finalized through SEMHA. 

• October 20, 2017—Gary Petroni, Executive Director of SEMHA, emails 
Mr. Lawther explaining why SEMHA cannot process the requested 
position4 change, with a legal opinion attached from SEMHA’s legal 
counsel, which basically states SEMHA employees cannot report to 
Health Department employees. 

• October 23, 2017—Dr. Khaldun sends Ms. Djelaj an email stating that her 
new position could not be pushed through SEMHA but there is a plan in 
place that Dr. Khaldun wanted to discuss with her offline. 

• October 24, 2017—Dr. Khaldun emails Mr. Lawther inquiring about 
salary increases for Ms. Wimberly and Ms. Djelaj, indicating that they 
would wait on the official title/position changes until the City process was 
complete. 

• December 8, 2017—Dr. Khaldun emails an outside party, copying 
Valentina in the email.  The email refers to Ms. Djelaj as the Health 
Department’s CIO. 

• January 2, 2018—Ms. Djelaj begins using the CIO title in her email 
signature. 

• February 9, 2018—Dr. Khaldun emails Ms. Djelaj to let her know the CIO 
position is posted, by forwarding Ms. Djelaj the email blast which 
contains the job posting with an “FYI” to Ms. Djelaj. 

Based on the above emails, the OIG concludes Dr. Khaldun initially discussed 
promoting Ms. Djelaj to the CIO position through SEMHA, in approximately 
September 2017.  There are several emails from October 2017 which references Ms. 
Djelaj’s promotion and salary increase.  In an email on October 18, 2017, from Dr. 
Khaldun to Tim Lawther, Dr. Khaldun poses a question to Mr. Lawther “Chief 
Integration Officer-can we go ahead and get it finalized through SEMHA?”  The 
email is entitled “Valentina’s position.”   

The emails evidence the process was halted after SEMHA Director Gary Petroni 
raised questions about a request to create an Organizational Development Manager5 
position for the Health Department through SEMHA.  This request was subsequently 
denied by SEMHA as referenced in the above timeline.  As a result, Dr. Khaldun and 
Mr. Lawther decided to post the CIO position with the City of Detroit HR 
Department.  In an email dated October 23, 2017, Dr. Khaldun writes to Ms. Djelaj, 
with a copy to Mr. Lawther,  The email states “Val, I need to discuss your role-
because it is so integrated with organizational development with the City we are 

                                                            
4 The position in question was the Organization Development Manager, not the CIO position. 
5 SEHMA received a legal opinion dated 10/19/17 regarding an Organizational Development Manager 
position.  The opinion states the SEMHA employees cannot report to Health Department employees, 
which would have been the case for the Chief Integration Officer position that reported directly to the 
Health Department Director. 
 



 
 

unable to push it forward as is through SEMHA but we have a plan.  Let’s talk 
offline.”  Subsequent emails reveals “the plan” to make CIO a position within the 
Health Department, by moving Ms. Djelaj from a SEMHA employee status to a City 
of Detroit employee status.  

Dr. Khaldun’s Written Response/Administrative Hearing 
In response to our draft report, Dr. Khaldun requested an administrative hearing.  

In her hearing,6 Dr. Khaldun described a clear difference in the process of hiring 
through SEMHA and the City of Detroit.  With SEMHA, Dr. Khaldun had the ability 
to hire and promote staff, as well as the authority to increase salaries freely, as long as 
the budget was available to cover such changes.  Dr. Khaldun also stated that she 
transitioned Ms. Djelaj to the CIO position with SEMHA without posting because 
that was the common practice with SEMHA.7  However, the City of Detroit HR 
process is very different.  The HR process requires the position to be posted and for 
the salary to be within specified range for the given classification.     

Dr. Khaldun also spoke in detail about the need for the CIO position.  Dr. 
Khaldun stated the position was needed to integrate programs not only to make the 
department more efficient, put to provide City residents with a seamless process when 
applying for and receiving services.8  Dr. Khaldun further stated that she created the 
position because it was necessary, not because she wanted a particular person to hold 
the title.   

Ms. Djelaj drafted an organizational chart,9 dated September 2, 2017, in which 
she listed herself as the Health Department’s CIO.  The organizational chart was 
emailed to Dr. Khaldun on September 5, 2017.  Dr. Khaldun also referred to Ms. 
Djelaj as the CIO, prior to job being posted through the City of Detroit HR.   

In an email dated December 8, 2017, Dr. Khaldun writes to another party 
“Copying Valentina-she is my Chief Integration Officer (aka my right hand who 
troubleshoots and dives into programs).”  The OIG also discovered that Ms. Djelaj 
began using the title CIO in her email signature as early as January 2, 2018.10  When 
Ms. Djelaj began using this title, no such position existed with SEMHA or the City.  
The City had not even posted the position at the time. 

What is clear from the hearing is that Dr. Khaldun thought very highly of Ms. 
Djelaj and the work she was doing for the department, calling Ms. Djelaj “one of the 
few in the department I felt I could count on to provide reliable, high quality and 
acceptable work.”  Dr. Khaldun is adamant that she was only transitioning the 
positions to the City of Detroit, not the people.  However, interviews with former 
Health Department employees, including former Deputy Director Tim Lawther, show 
that others did not believe this was the case.   

                                                            
6 Dr. Khaldun’s Administrative Hearing was held on November 13, 2019. 
7 Dr. Khaldun’s Administrative Hearing Transcript, Pg. 28. 
8 Dr. Khaldun’s Administrative Hearing Transcript, Pg. 38. 
9 Ms. Djelaj drafter several organizational charts, with her title alternating between CIO and Special 
Associate to the Director. 
10 Prior to that date, Ms. Djelaj used the title Special Associate to the Director in her email signature. 



 
 

Interview with Tim Lawther         
The OIG interviewed Tim Lawther, former Deputy Director of the Health 

Department.  In his interview, he confirmed that it was a widely held belief by him 
and others in the Health Department that the job was intended for Ms. Djelaj.    Mr. 
Lawther also made clear that he believed the process was not open or ideal, with 
preferential treatment being given to Ms. Djelaj.  Mr. Lawther also stated that he was 
usually more involved in the hiring process, including sitting in on the interview 
panels.  However, Mr. Lawther was completely shut out of this process by Dr. 
Khaldun, outside of getting the position posted through the City of Detroit HR 
Department.   

Interview with Christina Hall 
The OIG interviewed another CIO candidate, Christina Hall.  Ms. Hall was 

employed by the Health Department at the time of the CIO interviews.  Ms. Hall 
described Dr. Khaldun’s actions during the interview as “checked out.”  Ms. Hall 
stated Dr. Khaldun was late to the interview and questioned the HR representative 
about the interview questions in Ms. Hall’s presence.  Moreover, she noted that Dr. 
Khaldun did not write down anything during her interview.  The OIG found the latter 
statement by Ms. Hall to be false, as the interview scoring packets show Dr. Khaldun 
noted Ms. Hall’s responses to the interview questions on her scoring sheets.   

Approximately two weeks after the interview for the CIO position, Ms. Hall met 
with Dr. Khaldun.  In the meeting, Dr. Khaldun made several statements to her, 
which troubled Ms. Hall.  According to Ms. Hall, 

• Dr. Khaldun did not know what Ms. Hall did for the Health Department.  
However, she did not believe Ms. Hall was a good fit for the CIO position. 

• Ms. Hall stated Dr. Khaldun said the CIO position was not actually as it 
was described in the posting.  Ms. Hall believed the CIO position was Dr. 
Khaldun’s attempts to have her “tentacles” in the Health Department. 

• Dr. Khaldun did not understand Ms. Hall’s interest in the CIO position. 
• Dr. Khaldun told Ms. Hall that people normally move up not by applying 

for positions, but instead being proactive and doing things without 
direction from leadership to get noticed and a job will be created.  

Ms. Hall also stated that although it was not expressly said in her meeting with 
Dr. Khaldun, it was made clear to her that the job belonged to Ms. Djelaj.  At the time 
of the meeting, Ms. Djelaj was using the CIO title in her email signature.11  The OIG 
confirmed that Ms. Djelaj was using the CIO title prior to her officially receiving the 
position.   

Mr. Lawther confirmed that the meeting with Ms. Hall did occur.  While Dr. 
Khaldun noted in her written response to the OIG that Mr. Lawther was having 
problems with Ms. Hall’s work, he stated the opposite in his interview with the OIG.  
Mr. Lawther did not recall saying anything negative about Ms. Hall, but stated he did 
not believe she was a good fit for the position due to previous run-ins with Dr. 
                                                            
11 Ms. Hall did believe that Ms. Djelaj had received the promotion while still employed with SEMHA, 
which is not accurate. 



 
 

Khaldun.  Mr. Lawther described the CIO position as being Dr. Khaldun’s “right 
hand,” which would not be the right position for Ms. Hall.  Mr. Lawther described 
their work-styles as conflicting, with Ms. Hall’s turnaround time being slower than 
others because of her focus on details and accuracy which conflicted with Dr. 
Khaldun’s need for results and a quicker turnaround.  Mr. Lawther spoke highly of 
Ms. Hall and her work, directly contradicting statements from Dr. Khaldun. 

In her written response to the OIG after receiving the draft report, Dr. Khaldun 
indicated that she previously interviewed Ms. Hall and Ms. Djelaj for the same 
position, with the position being awarded to Ms. Djelaj.12  Ms. Hall did not mention 
this interview, or any of the prior conflict with Dr. Khaldun that Mr. Lawther 
mentioned.  The additional information casts Ms. Hall’s characterization of the 
interview and subsequent meeting in a different light, showing there may be a bias 
due to their fractured relationship.  Nevertheless, based Mr. Lawther’s interview and 
Dr. Khaldun’s statements, it appears most of Ms. Hall’s responses regarding the CIO 
position were accurate.   

The actions taken by Dr. Khaldun are troubling.  The evidence shows Dr. 
Khaldun manipulated the system to create an illusion of fairness in the Health 
Department’s hiring of a CIO, when there was none. This is abuse of authority.   

It is clear from the emails and interviews Dr. Khaldun’s intent was to make Ms. 
Djelaj the CIO, both when the position was with SEMHA and when the position was 
moved to the City of Detroit.  Dr. Khaldun’s own words in the administrative hearing 
also seem to strengthen this conclusion.  Dr. Khaldun believed that the CIO position 
was critical to the Health Department’s overall success and efficiency.  It is therefore 
reasonable to conclude that Dr. Khaldun would not want an unproven or unfamiliar 
candidate to hold the CIO position.   

Interview with Alexis Adams 
 On January 3, 2020, the OIG interviewed Alexis Adams, a current employee of 
the Health Department and Dr. Khaldun’s former assistant.  Ms. Adams was part of 
the interview panel for the CIO positions.  Ms. Adams stated she was not involved 
with any aspect of the CIO position, such as the job posting, prior to being on the 
interview panel.  Ms. Adams also stated she believed that the interviews were 
conducted fairly.  Ms. Adams stated she had not heard the position was created for 
Ms. Djelaj.   

Interviews/Administrative Hearing with Valentina Djelaj 
On August 9, 2019, the OIG conducted an interview with Ms. Djelaj.  Ms. Djelaj 

was asked about her role in the hiring process.  Specifically, she was asked if: 1) she 
had a role in the writing the position description; 2) she had any prior knowledge of 
the position before it was posted with the City of Detroit; and 3) she had any 
discussions about the position being designed for her. 

                                                            
12 The position was Clinical Engagement Coordinator, which is the position Ms. Djelaj held prior to 
becoming the Special Associate to the Director.   



 
 

While Ms. Djelaj acknowledged she assisted former Director Dr. Khaldun in 
drafting position descriptions for many positions in the department, Ms. Djelaj could 
not recall if the CIO was one of the positions she assisted Dr. Khaldun in drafting. 
Ms. Djelaj also stated in her August 9th interview that she had no prior knowledge of 
the CIO position. She claimed she only became aware of the CIO position through the 
City of Detroit job posting email.  However, she claimed she had heard unofficial 
rumors, which led her to believe the position was going to be posted.  Ms. Djelaj was 
also insistent that the she did not believe position was created for her.  Based on our 
investigation, the OIG finds Ms. Djelaj’s August 9th statements are not consistent 
with the information contained in the various emails. 

On August 19, 2019, the OIG had a follow-up interview at the request of Ms. 
Djelaj.  In the interview, Ms. Djelaj revised some of her prior statements.  She 
recalled assisting Dr. Khaldun with the drafting of the job description for the CIO 
position.  Ms. Djelaj attributed this to her routine duties as Special Associate to the 
Director, the title which she held through SEMHA prior to becoming the Health 
Department’s CIO.   

Ms. Djelaj’s statements from the follow-up interview are more in line with the 
email evidence uncovered by the OIG.  Ms. Djelaj also confirmed she was involved 
in the attempts to create the CIO position through SEMHA, and was under the 
impression that it was going to become her position.  This statement also falls in line 
with email evidence from both Ms. Djelaj and Dr. Khaldun.  

In both her interview and the administrative hearing, Ms. Djelaj stated that both 
Dr. Khaldun and Mr. Lawther made it clear the CIO position was not created for her, 
and that it was her understanding that she would have to go through a competitive 
application process.  While Ms. Djelaj offered some clarity of her statements in the 
administrative hearing, this one remains troubling.  In his interview, Mr. Lawther 
stated he does not recall having any conversations with Ms. Djelaj where he made it 
clear that it was not her job; he believes that the only conversation that he had with 
Ms. Djelaj was informing her the posting was open and that she needed to submit an 
application.  As previously noted, Mr. Lawther stated that he and others at the Health 
Department believed it was a forgone conclusion that the CIO position belonged to 
Ms. Djelaj.  

Ms. Djelaj was specifically asked in the August 9, 2019 interview if she recalled 
using the CIO title prior to the City of Detroit posting.  Ms. Djelaj stated she could 
not recall if she used the title prior to the posting.  However, the emails show that Ms. 
Djelaj began using the title in her email signature beginning in January 2018.  She 
also listed Interim CIO as her SEMHA title on her City of Detroit job application, as 
well as in her accompanying cover letter and resume, when she applied for the CIO 
position in February 2018.  Her official SEMHA title, at the time, was Special 
Associate to the Director, not Interim CIO at SEMHA.  There was no Interim CIO 
position at SEMHA or the City of Detroit.  However, Dr. Khaldun made it clear in 
her hearing that those working in the Health Department, both as City employees and 
SEMHA employees, often use functional titles that better describe their jobs instead 



 
 

of the generic white book titles.  Based on the statements made during Dr. Khaldun’s 
and Ms. Djelaj’s administrative hearings, the OIG finds the use and approval of 
functional titles to be within the discretion of Management.  Moreover, Ms. Djelaj 
had Dr. Khaldun’s permission to use the CIO title.   

The OIG believes the interviews with Ms. Djelaj revealed she had a role in the 
initial creation of the CIO position.  She was aware the position was created for her 
when the process was initiated with SEMHA.  Ms. Djelaj also stated that both Dr. 
Khaldun and Mr. Lawther both informed her the CIO position was not her position, 
but the interview with Mr. Lawther directly contradicts her statement.   

CIO Job Specifications and Posting 
The OIG has concerns about the posting of the Health Department’s CIO position.  

HR used the Public Health Division Administrator (PHDA) classification code for the 
CIO posting.  According to HR Rule 11, Section 3-Class Specifications: 
 

Class specifications are intended to define given classes by 
indicating the kinds of positions that should be allocated to 
such classes based upon their duties, responsibilities and 
qualification requirements.  They are by nature descriptive, 
but shall not be held to exclude positions whose duties and 
responsibilities are not specifically mentioned, if such duties 
and responsibilities are similar as to kind, equal in level, and 
require the same set qualifications.   
 

Based on HR Rule 11, the minimum entrance qualifications as listed in the job 
specifications for the PHDA class should have been used for all PHDA postings, 
including any sub-class of PHDA.  However, the position description created by Ms. 
Djelaj and Dr. Khaldun changed the minimum qualifications for education and 
experience set forth in the PHDA classification when the posting was submitted to 
HR.   

When the decision was made to post the position with the City of Detroit, it was 
advertised as a sub-classification of the PHDA position.  The PHDA position (Class 
Code 222070) has the minimum education requirements of a “Master's or Doctoral 
degree in Medicine, Public Health, Business Administration, Health Science 
Administration or other related field” in the job specification.  Any position 
description created using the PHDA classification code should still have the same 
minimum qualifications, according to HR Rule 11.   

Ms. Djelaj created the initial position description13 herself, then emailed it to Dr. 
Khaldun for her review and for any revisions.  The subject line on the email was 
entitled “my pd.14” Moreover, the attachment to the email was the CIO position 
description.  The position description was created in September 2017 by Ms. Djelaj, 
                                                            
13 The position description was found in an email from Ms. Djelaj to Dr. Khaldun on 9/8/17. 
14 “PD” in the subject line refers to position description. 



 
 

with revisions from Dr. Khaldun, when Dr. Khaldun was still attempting to obtain an 
approval of the position through SEMHA.   

The CIO position description created by Ms. Djelaj and Dr. Khaldun varied from 
the PHDA job specifications.  The newly created position description removed the 
word “Medicine” and replaced it with “Social Work.” Ms. Djelaj has a Master’s in 
Social Work.  Furthermore, the PHDA job specification requires “5 or more years 
experience in management or leadership position, with progressive leadership 
experience in public health, government, or nonprofit sectors.”  The position 
description created by Ms. Djelaj requires “3 or more years of experience in public 
health project management, program development, and coalition building.”  
Therefore, we conclude the position description created by Ms. Djelaj and Dr. 
Khaldun was substantially different from the PHDA job specifications, and should 
not have been used for the City of Detroit job posting as it violated HR Rule 11.   

HR disagreed with the OIG’s position that the posting violated HR Rule 11.  
According to HR Department Staff, HR has the ability to change qualifications when 
necessary.  HR staff cited HR Rule 11 Section 4 e which states: 

To meet the needs of City service, the Human Resources 
Director may institute revisions to the classification system.  
Such revisions may include the following as conditions 
warrant; combining, separating or altering existing classes; 
and designating classes as interim where the duties of 
positions in given classes have been substantially 
incorporated into other classes.   

However, this section of the rule does not speak specifically to qualifications as 
Section 3 does.  Furthermore, this reclassification method has a specific policy, which 
would require revisions to the job specifications to be approved by the Classification 
and Compensation Division of HR.  That did not happen with this job posting, or 
several others postings from the Health Department using the PHDA title.   

In HR’s written response to the draft report, HR stated “[w]hile it is the duty of 
[the] Classification and Compensation Division under the Director of Human 
Resources to formally make these changes, the Recruitment Division makes changes 
to job postings for marketing purposes to attract the best candidates.”  The OIG 
understands the City’s need to attract the right candidates but believes this short cut 
creates unnecessary and avoidable problems in the classification system.  

HR agreed that these type of changes should have been reviewed, stating in their 
response that “any enhancement to the job posting that resulted in substantive change 
to the Minimum Entrance Qualification (s) (MEQ’s) should have been flagged for 
review by the HR Director…”  HR further stated they are in the process of training 
the recruitment division staff to identify when this step is required. 

A job classification system is defined as a “group positions which have similar 
duties and the same levels of complexity and responsibility, require similar training 
and experience at the time of recruitment, and are compensated at the same general 



 
 

levels of pay.15”  A job classification system is used to create parity and uniformity 
for the position within the class.  But when there is a significant change to the 
minimum qualifications for one position in the class, without changes to other 
positions within the class, the classification is not equitable.   

The OIG understands that the job specifications and job postings are two separate 
documents, with the job postings being more specifically tailored to the position.  
HR’s position is that a sub-classed position allows changes in areas such as 
experience and education.  However, the OIG concludes changing minimum 
education and experience requirements, even for a sub-class of the PHDA position, 
would violate HR Rule 11, if it is done for the posting alone without a formal 
reclassification.16  

Furthermore, the current process used by HR allows the departments to 
manipulate the classification system for their benefit.  The Health Department settled 
on the PHDA classification not because of the job duties actually assigned to Ms. 
Djelaj, but because it was the only classification that would accommodate the salary 
Dr. Khaldun wanted to pay her.  In an email from Mr. Lawther to Dr. Khaldun on 
October 4, 2017, Mr. Lawther stated “[l]ooks like we’ll need to change Valentina and 
Zaundra’s17 city title to Public Health Division Administrator in order to 
accommodate their salaries.”  Mr. Lawther replies to Dr. Khaldun in the same email 
thread “the only other options are to reduce the salaries by $10K or so, or to go 
through the very long process of creating new positions in which to put them.”  This 
email also further supports the allegations that Dr. Khaldun was moving people, not 
positions, to the City of Detroit.   

Therefore, the OIG concludes the emails reveal the Health Department misused 
PHDA position for convenience and expediency, instead of going through the proper 
process of creating a new position.  However, it is ultimately HR’s responsibility to 
ensure all job postings meet the minimum requirements for the job classification.  
Therefore, OIG does not find that Dr. Khaldun and Mr. Lawther were responsible for 
violating HR Rule 11.  As such, the OIG believes HR erred in allowing the Health 
Department to use this classification code to hire Ms. Djelaj.  HR responded to the 
OIG’s findings by implementing new training for the recruitment division on when it 
is necessary to formally reclassify a position.   

IV. Conclusion 

The OIG found sufficient evidence to show Dr. Khaldun wasted City’s resources 
and abused her authority by posting a competitive position, when she intended on 
hiring Ms. Djelaj for the CIO position.  Dr. Khaldun’s decision to hire Valentina 
Djelaj to the CIO position was a forgone conclusion, evidenced by her attempts to 
                                                            
15 https://definitions.uslegal.com/j/job-classification 
16 A formal reclassification involves the completion of HR Form 9040A, Classification and 
Compensation Review Request, and requires the approval of the Department, Budget Director and HR 
Director. 
17 There were no allegations made against Zaundra Wimberly, and the OIG found no evidence that 
would require an additional investigation into Ms. Wimberly. 



 
 

start the process through SEMHA.  Unfortunately, Dr. Khaldun is no longer 
employed by the City of Detroit, and there is no action the OIG can recommend 
against her.  However, the OIG takes the position that this type of abuse is highly 
unacceptable for a City of Detroit hiring official, and would recommend appropriate 
discipline if Dr. Khaldun was still employed with the City.      

Moreover, the OIG does not believe that HR should allowed significant changes 
to the minimum qualifications in the CIO job posting solely for recruitment or 
because the department wanted to get the position posted quickly.  Doing so 
undermines the purpose of the classification system, creating a disparity in positions 
within the same classification when those positions should be similar. 

HR has started to remedy this by training the Recruitment Division staff when it 
necessary for flag changes to the minimum qualifications for additional review.  This 
allows the Recruitment Division and the departments to still have flexibility in their 
postings to attract the right candidate, such a preferred qualifications or an equivalent 
combination of experience and education, while following the outlined HR process 
for more substantive changes that require review and approval.     

In addition to training HR Staff, the OIG is also recommending training for the 
hiring managers of City departments, to clearly outline when it is appropriate to use a 
sub-classification, when it is appropriate for a position to be reclassified and when it 
is appropriate to create a new position. 
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1 Detroit, Michigan

2 Wednesday, November 13, 2019

3 At or about 10:08 a.m.

4                    -   -   -

5     D R.   J O N E I G H   K H A L D U N,  M. D.

6 Having first been duly sworn to tell the truth, was

7 examined and testified upon her oath as follows:

8            J E A N   I N G E R S O L L

9 Having first been duly sworn to tell the truth, was

10 examined and testified upon her oath as follows:

11            MS. HA:  So today is Wednesday, November

12 13th.  It is about eight minutes past 10 a.m.  This is

13 an administrative hearing for OIG file number

14 18-0053-INV.

15            We are holding this hearing pursuant to a

16 request made by Doctor Joneigh Khaldun in accordance

17 with section 7.5-311 of the 2012 Charter of the City

18 of Detroit, and pursuant to written notice sent to Dr.

19 Khaldun, and, likewise, in accordance with the OIG

20 administrative hearing rules today.  A copy of the

21 hearing rules were provided to Dr. Khaldun prior to

22 the hearing.

23            Ordinarily under the administrative hearing
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1 rules we are required to finalize our report within 30

2 days after the hearing unless we require additional

3 information.  However, because Ms. Djelaj's hearing

4 had to be re-scheduled later this month, and because

5 Ms. Djelaj's testimony would be considered as

6 receiving additional information and/or investigation

7 of this matter, pursuant to Rule 14 we will finalize

8 our report within 90 days of Dr. Khaldun's hearing, or

9 30 days after Ms. Djelaj's hearing.

10            The record should further reflect that

11 sometime in December 2018 the City of Detroit Office

12 of Inspector General received an anonymous complaint

13 which alleged the following.

14            The then Dr. Joneigh Khaldun -- I'm sorry,

15 the then Health Department Director, Dr. Joneigh

16 Khadun, promoted a personal friend, Ms. Valentina

17 Djelaj, to a high ranking position in the department

18 and doubled her salary to about $120,000.  Ms. Djelaj,

19 according to the complaint, lacked the necessary

20 qualifications and experience for the Health

21 Department Chief Integration Officer position.

22            It was also alleged that the position was

23 specifically created by Dr. Khaldun for Ms. Djelaj
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1 without any intent of it being competitive.  The

2 candidates who applied for the positions were

3 allegedly told that they should have known the

4 position was created for Ms. Djelaj.

5            And it was also alleged in the complaint

6 that Ms. Djelaj used intimidation tactics with the

7 health department staff by e-mailing notification of

8 termination of the health department employees.

9            Based on our investigation of the anonymous

10 complaint with respect to Dr. Khaldun, we found that

11 the CIO position description with SEMHA was initially

12 crafted by Ms. Djelaj with Dr. Khaldun's assistance

13 and approval.  Doctor Khaldun, through her Deputy

14 Director Timothy Lawther, then sought to create a CIO

15 position within the health department through the City

16 of Detroit.

17            We also found that Dr. Khaldun abused her

18 authority by manipulating the job posting for the

19 health department CIO position to fit Ms. Djelaj's

20 qualifications.  We found, therefore, that Dr. Khaldun

21 wasted city resources by having the CIO position

22 posted, applications to be reviewed and sorted by the

23 HR department, and was interviewing candidates which
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1 she had already pre-determined that Ms. Djelaj would

2 be the CIO at the City of Detroit Health Department.

3            Doctor Khaldun also introduced Ms. Djelaj

4 as the CIO in her e-mails to other individuals, and

5 allowed Ms. Djelaj to use the CIO title in her e-mail

6 communications to others even before the CIO position

7 at the health department was created.

8            Lastly, the OIG found -- sorry, lastly the

9 OIG found no evidence to support the allegation that

10 Ms. Djelaj was hired by Dr. Khaldun based on their

11 friendship, or that Dr. Khaldun doubled Ms. Djelaj's

12 salary as the CIO for the health department.

13            So we are here today to address the

14 concerns raised by the OIG in its draft report

15 pertaining to Dr. Khaldun only for this hearing.  And

16 in so doing it is important to note that, one, the OIG

17 did not interview Dr. Khaldun prior to issuing its

18 draft report, as the time the OIG decided to interview

19 Dr. Khaldun for the investigation, Dr. Khaldun had

20 already left the city's employment and, therefore, she

21 was outside of our jurisdiction under the city's

22 charter.

23            Number two, because the OIG cannot
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1 recommend any disciplinary actions against anyone who

2 is no longer employed with the city, and the former

3 employee is no longer bound by the city's charter to

4 cooperate in the OIG's investigation, the OIG

5 generally do not contact its former employees.

6 However, pursuant to the charter we did provide a

7 courtesy copy of our draft report to Dr. Khaldun at

8 her last known address because the OIG was critical of

9 her official act.

10            Doctor Khaldun then voluntarily subjected

11 herself to our jurisdiction by responding to the

12 concerns raised by the OIG in the draft report through

13 a written response and seeking an administrative

14 hearing on this matter today.  Contrary to Dr.

15 Khaldun's assertion, the draft was -- the draft report

16 was mailed to her on or about September 9, 2019.

17            Mr. Lawther was also provided a courtesy

18 copy of the draft report at his last known address.

19 However, unlike Dr. Khaldun, he did not respond to our

20 draft report and he did not subject himself to our

21 jurisdiction.

22            Lastly, with human -- with respect to the

23 OIG's draft report concerning Human Resources
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1 Department, Dr. Khaldun should know that we will be

2 correcting the following as they pertain to the City

3 of Detroit Human Resources Department in this matter.

4            One, contrary to our initial finding, the

5 CIO position was an appointed position.  And we have

6 written verification from the Human Resources

7 Department that the CIO position was not an appointed

8 position.

9            Two, contrary to our initial draft finding,

10 it would have been impossible for the HR to know which

11 candidate had the highest score at the end of the

12 interviews.  That's what we stated in our draft

13 report.  However, we have additional evidence provided

14 by HR personnel after we issued the draft report that

15 the HR personnel would be able to determine at the end

16 of the interviews which interviewee would have had the

17 highest score.  As such, the OIG will be making those

18 corrections in our final report.

19            Pursuant to Rule 3 of the OIG's

20 administrative hearing rules, the purpose of this

21 hearing is then to permit Dr. Khaldun with an

22 opportunity to present testimony, and any supporting

23 information, in response to the OIG's draft report
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1 findings as stated August 29th, 2019.

2            So I'd like to remind everyone in this room

3 that this is not an adversarial proceeding and as

4 such, will be heard in matter pursuant to the OIG

5 administrative hearing rules; a copy of which was

6 provided to Dr. Khaldun prior to today's hearing.

7            This hearing is not for the Office of

8 Inspector General to present its evidence or

9 witnesses.  The purpose of this hearing is solely for

10 Dr. Khaldun to provide the OIG with any testimony or

11 evidence which would show that the OIG's findings, as

12 outlined in the draft report against Dr. Khaldun, is

13 inaccurate or incorrect.

14            Upon completion of the administrative

15 hearing, unless we require additional information from

16 Dr. Khaldun and after the administrative hearing of

17 Ms. Djelaj, we will conclude the investigation by

18 closing the record pertaining to Dr. Khaldun and Ms.

19 Djelaj on this matter.

20            Thereafter, in accordance with the

21 administrative hearing rules, the OIG will revise its

22 statements pertaining to the HR department.  And the

23 OIG may attend or supplement its draft report.
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1 Otherwise, we will simply supplement our original

2 draft report with a copy of Dr. Khaldun, Ms. Djelaj

3 and the City of Detroit Human Resources Department's

4 written responses and a copy of the administrative

5 hearing transcripts for Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj, at

6 which time our report will be made final and

7 published.

8            So may I have appearances on everyone in

9 the room.

10            MS. BENTLEY:  Jennifer Bentley, attorney

11 for the Office of Inspector General.

12            MS. MURRAY:  Beverly Murray, for -- the

13 auditor for the Office of Inspector General.

14            MS. HA:  Ellen Ha, Inspector General.

15            MS. INGERSOLL:  Jean Ingersoll.

16            MR. KONCIUS:  Mike Koncius, attorney for

17 Dr. Khaldun.

18            DR. KHALDUN:  Doctor Khaldun.

19            MS. HA:  Thank you.  So, counsel, you

20 should understand that you can -- we will not be

21 objecting to any hearsay testimonies because the rules

22 of evidence do not apply here.

23            MR. KONCIUS:  I appreciate it.
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1            MS. HA:  So you can ask leading questions,

2 if you wish, although --

3            MR. KONCIUS:  Thank you.

4            MS. HA:  -- we'd prefer that you wouldn't.

5            MR. KONCIUS:  Understood.

6            For a point of clarification, you had said

7 that the draft report is going to be corrected to

8 indicate that you now know the position for CIO was

9 not an appointed position, correct?

10            MS. HA:  Yes.

11            MR. KONCIUS:  All right.  And the other one

12 was that you now know that it is possible to determine

13 the scoring --

14            MS. HA:  Yes.

15            MR. KONCIUS:  -- at the time --

16            MS. HA:  Of the hearing.

17            MR. KONCIUS:  -- of the conclusion.

18            MS. HA:  Right.  I mean not the hearing,

19 the interviews.

20            MR. KONCIUS:  Interviews.

21            MS. HA:  Yes.

22            MR. KONCIUS:  So with that, I know some of

23 the conclusions in this draft report were based
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1 specifically on those facts that are wrong.

2            MS. HA:  Yes.

3            MR. KONCIUS:  So are you changing the

4 findings of the draft --

5            MS. HA:  Yes.

6            MR. KONCIUS:  -- report --

7            MS. HA:  Yes.

8            MR. KONCIUS:  -- based on those?

9            MS. HA:  Yes.  So based on --

10            MR. KONCIUS:  Do we know what those are

11 today so that we can address the findings that are

12 going to be --

13            MS. HA:  For the HR department?

14            MR. KONCIUS:  Well, as -- I mean I think

15 those relate in part to what's at issue here with Dr.

16 Khaldun.

17            MS. HA:  So, Beverly, do you want to --

18            MS. MURRAY:  So those particular issues

19 will be corrected.  I think that what we're still

20 attempting to address with the hearing is the process

21 by which this CIO position was created and the, the

22 finding that it was created specifically for Ms.

23 Djelaj, and that there was never any intent to hire
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1 anybody else but.

2            So these are the, the other findings that

3 we still need to address before we can say that

4 there's going to be any other type of change, other

5 than the ones that we've stated from HR.

6            MS. HA:  And based on any new evidence or

7 additional information provided here at the

8 administrative hearing for Dr. Khaldun, we may reverse

9 our findings or amend our findings.

10            MR. KONCIUS:  No, I understand that.  I was

11 just --

12            MS. HA:  That's what this whole hearing is

13 for.

14            MR. KONCIUS:  Oh, certainly.  No, no, I

15 understand that.  But knowing that those two pieces of

16 evidence have been found to be false, as they were

17 initially in the report, --

18            MS. HA:  Yes.

19            MR. KONCIUS:  -- and those were -- I mean

20 part of the, part of the findings with regard to Dr.

21 Khaldun stating about we, therefore, conclude the

22 candidates selection for the health department's CIO

23 was not based on the highest score received, as it had
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1 not been completed at the time.

2            MS. HA:  Right, that portion will be struck

3 out.

4            MR. KONCIUS:  Okay.  And then she further

5 stated there was no obligation to select the person

6 with the highest score since it was an appointed

7 position, so that too will be stricken?

8            MS. HA:  Yes.

9            MR. KONCIUS:  It goes on in that paragraph

10 to say this further supports the OIG's position that

11 the interviews were nothing more than a ruse to place

12 Ms. Djelaj in the position Dr. Khaldun wanted her to

13 have all along.  And the interview process was a sham

14 to create an illusion of fairness.  And I think it's

15 this that went to findings with regard to Dr. Khaldun

16 that we are here today to talk about.

17            So I was asking with those being reversed,

18 have the findings as they relate to Dr. Khaldun been

19 changed as we sit here today, or should they be

20 changed before we further provide information?  I mean

21 if we're going to --

22            MS. HA:  If -- so the information that

23 evidence pertaining to the HR department will be
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1 changed, but the hearing will be about Dr. Khaldun's

2 actions with HR such as the -- what page were you on?

3            MR. KONCIUS:  I was looking at page four,

4 the first full paragraph.

5            MS. HA:  That will be up to what comes out

6 during today's hearing.

7            MR. KONCIUS:  Okay.  So as we sit here

8 right now, no findings have been changed except for --

9            MS. HA:  With respect to Dr. Khaldun.

10            MR. KONCIUS:  -- the facts, okay.

11            MS. HA:  Yes.

12            MR. KONCIUS:  Had there been findings

13 changed with respect to --

14            MS. HA:  Ms. Djelaj?

15            MR. KONCIUS:  -- Ms. Djelaj or the Human

16 Resources Department?

17            MS. HA:  Well, Human Resources Department,

18 we've already stated on the record what factual

19 changes we were making on the final report.

20            MR. KONCIUS:  No, understood.  But I'm

21 saying with regard to conclusions, because the facts

22 lead to the conclusions in the report, correct?

23            MS. HA:  Yes.



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 16

1            MR. KONCIUS:  All right.  And so I'm saying

2 with regard to now knowing the two facts that were

3 provided for support for what is called OIG's

4 position, that the interviews were nothing more than a

5 ruse and that interview process was a sham, so my

6 question is more not towards the facts.  I understand

7 that those are being changed.  But as you have those

8 new facts while we sit here today, have the

9 conclusions been changed?

10            MS. HA:  No.

11            MR. KONCIUS:  Okay, all right.

12            MS. HA:  That would be depend on today's

13 hearing and also Ms. Djelaj's testimony.

14            MR. KONCIUS:  Okay.

15            MS. HA:  Yeah.  So I just want everybody to

16 have a clear understanding of what we will be doing in

17 the final report.

18            So the whole purpose of today's hearing is

19 just for Dr. Khaldun and the actions that she did or

20 did not take with respect to appointing or hiring Ms.

21 Djelaj as the CIO for the health department.  The

22 Human Resources Department cannot speak for Dr.

23 Khaldun's actions, nor her e-mails.
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1            MR. KONCIUS:  I understand that, but it

2 seems that their actions and these statements were

3 taken into consideration with regard to the findings

4 related to Dr. Khaldun.

5            MS. BENTLEY:  Yeah, so I think that those

6 weren't the only statements that were taken into

7 consideration.  I think what the IG was saying is that

8 there are other things such as statements and e-mails

9 that are also being considered --

10            MR. KONCIUS:  Sure.

11            MS. BENTLEY:  -- when coming up with our

12 recommendation.  So clearly, you know, we'll remove

13 the information that needs to be corrected.  And then

14 based on what comes out today there might be

15 additional things that need to be changed.  But it's

16 premature for us to say that any of the findings are

17 going to be changed because they're not based just

18 solely on those two corrections being made, it's the

19 totality of the evidence.

20            MR. KONCIUS:  Oh, no, I understand.  But

21 those are two big --

22            MS. BENTLEY:  Right, yes, I agree --

23            MR. KONCIUS:  -- entire pieces.
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1            MS. BENTLEY:  -- but that's not the only

2 thing that was relied upon in making that

3 determination.  So that's just what we're looking for

4 clarification on today.

5            MR. KONCIUS:  I understand, I understand.

6 I just didn't know if -- because of the weight given

7 to those two pieces if there had been a change.  I

8 just wanted to make sure we're all on the same page --

9            MS. HA:  Right.

10            MR. KONCIUS: -- with where we are today.

11 And if we were, you know, not going to need to talk

12 about something, we could skip a, --

13            MS. HA:  Oh, yes.

14            MR. KONCIUS:  -- skip a piece of the

15 process.  All right, so shall we start?

16            MS. HA:  Sure.

17            MR. KONCIUS:  Excellent.  I think to, if it

18 pleases everyone here, instead of burning some

19 questions and answers, Dr. Khaldun's prepared a

20 written statement to proceed.

21            MS. HA:  Okay.

22            MR. KONCIUS:  I'd like to ask her to read

23 that.  If there's some follow-up questions, I'm hoping
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1 that they will be minimal from me, it will be turned

2 over to you if I don't have any, --

3            MS. HA:  Okay.

4            MR. KONCIUS:  -- or very few.  And we'll go

5 from there if that's good.  We're trying to streamline

6 this for everyone.

7            MS. HA:  Yes.

8            MR. KONCIUS:  Okay.

9            MS. HA:  We'd appreciate it.

10            MR. KONCIUS:  I appreciate that.

11            MS. BENTLEY:  It's your hearing so however

12 you want to proceed is entirely up to you.

13            DR. KHALDUN:  All right.  So thank you for

14 the opportunity to provide testimony today.

15            When I was asked by -- excuse me, just a

16 moment, sorry.

17            MS. BENTLEY:  If you need a break at any

18 time, --

19            DR. KHALDUN:  No, it's okay.  I can do

20 this.

21            MS. BENTLEY:  -- just let us know, we can

22 go off the record.

23            DR. KHALDUN:  I'm proud of my work and I
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1 will do it.

2            MS. BENTLEY:  If you can hold on just a

3 moment.

4                         (WHEREUPON a short pause was

5                         had in the proceedings.)

6            DR. KHALDUN:  Thank you.  I take my job

7 very seriously and I do take my integrity very

8 seriously and any questions about it.  So thank you

9 for the opportunity to provide testimony today.

10            When I was asked by Mayor Mike Duggan to be

11 the Health Director for the city, it was truly an

12 honor and my life's dream to be able to utilize my

13 skills and expertise and work collaboratively with the

14 people of the city to improve the health of a place

15 where generations of my family lived, and also

16 struggled with significant health problems was a dream

17 come true.

18            I love the job and found the people in the

19 department quite passionate and committed to service.

20 However, what I found soon after taking the helms of

21 the department was that in the mix of the city's

22 bankruptcy and the essentially gutting and

23 privatization of the health department, what was also
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1 left was inadequate infrastructure, processes or skill

2 set to be able to sufficiently respond to the public

3 health and management needs that the city deserves.

4            I have experience working in the Obama

5 administration on implementation of health care

6 reform; as the Chief Medical Officer of the Baltimore

7 City Health Department, a nationally recognized

8 department that in 2018 received the National

9 Association of City and County Health Officials local

10 Health Department of the Year Award.

11            I've worked with the Surgeon General and

12 U.S. Assistant Secretaries on health initiatives, and

13 I have taught and lectured on public health in

14 prestigious universities across the country.  And I

15 truly felt that it was my mission and mandate to bring

16 my nationally known expertise into this department,

17 and to appropriately serve the people of Detroit with

18 my breadth and depth of skills.

19              Unfortunately what I found when I started

20 my job was very concerning.  We were subject to

21 inquiries and audit findings from state, federal and

22 private funders about our management of funds and

23 execution of grants.  When I asked for specific
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1 policies and protocols regarding operations of the

2 department from managers, they were lacking.  And I

3 found that some individuals in management positions

4 lacked the skills or experience to effectively manage

5 budgets and people.

6            I have the utmost respect for the people of

7 the Detroit Health Department and the commitment, hard

8 work and passion I saw exhibited in my time there.

9 However, as a responsible leader, I felt that

10 additional skills and training were needed to assure

11 the department's success.

12            I took on this job as the Health Department

13 Director knowing that the most important thing I had

14 to do was address this infrastructure and to hire and

15 train an appropriate management team.  People in the

16 department also know that my management style was one

17 of accountability and professional, direct and timely

18 feedback to employees either positive or negative.

19            You will find that many people in the

20 department, including managers, had limited experience

21 receiving constructive feedback about areas where they

22 needed to improve.  Some were taken aback and I am

23 sure angered, when I came into my role and implemented
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1 new accountabilities and tried to put in place

2 policies that made sure that we were managing fiscal

3 and operational soundness.

4            I thought there was urgency in

5 restructuring the departments, training and hiring

6 staff with the appropriate competencies and putting in

7 place accountabilities and structure.  Things that I

8 know from working in a world-class local health

9 department in Baltimore, but that were dangerously

10 absent in the Detroit Health Department.

11            I did what I think any competent leader

12 would do when given the monstrous task of leading a

13 struggling department, which is turn to and task your

14 strongest people with your most important projects.

15 Valentina was one of the handful of people in the

16 department I felt I could count on to provide

17 reliable, high quality and acceptable work.

18            Examples of this include when she

19 volunteered to stand up a Hepatitis A Clinic within 24

20 hours and I had to -- when I had to quickly respond to

21 the beginnings of the largest Hepatitis A outbreak in

22 modern history, and I found that the staff that was

23 currently at the department were unable to
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1 operationalize that clinic to protect Detroit's

2 residents.

3            She also created from scratch the city's

4 iDecide Reproductive Health Network stepping in -- and

5 also stepped into address grant management challenges,

6 including the local Maternal Child Health Budget when

7 other managers failed to, causing us to risk continued

8 funding for critical services in the city.  And she

9 also volunteered to step in to assist with day-to-day

10 Animal Control operations when we had no Animal

11 Control Director, and struggled just to get the phones

12 answered and trucks out on the road.

13            I suspect that the true reason for this

14 anonymous complaint against me is that I held firm in

15 my beliefs that the people of Detroit deserve

16 excellence and accountability from their health

17 department.  And I held firm to that belief, in spite

18 of the unfortunate consequence of having to disappoint

19 and sometimes anger, staff who were not quite meeting

20 those expectations.

21            I'd like to turn now and offer more

22 explanation for the allegations made in your draft

23 report.  Of note, as I mentioned in my response dated
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1 September 17th, I was not informed of these

2 allegations, nor was I contacted to be interviewed as

3 part of the OIG investigation, even though I am the

4 subject of its allegations.  And it appears that I was

5 actually still employed by the health department for

6 four to five months after this complaint was received.

7            When the draft report was finalized, it was

8 not sent to me the way it purported to make findings

9 related to actions I took while employed by the City

10 of Detroit.  And the report was only sent to me by the

11 OIG after the initial report was completed, and

12 another Detroit Health Department employee inquired to

13 the OIG about their investigation practices.

14            When I asked about getting access to

15 documents and e-mails that the OIG used for support of

16 its findings in this investigation, I was denied.  As

17 I am not a current city employee and have not been

18 since April of 2019, I do not have access to the

19 e-mails and files that would allow me to properly

20 respond to this investigation in the timeline that you

21 have required.  The following represents my limited

22 ability to respond to your allegations based on what

23 access I have.
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1            On page two in your discussion section you

2 note that Ms. Djelaj prepared a memorandum to SEMHA

3 for a title change to Chief Integration Officer, along

4 with a position description and detail a series of

5 e-mails where myself and Ms. Djelaj tried to finalize

6 that position.  This action did not violate any

7 protocols.  And it needs to be understood that this

8 relates to hiring through SEMHA.

9            I'm submitting as evidence an e-mail

10 exchange, I only have one copy, but here's an e-mail

11 exchange between --

12            MS. HA:  Can we just have it entered as an

13 exhibit?

14            DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, okay.  Between my --

15            MR. KONCIUS:  Hold on one second.

16            DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, I'm sorry.

17            MR. KONCIUS:  Can you mark that as Exhibit

18 1.

19                         (WHEREUPON Exhibit No. 1

20                         was marked for identification

21                         by the reporter.)

22            MS. BENTLEY:  Are you going to -- so these

23 exhibits will be attached to the final report.  Did
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1 you need a copy before you leave today of what

2 you're --

3            DR. KHALDUN:  No, I don't, thank you.

4            MS. HA:  Do you have a copy, counsel?

5            MR. KONCIUS:  I don't.  Oh, you know what,

6 let me see.

7            MS. BENTLEY:  I'll just make a quick copy.

8            MR. KONCIUS:  Yeah, that might be best.

9                         (WHEREUPON a short pause was

10                         had in the proceedings.)

11            DR. KHALDUN:  All right, so I'm submitting

12 as evidence an e-mail exchange between myself and

13 former Health Department Director, Abdul El-Sayed,

14 started -- dated, sorry, July 28th, 2016 where I

15 proactively inquired about what the proper hiring

16 processes were for the city and SEMHA and the desire

17 to follow them.

18            I was then told by the person in charge of

19 the hiring process, Kara Watson, that the position is

20 through SEMHA and, therefore, the selection is totally

21 up to you.  And those are her words.  This ability to

22 hire --

23            MR. KONCIUS:  If you want to, you can point
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1 it out on the document.

2            DR. KHALDUN:  Oh.

3            MR. KONCIUS:  You don't have one in front

4 of you, I'm sorry.

5            DR. KHALDUN:  This ability to hire freely

6 through SEMHA, including promoting of staff and

7 increasing salaries as much as it is available through

8 our budget, was the general practice when I started at

9 the health department for SEMHA employees, and to my

10 knowledge violated no hiring protocols.

11            As noted above, moving on, as I mention in

12 my response to your initial draft, that response dated

13 I believe it was September 17th, I inquired about

14 proper hiring practices and was told that for SEMHA

15 employees we were able to select and appoint the

16 people we choose.

17            Valentina, while she was a SEMHA employee,

18 was transitioned to operating as the Chief Integration

19 Officer because I thought I was able to do that

20 without posting the position through SEMHA, because I

21 understood that this is how it was done after

22 inquiring, as noted above.

23            The e-mails that you provided indicate --
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1 the snippets of the e-mails that you provided,

2 indicate that when my Deputy Director, who was tasked

3 with overseeing the minutia detail of Human Resources

4 efforts at the department, told me that we had to go

5 in a different direction, I told Ms. Djelaj that we

6 had to transition the position, not the person, to a

7 City of Detroit position.

8            I do think it was appropriate to tell

9 someone who previously thought they would have a

10 certain position, again being fully transparent and

11 following SEMHA hiring procedures, that we were no

12 longer able to do so.

13            You will note in the evidence I submit

14 today from a memo that Tim Lawther sent to me on

15 January 24th of 2018, it's in the packet, that part of

16 his task -- oh, sorry, every time I do it I have to

17 stop?

18            MS. BENTLEY:  Yes, because if you want to

19 mark it as evidence -- or mark it as an exhibit.  So

20 let me go see if that packet is done, just because I

21 want to make sure everything is in order and we don't

22 end up missing anything at the end.

23            DR. KHALDUN:  Okay.
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1                         (WHEREUPON a short pause was

2                         had in the proceedings.)

3                         (WHEREUPON Exhibit No. 2

4                         was marked for identification

5                         by the reporter.)

6            DR. KHALDUN:  So you will note in the

7 evidence I submit today from a memo that Tim Lawther

8 sent to me on January 25th of 2018, that part of his

9 task was to hire SEMHA in new positions into the City

10 of Detroit.  As you will also note on page three in

11 this memo, part of his strategy was to communicate

12 these new positions were available in the city.

13            You will note in the memos, that I'll be

14 submitting as evidence today and this memo, that my

15 Deputy Director had an intended plan and timeline for

16 transitioning SEMHA positions, not people, to the

17 city, awaiting approval from HR for requisitions, and

18 then planning to appropriately interview those

19 positions starting with priority positions.

20            And if you look at page three, you can see

21 there's -- in this -- let me see here -- key updates,

22 hire environmental health and food service staff into

23 the city, hire SEMHA new positions into the City of
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1 Detroit, ensure all PDs, position descriptions, have

2 been updated to include appropriate content,

3 competencies, emergency preparedness and language

4 preference information.

5            You can see where he has later updates on

6 the recruitment, salary studies that we requested of

7 HR, and posting priority positions within the City of

8 Detroit.

9            I would like to also say on the record for

10 these memos, because of time I will not read

11 everything, but I would request that you read through

12 these with an objective lens to see what we were

13 trying to do with -- relates to management of the

14 department.

15            All right, there is nowhere in these memos

16 where we indicate any intention of following anything

17 except our understanding of HR guidance and process.

18 I can attest that I frequently told my senior

19 leadership team, including Deputy Director Tim

20 Lawther, that I intended to follow appropriate

21 protocols when it relates to hiring.  Thus why,

22 probably to their dismay, they had to send me memos on

23 what they were doing every two weeks.
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1            You will find evidence of this desire to

2 follow protocol in the language that Tim Lawther sent

3 to me in his memos, Exhibit 2, January 25th, 2018.

4            I'd now also like to submit additional

5 memos, March 8th of 2018 --

6            MR. KONCIUS:  Let's hold on one second.

7            DR. KHALDUN:  Yes.

8            MS. BENTLEY:  Yes, because that's not in

9 this then?

10            DR. KHALDUN:  That is not that.  I might as

11 well, I'll just submit them all.  It's March 8th --

12            MS. BENTLEY:  I'll just go grab them and

13 then come back and mark it.

14            DR. KHALDUN:  And then we won't have to do

15 this again, okay.

16                         (WHEREUPON a short pause was

17                         had in the proceedings.)

18                         (WHEREUPON Exhibit Nos. 3-7

19                         were marked for identification

20                         by the reporter.)

21            DR. KHALDUN:  Okay, so I'll just say this.

22 You'll find evidence of my desire -- our desire to

23 follow protocol in the language that Tim Lawther sent
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1 to me in his memos dated January 28th of 2018, March

2 8th of 2018, May 31st, June 14th and August 9th of

3 2018.

4            I also wanted to take note in the memo on

5 March 8th of 2018, one, two, three, four, on page four

6 you will find that you can see where Tim said that the

7 plan was to interview and select Director of

8 Operations and to schedule interviews for CDPP, that

9 was Chronic Disease Prevention something, but various

10 positions including the Chief Integration Officer

11 through the City of Detroit.

12            So back to the Detroit Health Department.

13 I felt such a deficiency in our policies and processes

14 at the department that I recruited, through the HR

15 process, and hired an additional staff person, Jean

16 Ingersoll, who functioned as the Detroit Health

17 Department Director of Policy.  And I tasked with

18 identifying and driving internal policy development

19 and implementation in the department, including trying

20 to assist with HR processes.

21            I am certain that if you ask Denise Starr,

22 Human Resources Director, about my interactions with

23 her during my tenure as Health Department Director,



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 34

1 she would say that I was frequently frustrated with

2 her staff, and that I called her incessantly to ask

3 for guidance and feedback.  And that I specifically

4 asked to have more professional and qualified

5 employees support my health department.

6            I suspect that my vocal frustrations with

7 the HR, Human Resources staff, were well known to

8 those employees based on their demeanor I recognized

9 often after I began voicing my frustrations with

10 Denise Starr.

11            I also disagree with the assumption, the

12 many assumptions that were in the report, that I

13 intended to hire Zaundra Wimberley or Valentina Djelaj

14 in the City of Detroit simply because I said, in the

15 e-mail that you quoted, that we would wait for the

16 city process to complete.

17            You can see in the memos I was trying to go

18 through the city process.  I had to work -- I'm sorry,

19 what the e-mails indicate is that I was desperately

20 trying to build my team, get the critical work of the

21 department done and hire people.  I had to work within

22 the crumbling infrastructure and with the people I

23 currently had while also starting the city process.
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1            Ms. Djelaj was responsible for helping me

2 draft a new organizational chart, which she did.  My

3 understanding was that she was allowed to, through the

4 SEMHA process, have a position of Chief Integration

5 Officer through SEMHA without posting it.  The plan

6 was to move the Chief Integration Officer through

7 SEMHA -- I'm sorry, to a City of Detroit position.  So

8 the plan was to move the Chief Integration Officer

9 position to a City of Detroit position, as the

10 multiple communications and memos from Tim Lawther

11 show, and to go through the competitive application

12 process.

13            I already said that.  I already said that.

14 Moving on, noting that there was an e-mail signature

15 being used by Ms. Djelaj implies at worst that more

16 care should have been taken when it was recognized

17 that the position would not be allowed through SEMHA,

18 and she should not have used that signature line so as

19 not to create confusion.

20            If there was really some secret corruption

21 scheme, as your draft implies, it seems to me that we

22 would not have been so bold as to put something in a

23 signature line of an e-mail.  And I would not have
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1 introduced her to people as such, which your e-mails

2 imply.  It was customary for people to change their

3 e-mail signature titles in the department for their

4 functional roles, and we did that frequently, which

5 Valentina also did and she was allowed, to under SEMHA

6 protocol as I understood it at that time.

7            There are no actual words in the e-mails

8 that you quote in your draft report that state that I

9 did not want to follow the competitive process.  In

10 fact, the e-mails you reference, and the memos and

11 e-mail documents I am providing today, indicate that I

12 did in fact intend to follow the process.  I

13 frequently reached out for guidance to allow me to be

14 able to do that and involved the Human Resources

15 Department at every step.

16            I do not understand the allegation that

17 involving the Human Resources Department at every step

18 was a bad thing.  Are you saying that I should not

19 have constantly reached out to and included Human

20 Resources when I was hiring people?  And am I to be

21 blamed for being misguided by Human Resources staff or

22 for them not following their own protocols?

23            I'm concerned that your allegations will
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1 inherently punish people for being initial employees

2 of SEMHA, and thus already having established

3 relationships in the department, and then being

4 successful when they are in fact the most qualified

5 candidates for the job within the city.

6            I do suspect that if you did a thorough

7 investigation of hiring practices through SEMHA, you

8 will find that there were many people who were

9 previously employed through SEMHA that later became

10 city employees.  I can name Esperanza Cantu -- I'm

11 doing this from memory because I don't work there

12 anymore.  But I remember Esperanza Cantu, David

13 Bowser, Lauren Fink and several of the environmental

14 health employees as as examples where that occurred.

15            You will find evidence of these hires in

16 the memos from Tim Lawther to myself that I provided

17 as evidence today.  For the people who I just spoke

18 about, I actually was not involved in those interview

19 panels.  I also do not have access to hiring documents

20 or e-mails.  But I do suggest that if you want to get

21 a thorough and accurate picture of hiring processes

22 through SEMHA, which seems appropriate for your

23 investigation, that you look into those hires as well.
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1            And let me also not underscore the

2 importance of the Chief Integration Officer in my

3 efforts to build the Detroit Health Department.

4 Unfortunately, as you may be well aware, the

5 department has been fraught with severe turnover of

6 leadership, and was essentially completely gutted and

7 privatized with the City's bankruptcy.

8            I found that there were severe silos in the

9 department and a need to focus more on integrating

10 programs; not just to find departmental efficiencies,

11 but to make it seamless for Detroit residents to

12 experience our services.

13            The department held a grant called Ready to

14 Learn from The Kresge Foundation, and that grant

15 actually sought to integrate care delivery for the

16 department's child center programs.  And we had

17 started making strides to integrate the various

18 programs.

19            The Chief Integration Officer was a

20 critical position that I thought was necessary for the

21 department.  I did not create the position for a

22 particular person, but in fact because I thought it

23 was needed.
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1            I also think, for the record, that the OIG

2 staff in misinterpreted the understanding of SEMHA

3 employment when describing the legal opinion of

4 SEMHA -- from SEMHA.  All SEMHA employees report to

5 City of Detroit leadership, if you go high up enough

6 in the organizational chart.

7            In fact if you look at the entire health

8 department organizational chart, you will find the

9 fact is that SEMHA employees have to report to City of

10 Detroit employees, but City of Detroit employees

11 actually cannot report to SEMHA employees.

12            At the bottom of page three of your draft

13 report, you note that Tamara Tarrance followed up an

14 e-mail with me on March 22nd, the day after the

15 interviews were held for the Chief Integration

16 Officer.  In that e-mail Tamara asked me what salary

17 we were requesting for Valentina Djelaj.

18            It's important to note that I conducted an

19 estimated dozens of interviews through the City of

20 Detroit hiring process during my tenure there.  It was

21 common practice at the completion of all the

22 interviews for the interview panel to verbally discuss

23 the candidates in person and determine at that time



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 40

1 who the strongest candidate was.  This was decided at

2 the ended of the interview panel for the Chief

3 Integration Officer, as was customary for several

4 other interviews that were conducted during my tenure

5 in the city.  That's the reason why Tamara sent me the

6 e-mail the following day inquiring about salary.

7            Again, while I'm not a current City of

8 Detroit employee and was refused access to the data

9 and e-mails that the OIG used in their investigation,

10 I would expect that you would find several e-mails

11 from Tamara Tarrance regarding interviews for other

12 positions in the city where she inquired about salary

13 and timing of hires.  I think it is inappropriate to

14 take this e-mail out of context when it was common

15 practice for the department.

16            I also have severe concerns about your

17 interview with Tamara Tarrance and her lack of

18 professional conduct in general.  During City of

19 Detroit interviews it was always expected that people

20 on the interview panel would give their interview

21 packets to Tamara.  I do not know why Tamara would not

22 complete her scoring in a timely manner.  I also am

23 not clear on what the OIG would state that proves
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1 wrongdoing on my part and not Tamara HR's part.

2            I'm also concerned that Tamara made a false

3 statement by indicating that the Chief Integration

4 Officer was an appointed position.  I know it wasn't a

5 -- not an appointed position and Tamara should have

6 known that as well.  I believe she told you it was an

7 appointed position to try to cover up her

8 shortcomings.

9            I was told by Tamara from the beginning of

10 my tenure at the health department that the top scorer

11 on an interview did not necessarily have to be hired

12 during the process.  I find it incredibly concerning

13 that it seems that Tamara made false statements during

14 her interview with the OIG, particularly when it

15 became clear that she was not following appropriate

16 protocol.

17            I do not understand how me involving Tamara

18 every step of the interview process equates to a ruse,

19 as the author of your draft report states.  If

20 anything, the interview of Tamara shows that she did

21 not follow appropriate protocol due to her own

22 misbehavior.  And I had nothing to do with that.

23            I am simply not understanding why me
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1 involving Human Resources for all of these steps is

2 any evidence of wrongdoing.  I already mentioned my

3 concerns about the OIG interview with Christina Hall

4 in my draft response dated September 17th of this

5 year.  I outlined the history of her tenure with the

6 health department and challenges with performance in

7 my original response to your draft report.

8            I want to reiterate that I recall being

9 present for her entire interview.  I recall her

10 responses being insufficient to indicate that she had

11 the interpersonal skills or independent thinking

12 needed to be successful in the role.

13            I also want to reiterate that Tim Lawther,

14 her direct supervisor, frequently spoke of her

15 shortcomings when I inquired about why quality

16 improvement work in the department was not

17 sufficiently progressing.  This is also evidenced in

18 the series of manager update memos that I've shared

19 with you today as evidence, which speak to Mr. Lawther

20 updating me on memo after memo over a series of months

21 that he was trying to work with Christina on the same

22 quality improvement project with little to no

23 progress.
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1            I also believe that Christina completely

2 misinterpreted my statements that I made when I met

3 with her shortly after the interviews were completed

4 for the Chief Integration Officer.  My only fault in

5 that discussion is that I tried to mentor someone who

6 was not interested in being in my mentorship; and that

7 I did not ask another employee or staff to join that

8 meeting.  Quite frankly, because I did not want to

9 embarrass her by giving feedback in front of other

10 employees.

11            I frequently mentored junior doctors and

12 other staff, public health students.  And I give

13 lectures on leadership and professional development.

14 In fact, I founded a leadership development program

15 when I was at the University of Maryland because I

16 truly enjoy mentoring people, and I think it is an

17 important part of a leader's responsibilities.

18            When I do mentor people, I frequently talk

19 to them about not simply seeking job titles and

20 promotions, but finding something they are passionate

21 and good at and trying to excel at it.  And I do that

22 -- I do think that is a path to career advancement,

23 and I particularly say that when people look at my
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1 career and see me as a mentor and ask me how I got to

2 where I am.  It's because I do work that I'm

3 passionate about.  And I've been asked to work for

4 people because of my work.

5            I am submitting as proof of that philosophy

6 a written record of a national speech I gave in

7 October of 2018 at the Females in Emergency Medicine

8 Conference in New York City.  That's Exhibit --

9            MR. KONCIUS:  It's Exhibit 7.

10            DR. KHALDUN:  Exhibit 7, entitled Work Like

11 There Is No Tomorrow.  This speech can also be viewed

12 on a YouTube video entitled FIX 18 Lecture Series, Dr.

13 Joneigh Khaldun.  It proves that I do talk frequently

14 about following passion and not solely seeking job

15 titles.  Something that I am sure I also told

16 Christina Hall in that -- in our meeting.

17            The comments made by Christina Hall in your

18 draft report indicate that she recognized that as a

19 leader I was trying to bring accountability and

20 structure to the department, which I've already told

21 you was my number one goal when I was there.  I

22 suppose that is the reference to tentacles that she

23 made when she talked about me.
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1            I believe her disappointment in not being

2 promoted to the Chief Integration Officer, as well as

3 her consistent negative feedback about her proficiency

4 in the job she was in at the time, caused her to

5 completely misinterpret statements made during our

6 conversation.  And I do not believe that any of her

7 very subjective remarks should be in anyway held

8 against me regarding your report.

9            I would also like to speak to your section

10 on page six which describes the Chief Integration

11 Officer job specifications and posting.  I clearly

12 looked to the City of Detroit's Human Resources

13 Department for guidance on position descriptions, and

14 this is indicated on the memos from Tim Lawther that I

15 submitted today.

16            You will also note in calling out the

17 Director of Nursing, Director of Operations and Team

18 Development and Engagement positions, if I was not

19 able to post them, then anyone at any time in Human

20 Resources could have informed me of this and I would

21 have changed direction.  Again, what you noted in your

22 e-mails is that I frequently and incessantly reached

23 out to Human Resources to ask them for guidance.
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1            I think to vilify a leader for trying to

2 find ways to build a qualified and skilled team purely

3 for the benefit of the city's residents is a dangerous

4 precedent to set, and will only discourage future

5 leaders for trying to elevate and build the

6 department.

7            I'm also confused about the reason in your

8 report on page seven that implies that I only wanted

9 the public health division administrative position

10 because of a salary.  As I already stated, I wanted

11 the Chief Integration Officer to be a critical

12 position in the department.  I think that for the

13 level of skill required for that position it should be

14 salaried at an appropriate level.

15            It is also important to note that the City

16 of Detroit salaries in general are not competitive.

17 And I found it extremely challenging to recruit and

18 retain the type of talent and skill needed to build --

19 re-build a department that I found in such dire

20 straits.

21            I frequently ran into people across the

22 city, state and country that indicated they were not

23 interested in working in City of Detroit government
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1 because the salaries were not sufficient.  I also

2 attempted many times to get Human Resources -- to ask

3 Human Resources to increase salary ranges for many

4 positions across the department.

5            You will note that in the memo from Tim

6 Lawther to me that's dated January 25th of 2018, that

7 we were working on getting salary studies done as per

8 Human Resources protocols so that we could be

9 competitive for high quality employees.  I honestly

10 wanted to try to get the most qualified people in

11 positions to work with Human Resources and be able to

12 meet the expectations of our funders and appropriately

13 serve the people of Detroit.

14            I think it's very clear from your multiple

15 e-mails that I desperately tried to work with Human

16 Resources at every step in the process.  And I do not

17 understand why that is being interpreted as a bad

18 thing.  If Human Resources did not appropriately

19 follow their own protocols, I do not understand why

20 I'm being blamed for that.

21            I hope you'll consider my testimony today,

22 as well as the additional documents I'm sharing, by

23 painting a more complete picture of my attempt to try
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1      to build the Detroit Health Department into the

2      organization that the city's residents deserve.  Thank

3      you.

4                 MR. KONCIUS:  Thank you.  I've got a couple

5      of questions and then we'll turn it over to you for

6      questions, if that's okay.

7                 Doctor Khaldun, thank you very much,

8      appreciate it.  Thank you for your time.

9                         EXAMINATION

10 BY MR. KONCIUS:

11 Q    Were you personal friends with Valentina Djelaj?

12 A    No.

13 Q    Did you go out and socialize with her?

14 A    No.

15 Q    With regard to the Human Resources Department and the

16      posting of the position of CIO, was it HR who

17      officially posted the position?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    How was it posted or where was it posted?

20 A    I'll be honest, I always deferred to Human Resources

21      on how and where, I mean you can see either my Deputy

22      or other people.  At my level, even though I got

23      engaged a lot, I would not know exactly how or the
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1      website where it was posted.  But I know I could not

2      post any City of Detroit position without Human

3      Resources.

4 Q    And you didn't post the CIO position, correct?

5 A    No.  Or, that is correct.

6 Q    Was HR given the opportunity to review and revise the

7      CIO position?

8 A    Yes, we could not do anything.  My understanding is I

9      could not post, hire, interview, offer salary to

10      anyone in the City of Detroit unless Human Resources

11      approved it.

12 Q    And are you aware did Human Resources approve the CIO

13      position that Ms. Djelaj filled with the City of

14      Detroit?

15 A    Yes.

16 Q    And was Human Resources involved in the interview

17      process of Ms. Djelaj and Ms. Hall?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    For the interview process with Ms. Djelaj and Ms.

20      Hall, did you score for both individuals; did you use

21      score sheets?

22 A    Yes, I do remember the score sheets.  And this was --

23      I don't recall every single detail but, yes, I did
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1      score the score sheets.  I did that for every

2      interview that I did.

3 Q    And during the interviews who asked the questions of

4      the candidates?

5 A    It was customary for us to have a panel and we would

6      have questions ahead of time, and then we would go --

7      the panelists would each take a turn asking each

8      question.

9 Q    Is that what happened with Ms. Hall?

10 A    Yes.

11 Q    Is that what happened with Ms. Djelaj?

12 A    Yes.

13 Q    How many people sat on the interview panel for Ms.

14      Hall?

15 A    I recall it was myself, Tamara Tarrance and Alexis

16      Adams.

17 Q    Was it the same people for Ms. Djelaj as well?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    Were they held on the same day?

20 A    Yes.  Again, I'll be honest, if I can just look at my

21      calendar.  I think -- I believe they were but I

22      honestly -- I'm not trying to be -- I just don't

23      remember.  I don't have the calendar in front of me,
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1      but I think they were.

2 Q    Did the individuals you identified as participating in

3      the interviews speak about the candidates and their

4      performance in the interviews immediately following --

5 A    Yes.

6 Q    -- the end of the interview?

7 A    Yes.

8 Q    And when you finished both interviews with Ms. Hall

9      and Ms. Djelaj, did that group of individuals that you

10      identified as being part of the interview process

11      discuss the choices for candidates --

12 A    Yes.

13 Q    -- as a whole?

14 A    Yes, we did.

15 Q    Did you come away with an understanding of who the

16      group believed to be the best fit for the job?

17 A    Yes, we did.

18 Q    Who was that?

19 A    That was Valentina Djelaj.

20 Q    Did anybody disagree with that?

21 A    No one did.  And I asked, as was customary when I

22      completed interviews, asked everyone to state their

23      own opinion on each of the candidates.
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1 Q    And did everybody -- what did everybody say in terms

2      of their opinion of Ms. Djelaj and Ms. Hall?

3 A    They said that Valentina Djelaj was the most qualified

4      candidate based on her resumé and her responses to the

5      interview questions.

6 Q    When Ms. Djelaj was working for you prior to the CIO

7      position, was one of her jobs assisting and creating

8      job descriptions?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    So that was for many job descriptions across the

11      organization, correct?

12 A    Yes.  Many people wrote -- we did not have enough

13      people, quite frankly, so many managers, even myself,

14      we all had to chip in and write position descriptions

15      all the time.  We did not have that support from Human

16      Resources.

17 Q    Did you ask Ms. Djelaj to create the CIO position

18      description?

19 A    Yes.  If I may?

20 Q    Go ahead.

21 A    There were also other people who were SEMHA employees

22      who I recall, when we were restructuring, they also

23      drafted their own position descriptions and ended up
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1      being in those positions with salary increases.  So

2      that was just customarily what we did through SEMHA.

3      When we were operating as if we were at SEMHA, that is

4      what was customary for us to do.

5 Q    What role did you play, if any, with regard to using

6      the PHDA classification code in the CIO posting?

7 A    I deferred to whatever Human Resources told me I could

8      do.  Based on the vision for the position I would,

9      through my deputies and staff, I would ask Human

10      Resources what would be the appropriate position and

11      they would tell me and I would use whatever they gave

12      me.  I did not know -- I don't know how to create a

13      new position in the department so I completely

14      deferred to Human Resources.

15 Q    So you did not choose the PHDA classification code?

16 A    No.  I mean I would have chosen it because they told

17      me that's what I could do.  But I didn't make that up

18      because, I don't know -- I did whatever they told me

19      to do.

20 Q    You mentioned earlier about functional titles.  Do you

21      remember talking about that?

22 A    Uh-huh.

23                 MS. BENTLEY:  Is that a yes?
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1 A    I'm sorry, I'm sorry, yes.

2                 MS. BENTLEY:  Thank you.

3 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  What is a functional

4      title, as you understand it?

5 A    My understanding was that you could have an official

6      title in the City of Detroit, what do they call it, it

7      was like a white book or something.  There's like an

8      official book of City of Detroit positions.  And my

9      understanding was you could be sitting in one of those

10      official white book positions, but you could -- you

11      had pretty much leeway to make up whatever functional

12      title you wanted to and -- based on what you were

13      doing in the department.  That is what my

14      understanding was.

15 Q    So the functional title identified what, the actual

16      job duties someone was performing?

17 A    Yes.  It would, it would be what someone would, again

18      my understanding, what someone would say publicly

19      about what their job was.

20                 I'm trying to give an example.  There's

21      several in the department where people were in white

22      book positions, even myself quite frankly, in white

23      book positions but then what you said on your
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1      signature line would be different and it would be your

2      functional title.

3 Q    And that happened with both SEMHA and city positions

4      as you stated before; is that correct?

5 A    I believe so.

6 Q    I know you gave a couple of names earlier who you

7      thought were people who fell into that.  Is there

8      anybody else you can think of who would have used a

9      functional title?

10 A    I mean there were -- when I was trying to re-build the

11      department, I really had to, out of necessity, create

12      a very top heavy organization because the lower level

13      managers just did not have the skills to manage.  And

14      so in my mind the PHDA position, again based on what

15      HR told me, was the position where I could hire such

16      -- those level -- recruit and hire at that position.

17                 So I believe, actually Jean Ingersoll's

18      position of, I think she was PHDA.  Again if I had

19      access to e-mails, it would be much easier.  I'm doing

20      this all from memory from over a year ago.  But I

21      believe Jean Ingersoll was PHDA.  I believe, what is

22      her name, Angelic Rodriguez who functionally was the

23      Director of Operations, I believe she was PHDA.  We
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1      had a Health Information Officer, I forget her name, I

2      believe she was also PHDA.

3                 These are all things that Human Resources

4      had to approve.  There's no other way to post and hire

5      someone except through HR.  So they would have

6      approved all of those, approved the questions, been in

7      the interview, every step of the way.

8 Q    Do you know who Aimee Surma is?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    And do you know what was her SEMHA title?

11                 MS. HA:  What was her last name?

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  Surma, S-U-R-M-A.

13 A    She -- her SEMHA title, again this is like over a year

14      ago, but she was our Lead Program Manager basically.

15 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  She was a -- would it

16      sound right to you if I said she was Nurse Team Lead

17      under SEMHA?

18 A    That was her -- what she functioned as.  Yeah, I --

19      she is a nurse, she was a nurse but she did a lot more

20      management work than nursing.

21 Q    Would it -- tell me if you recognize as her functional

22      title Program Manager, Lead Prevention and

23      Intervention?
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1 A    Lead Prevention and Intervention.

2 Q    Lead Prevention, excuse me.

3 A    Yes.

4 Q    And those -- do you understand those to be different

5      titles?

6 A    I'm sorry, the Lead Prevention and Intervention title?

7 Q    Versus the Nurse Team Lead?

8 A    Yes.

9 Q    But it's the same person, correct?

10 A    Yes.

11 Q    And the functional title, that was to show what they

12      were doing in their day-to-day; is that correct?

13 A    Yes, for people -- often times people don't understand

14      what the City of Detroit titles mean so we would have

15      functional titles so any layperson actually could

16      understand what you did.

17 Q    Do you know who Latrice Johnson is?

18 A    Yes.

19 Q    And do you remember if their SEMHA title was Team

20      Leader?

21 A    I don't remember.  I know she oversaw our Vision and

22      Hearing Program.

23 Q    And would that have been a functional title that you
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1      would recall her having?

2 A    Yes.  If she introduced herself, she'd say, you know,

3      Vision and Hearing Program Leader, something like

4      that.

5 Q    How about members of the City of Detroit Health

6      Department, do you know Kanzoni Asabigi?

7 A    Yes.

8 Q    And do you know what title they use in the City of

9      Detroit Health Department?

10 A    I believe he was Senior Public Health Advisor but I

11      think he was in the PHDA role too.  As the official

12      title I think was, again because HR said we could do

13      it, I think he was Public Health Division

14      Administrator as well.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  Will you spell that name, for

16      the record, please.

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  As I understand it, it is

18      K-A-N-Z-O-N-I first name; last name is A as in apple,

19      S-A-B-I-G-I.

20 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  How about Yolanda-Hill

21      Ashford?  Theres a hyphen after that.

22 A    Yes.

23 Q    Is that a City of Detroit Health Department staff?
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1 A    Yes.

2 Q    Do you know what their functional title was?

3 A    She was somehow like Family and Community Health

4      Manager.  I believe her function probably changed a

5      few times because I found severe deficiencies in her

6      ability to manage some of our grants well, including

7      the local Maternal Child Health Grant.

8 Q    How about Shirley Gray?

9 A    Yes.

10 Q    Do you know is that a City of Detroit staff member?

11 A    Yes.

12 Q    Do you know what her functional title was?

13 A    She was the SisterFriends manager.

14 Q    Do you know what the official title that she would

15      carry would be?

16 A    She probably would have been a -- was she a project

17      leader.  No, she was -- I think she was PHDA, Public

18      Health Division Administrator as well.

19 Q    And how about Adaora Ezike?

20 A    Yes.

21 Q    And Adaora is A-D-O -- excuse me, A-D-A-O-R-A, and

22      last name is E-Z-I-K-E.  And you recognize that name?

23 A    Yes.
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1 Q    Is that a City of Detroit employee?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    And do you know what their functional title would be?

4 A    I know she worked on -- she was Special Projects

5      Leader.  I really don't remember.

6 Q    That's fine.  But where would the official titles be

7      noted for individuals who worked for the health

8      department, either City of Detroit or for SEMHA?

9 A    Where would the official titles, they would --

10 Q    Where would they be listed?

11 A    More likely like in official Human Resources

12      documents.  I think they had subclasses.  Again, I

13      defer to Human Resources for all of this but I think

14      they had -- you could have the operational official

15      title but then you could subclass or something.

16      Again, I defer entirely to Human Resources, I don't, I

17      don't know.

18 Q    So do you believe if somebody wanted to find them,

19      they'd be found in the Human Resources Department?

20 A    The official title they should, they should be.

21 Q    And how were functional titles used?

22 A    Like on your e-mail and how you introduced yourself at

23      meetings.  Your e-mail signature.
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1 Q    So if somebody wanted to look at functional titles,

2      they could look at peoples e-mails?

3 A    Uh-huh.

4 Q    What about memos, would people put out memos with

5      titles like that?

6 A    Uh-huh.

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes?

8 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  Yes?

9 A    I'm sorry, yes.  I'm getting tired, yes.

10 Q    In looking at the candidates for the CIO position did

11      you look at their education or background or skills

12      and compare it to the position description?

13 A    I'm sorry, when looking at the candidates, did I

14      compare?

15 Q    Yes.

16 A    I generally did.  Usually when I got the approval from

17      HR to even post a position, I thought about what the

18      appropriate skills were needed for a particular

19      position.

20 Q    Was it your responsibility or was it HR's

21      responsibility to vet the candidates as it related to

22      the skills sought in the position description?

23 A    I wish HR had done that but they did not.  And it was
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1      a -- I just knew as common practice that as a

2      department we would be responsible for that duty.

3 Q    And do you believe that in the hiring of the CIO

4      position, the two individuals that you interviewed, do

5      you know whether or not they had the qualifications

6      for the position?

7 A    I would assume that they would.  Again, I don't have

8      the e-mail.  But in general I did not interview people

9      that I did not think would be qualified for the

10      position.

11 Q    And there were only two interviewed for the CIO

12      position, correct, that was Ms. Hall and Ms. Djelaj?

13 A    I actually don't remember.  I do remember their

14      interviews.  I, I actually don't remember, there could

15      have been additional ones.  But again if I had access

16      to documents and e-mails and my calendar I could tell

17      you, but I don't have any access to any documents.

18      This is all from memory.  I only recall Valentina and

19      Christina's interviews.

20 Q    Did anyone at any time during the hiring process for

21      CIO object to the hiring of Ms. Djelaj?

22 A    No.  No one from Human Resources, no one on the

23      interview panel.
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1 Q    When Ms. Djelaj received salary increases during her

2      employment there, what was the reason for the salary

3      increases she received?

4 A    It was because, and this was just common practice for

5      her as well as other SEMHA employees, it was because

6      they were doing -- with the transition to a leadership

7      team, which I was, they were doing more expansive job

8      duties.

9 Q    And as she took on more job duties, she was provided

10      more compensation?

11 A    Yes.  When I became Medical Director to Health

12      Officer, again I thought I had the ability to be able

13      to restructure the department based on what I felt was

14      needed for the department.

15 Q    And other individuals received raises during that time

16      too; is that correct?

17 A    Yes.

18 Q    And that information would be available in HR's best,

19      do you know?

20 A    So I'm right now I'm talking about SEMHA.  Through

21      SEMHA it was if you had the budget and you had the

22      person, it was common practice.  And I saw it when I

23      was just the Medical Director and not the Health
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1      Officer from former leadership; you could change

2      peoples salaries, change their titles pretty freely as

3      long as we had the budget, was my understanding,

4      through SEMHA.

5 Q    And that was done?

6 A    That was done.

7 Q    With people other than Ms. Djelaj?

8 A    If I recall, yes, uh-huh.

9 Q    Did you conduct a sham interview process?

10 A    Absolutely not.

11 Q    Did you misuse any funds?

12 A    No, I did not.

13 Q    Did you abuse your power or authority?

14 A    Absolutely not.

15 Q    Did you promote a personal friend to a higher ranking

16      position in the health department?

17 A    No, I did not.

18 Q    Did you double anyone's salary in the health

19      department?

20 A    I do not recall doubling anyone's salary in the health

21      department.

22 Q    Did you double Ms. Djelaj's salary?

23 A    I do not recall doubling her salary.
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1 Q    Was the CIO position that was filled for the City of

2      Detroit specifically created for Ms. Djelaj without

3      any intent of it being competitive?

4 A    Absolutely not; as evidenced by me following every

5      single HR process and evidenced by my Deputy Director

6      showing me that we were trying to -- or proving in his

7      memos that we were trying to follow the HR process.

8 Q    Did you ever tell anyone that they should have known

9      the position was created for Valentina?

10 A    Absolutely not.

11 Q    Did you ever tell that to any internal candidates who

12      applied for the CIO position?

13 A    I absolutely did not.  In fact, if I may add, I

14      frequently told people, including for this position,

15      that we had to follow the appropriate process and that

16      there were no favorites.  And I said that many times

17      throughout the department.

18                 In fact I believe that people were actually

19      scared because they knew that I am someone who really

20      intended to follow protocols.  And I do believe that

21      Valentina was scared and nervous in fact about the job

22      interview because she knows that I always followed

23      protocol.  And unfortunately that also angered people
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1      in the department.

2 Q    Had you heard from anyone else that internal

3      candidates were told that they should have known the

4      position was created for Valentina?

5 A    No.

6 Q    You never heard anybody say it?

7 A    I have my suspicions.  Again, going back to the

8      context, I know that I gave very direct and sometimes

9      negative feedback to people when they were not doing

10      well in their jobs.  And I do know that there was

11      several people, including Tim Lawther, that were less

12      than pleased with me when I told them that I did not

13      think they were performing sufficiently in their jobs.

14      And I do believe that created an environment where

15      people were jealous and where people were, how do I

16      put this, did not want to see me be successful,

17      particularly because I really tried to hold everyone

18      accountable and I held no favorites at the Detroit

19      Health Department.

20 Q    So you didn't tell any internal candidates who applied

21      for the CIO position that they should have known the

22      position was created?

23 A    Absolutely not.
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1 Q    You didn't direct anybody else to say that, did you?

2 A    No, I did not.

3 Q    HR had the power to change the job description or the

4      process; is that correct?

5 A    Yes.

6 Q    And you sought HR's guidance during the entirety?

7 A    Yes.

8 Q    Especially when it was made known that it had to be a

9      City of Detroit position?

10 A    Yes.

11 Q    You were available and willing to provide any

12      information regarding this investigation if anybody

13      reached out to you; is that correct?

14 A    Yes, including during my time when I was a City of

15      Detroit employee, which apparently was during the time

16      when the OIG had this complaint.

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  I have no further questions,

18      thank you.

19                 DR. KHALDUN:  Thank you.

20                 MS. HA:  So we have Ms. Ingersoll, did you

21      need to question her?

22                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did you want to question Dr.

23      Khaldun and then we'll question Ms. Ingersoll?
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1                 MS. HA:  That's fine.  I just was wondering

2      why Ms. Ingersoll was here if she wasn't going to

3      be --

4                 DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, she is.

5                 MR. KONCIUS:  No, I think she will be but

6      we might be able to cut some of that down.

7                 MS. HA:  Oh, I see.  I got it, okay.  Go

8      ahead Beverly.

9                 MS. MURRAY:  I only have a couple of

10      questions.  And I wanted to clarify a few things on

11      the record before -- I know it was mentioned in the

12      Inspector General's opening, but I want to state again

13      that the reason that there was no interview is because

14      our investigations take time to gather documents and

15      review and come to a conclusion where we're

16      comfortable.  So by the time we had gotten to that

17      point you were no longer employed.  So that is why,

18      because of the jurisdiction issues, there was no

19      interview.

20                 Ms. Djelaj was still employed, that is why

21      we brought her in for interview.  Mr. Lawther was also

22      not employed at the time that we were ready to conduct

23      the interviews.
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1                 I also wanted to clarify that the draft

2      report, there was a decision made to forward the

3      report to you.  It was not in response to a call or

4      anything from another health department employee.  We

5      had already decided that we were going to mail the

6      response, and give you the opportunity for hearing

7      even though there was -- or, sorry, the opportunity to

8      provide us with response or request a hearing.  So

9      that was done prior to any contact with anyone else

10      from the health department.

11                 And I also wanted to clarify there were

12      points in the report that are in there because they

13      were part of the allegation, such as the allegation

14      that there is a personal friend or that the salary was

15      doubled.  We didn't necessarily -- we didn't

16      substantiate those findings.  And I think in going

17      forward we need to make it a little more clear that

18      those were not substantiated, but they are included in

19      the draft report because they were part of the

20      complaint and they have to be addressed.

21                 So those were just the points that I wanted

22      to clarify.  As far as the CIA position --

23                 MR. KONCIUS:  You got to listen now --
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  Thank you.

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- to answer questions.

3                 MS. HA:   Do you need to talk to your

4      client?

5                 MR. KONCIUS:  No, I was just making sure

6      she was listening, --

7                 MS. HA:  Oh, okay.

8                 MR. KONCIUS: -- that is all.

9                 MS. HA:  All right.

10                         EXAMINATION

11 BY MS. MURRAY:

12 Q    I believe one of the e-mails that we reviewed that

13      helped us come to this conclusion, I should say helped

14      me or helped one of the people I was working with come

15      to this conclusion, is the e-mail between yourself and

16      Tim Lawther.  It was dated October 4, 2017.  And I

17      think that the reason that we came to that is because

18      in the -- in your statement you mention that there was

19      a transition of the positions, not the people.  But

20      the way that the e-mail reads is it was the complete

21      opposite.  So this is on page two of the report.

22 A    Okay.

23 Q    And it's at the bottom where it says October 14th,
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1      2017.

2                 MS. HA:  October 4.

3 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  October 4th, 2017, sorry.

4      And the way that the e-mail read was that there was

5      going to be -- that these positions -- their positions

6      were being trans-- the people were being transitioned

7      to city positions.  And that in order to properly

8      transition them and accommodate their salaries, the

9      Public Health Division Administrator position was the

10      way to go.  So there was no discussion about the

11      titles, it was more so about the people.

12                 So that is why we were -- so does that

13      sound familiar to you at all?

14 A    No, I have no access to any documents.  I would love

15      to see a thread of e-mails.  Would you like me to

16      respond to what you just said or are you --

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  There's nothing to respond

18      to.  You don't have the e-mail.

19                 DR. KHALDUN:  I don't have anything.

20                 MR. KONCIUS:  There's no quotes.

21                 DR. KHALDUN:  That seems like something --

22      an e-mail that Tim sent.

23                 MR. KONCIUS:  There was no question.
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1                 MS. MURRAY:  So I do have the e-mails, I'm

2      going to -- so is it an exhibit?

3                 DR. KHALDUN:  For the record, I did ask for

4      these e-mails and any information and I was denied it.

5      But it seems like now you're going to be submitting

6      things that I did not have access to.

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  And you will have an

8      opportunity to respond to it here.  The issue for us

9      is that our investigation is still considered open and

10      we can't give out our investigative materials pursuant

11      to the charter, because the charter says that we have

12      to keep it confidential.  So you'll have an

13      opportunity to view it here and look at it and respond

14      to what she has here.

15                 Let me make a couple copies.

16                              (WHEREUPON a short pause was

17                              had in the proceedings.)

18                              (WHEREUPON Exhibit No. 8

19                              was marked for identification

20                              by the reporter.)

21 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  We were referencing

22      Exhibit 8 where there was discussion between yourself

23      and Timothy Lawther about changing Valentina and
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1      Zaundra who, in the draft report is Zaundra Wimberly's

2      city titles to Public Health Division Administrator to

3      accommodate their salaries.

4                 So the question that I have from this is,

5      at this point it seems like you're transitioning the

6      people, is that --

7 A    No.  Again like I talked about in my testimony, I was

8      operating under -- there's two things here.  One, in

9      SEMHA I could do what I wanted and that is how I was

10      operating.  Again, if I had access to my e-mail, I

11      will tell you but that's how I was operating in

12      general.  And so I was increasing peoples salaries

13      through SEMHA.

14                 And again what's important is that I had

15      decided that salaries need to be sufficient for the

16      type of skill set and work that I needed people to

17      have.  And so the fact that Tim decided to put their

18      names in there, does not imply that I intended to have

19      any SEMHA employee be a city employee.  For me it

20      implies that I had decided that these functional roles

21      through the SEMHA, again SEMHA where I could do it, I

22      had determined what salaries were necessary for those

23      jobs.  And as we transitioned, which all of the memos
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1      from Tim say, as we transitioned positions from SEMHA

2      to the City of Detroit, I did think that the salaries

3      should be the same.

4 Q    In that same e-mail thread he gave you another option

5      which was to create a new position through the City of

6      Detroit.  Can you explain why you decided not to go

7      through that process?

8 A    I don't know.  Again as you can see also in these

9      e-mails, I really didn't know the HR process and I

10      just, I just didn't know it and Tim really lead all

11      this.  You can see that in all the memos that I said

12      as well.  And you can even see I said fine, okay, are

13      there implications, I'm not clear.  I really said I

14      don't understand, I'm not clear on what you're even

15      asking me.  I think that's actually what the e-mails

16      show, if you want to use an objective lens.

17 Q    So I know you mentioned that with SEMHA you had a lot

18      of leeway for title changes and salary increases.  Did

19      you submit an official position change to SEMHA to

20      change Valentina's title from what she held at the

21      time, which was Special Associate to the Director to

22      the Chief Integration Officer?

23 A    I don't remember.  That would have been -- again, at
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1      my level I'm not the one who submitted official

2      things.  I was not the Human Resources person.  That

3      would have been I guess Tim who would have done that.

4 Q    Okay.  And there is another e-mail, this would be

5      Number 9, dated October 23rd, 2017.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  We'll mark this as Exhibit 9.

7                              (WHEREUPON Exhibit No. 9

8                              was marked for identification

9                              by the reporter.)

10 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  So in this e-mail it

11      says, the part that I highlighted, it say Val, I need

12      to discuss your role, because it is so integrated with

13      organizational development with the city we are unable

14      to push it through -- push it forward as is through

15      SEMHA but we have a plan.  It says let's talk offline.

16                 So what was discussed after you sent this

17      e-mail?

18 A    What was discussed, as is noted in these memos, is

19      that we did have plans -- I mean I talked about it in

20      my initial testimony, but we did have plans to pull

21      positions in the City of Detroit and then we had plans

22      to, I think Tim's memo actually says, to inform staff

23      that these positions were posted.
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1                 What you'll also note -- again this is my

2      first time looking at the e-mail, but thank you for

3      sharing it.  You can see that Val had the most updated

4      versions.  It basically looks like Valentina was

5      involved in various position description -- you know,

6      in the process is what this actually shows.  If you

7      look at that thoroughly, it's consistent with what

8      I've been describing, is that Valentina's job was to

9      make, create position descriptions.  And you'll also

10      see that I was trying to desperately move the process

11      forward in saying any of these people in their roles

12      by a certain date.

13                 What you'll also note is it says sent from

14      my Verizon Samsung Galaxy Smart Phone.  And the reason

15      why cell phones have that at the end is because when

16      you don't have time, when you're on your cell phone

17      and you don't have to time to have long discussions,

18      that's the exact reason why that's there.  And so I

19      often sent very short e-mails if I was on my phone and

20      then we talked again later.

21                 And I assure you I did not promise

22      Valentina that she had a job.  I did tell her that we

23      were not able to post the Chief Integration Officer
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1      through SEMHA and it had to go through city.

2                 And I assure you that Valentina was nervous

3      because she knows how I am.  She was nervous that she

4      would have to apply for the job.  And I believe if you

5      did a thorough investigation, you may find people who

6      would say that Valentina was nervous about her

7      interview for the City of Detroit position.

8 Q    Okay, to back up a little bit.  When you had Valentina

9      create the Chief Integration Officer position

10      description, initially through the SEMHA process it

11      was your intent to hire her into that position,

12      correct?

13 A    Because like the communi -- there was a communications

14      manager position, there was another person, what's his

15      name, Jeremy, what's his last name, Jeremy Thomas.

16      So, yes, that is what we did through SEMHA.  That was

17      not -- that was following rules as I knew it at the

18      time.

19 Q    Okay.  And in your opening you mentioned or

20      highlighted some of Valentina's work.  So is it safe

21      to say that you had a high -- a good working

22      relationship and you thought highly of her as an

23      employee?
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1 A    I don't understand your question.  There are many

2      people in the Detroit Health Department that did good

3      work and who I highly regarded.  Because you're

4      accusing me of things around Valentina, that is why I

5      said that, but I can name several people.

6                 Again, I am someone who held people

7      accountable.  When they did good work, I told them.

8      And when they did less than stellar work, I told them.

9      I do not think it is appropriate to try to handpick

10      one person and say that somehow I played favorites,

11      which I think is what you're implying.

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  That's not what she said.  So

13      the question was if you held Valentina in high regard

14      and felt she did a good job at the health department.

15 A    I believe that she did the tasks that she was asked to

16      do.

17 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  Okay.  So when the

18      decision was made to transition the CIO position to

19      the City of Detroit, what would have happened to

20      Valentina had she not been selected as the CIO, it was

21      your -- would she have been terminated?

22 A    I don't know because she was a SEMHA employee.  So

23      whatever they do with SEMHA, that is her employer.
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1 Q    Well, let me back up a little.  In Valentina's

2      interview she made it clear that this new CIO position

3      was being made to replace the existing position of

4      Special Associate to the Director.  Is that your

5      under --

6 A    I would not, I would not -- that's not my words.  I

7      was re-structuring the Detroit Health Department.  So

8      there are many -- there are some roles that

9      transitioned over to City of Detroit and there are

10      some roles that did not.  This was not a replacement

11      type of role.

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  So was the position that

13      Valentina was in in SEMHA, was that role being

14      eliminated?

15                 DR. KHALDUN:  Again you're asking me things

16      without me having any access to anything.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  Sure.

18                 THE WITNESS:  This is all from memory.  But

19      I can tell you I was making a new organizational

20      chart.  I got promoted from Medical Director to the

21      Director and Medical Director, two roles actually held

22      at the same time.  And so if you took a broad

23      objective lens at the health department and looked at
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1      it, you would see that many roles, some I tried to

2      move over, some were new.

3                 For example, let's see here, Director of

4      Operations, that didn't exist before and I created it

5      newly when I actually learned what dire straits the

6      department was in and tried to post it.  So it is not

7      accurate to say that positions like, I don't know how

8      you say it, transition or morph, like one didn't

9      replace another necessarily.  It was a broad

10      organizational change that I was trying to do, which I

11      think any new director of the department can do.

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  Understood.  So was it your

13      intent then to remove that job title from SEMHA and

14      maybe just reallocate it to something else possibly, I

15      don't know, but was it to remove it from SEMHA then

16      since you were doing the Chief Integration Officer

17      role?

18                 DR. KHALDUN:  No, that is not what I would

19      say.  It was not a -- it's like, you know, there's a

20      pen, move from SEMHA to city.  That is not what I was

21      trying to do.  I had a broad organizational view.

22      It'S -- you don't take one out and put another one in.

23      That is absolutely not what I was doing.
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1                 There was a SEMHA budget.  We had a certain

2      amount of money for the budget and people who were on

3      the SEMHA budget.  And so it did not -- it was not a

4      transition of one position equates to another

5      position.  That's actually not how I was thinking.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  So again --

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  Again I don't know if you're

8      trying to accuse me --

9                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, I'm just trying to

10      understand.

11                 DR. KHALDUN:  I'm saying what I was

12      thinking.

13                 MS. BENTLEY:  And that's fine.  I'm just

14      trying to understand the process, right.  I think we

15      all are.

16                 DR. KHALDUN:  Sure.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  So if Valentina -- so once

18      Valentina got the CIO position, then her job through

19      SEMHA was not open, correct?

20                 DR. KHALDUN:  Potentially.  I really don't

21      -- I'm serious, I really don't recall thinking of it

22      that way.  I can say, how about this, I was as the

23      Medical Director, again I found out on a -- there was
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1      a two week time frame, to put context together, where

2      Abdul El-Sayed decided he was leaving in two weeks.

3      No one knew what was going to happen at Detroit Health

4      Department.

5                 I met with the Mayor on a Wednesday where

6      he asked me to take the job and I became that person

7      two days later.  It was a mess.  And I'll be honest

8      with you, I don't remember which position went to

9      where.  The budgets, the processes, it was all a mess.

10                 And what I do recall is I was broadly

11      thinking about the organization.  What I was doing as

12      a Medical Director only was very different than what I

13      was doing as a Director and a Medical Director.  And

14      it was not about favorites and people.  It was about

15      me trying to get a team in place when I had like two

16      days -- I had no preparation time and I was trying to

17      get my leadership team in place.

18                 Now I don't know what -- I have no idea

19      what Valentina would have said or thought.  I did not

20      tell her that.  That's her testimony.

21                 MS. HA:  So I'm a little confused.

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  Okay.

23                 MS. HA:  So the Chief Integration Officer
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1      position through SEMHA and the Chief Integration

2      Officer position that was created by the health

3      department at --

4                 DR. KHALDUN:  For city.

5                 MS. HA:  -- Mr. Lawther's suggestion, were

6      the roles different CIO as SEMHA and CIO as the City

7      of Detroit?

8                 DR. KHALDUN:  I want to be very careful

9      there.  They were --

10                 MS. HA:  Okay.

11                 DR. KHALDUN:  Because this is what SEMHA --

12                 MS. HA:  Yeah, that's why I'm confused.

13                 DR. KHALDUN:  Yeah, they're very -- they're

14      two employees, right.  They're two different

15      employers.  Now again I don't remember -- I don't even

16      know what the position description looks like because

17      no one shared it with me, I don't have it.

18                 But in my mind when I was doing the

19      position description change through SEMHA -- maybe I'm

20      understanding your question now -- it is very -- the

21      vision of what was needed in the department, how about

22      that.  The vision that was needed for a Chief

23      Integration Officer would not have changed whether it
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1      was SEMHA or City of Detroit because it was a needed

2      position.

3                 MS. HA:  Okay.

4                 DR. KHALDUN:  Now what I don't recall quite

5      frankly is what was attempted, like the actual

6      position description through SEMHA and what actually

7      got posted through the City of Detroit.  I honestly

8      don't remember.

9                 MS. HA:  Okay.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  I just don't.

11                 MS. MURRAY:  Do you recall who provided HR

12      with the position description, was it you or was it

13      Lawther?

14                 DR. KHALDUN:  In general I didn't --

15      usually it was Tim or he had -- Zaundra sometimes

16      worked with him on some of those things, but I -- that

17      was not my --

18                 MS. HA:  But who had envisioned a function

19      of Chief Integration Officer, was it Timothy Lawther

20      or was it you?

21                 DR. KHALDUN:  I think it was me.  It was me

22      based on -- I think I described it in my testimony.

23                 MS. HA:  Okay.
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  We needed -- I mean we had

2      these very --

3                 MS. HA:  Because you're the one who was

4      actually looking to restructure the health department?

5                 DR. KHALDUN:  The vision was me.

6                 MS. HA:  Okay.

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  How positions got posted and

8      who --

9                 MS. HA:  Right.

10                 DR. KHALDUN: -- wrote them and HR

11      approving, I was not involved in that level of detail.

12      I had a vision --

13                 MS. HA:  Okay.

14                 DR. KHALDUN: -- of integrating -- I mean

15      you go -- you went to our department, Lead Program,

16      Immunizations, you had to get in line at the

17      beginning, right.  It was not a seamless visit.  And

18      it was very -- we just had a very siloed department.

19      And I think it was to a disservice to the city's

20      departments.

21                 MS. HA:  Okay.

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  And so there was a vision for

23      integrating processes and protocols.  We even started
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1      creating a uniform in-take form --

2                 MS. HA:  Okay.

3                 DR. KHALDUN:  -- so that when people came

4      in, and Valentina did lead this, when people came into

5      the various programs, they wouldn't have to, you know,

6      come back three days later and -- so it was a

7      integration effort so that we could become more

8      streamlined and really best service city residents.

9      That was the vision.

10                 I don't know the details of what the actual

11      PD's, position descriptions, looked like and who

12      submitted them.  That wasn't -- I didn't do that level

13      of detailed work.

14                 MS. HA:  Okay.

15                 MS. MURRAY:  I have a question about

16      another e-mail from -- well, it starts October 24th,

17      2017.

18                 MS. HA:  Exhibit 10.

19                              (WHEREUPON Exhibit Nos. 10

20                              was marked for identification

21                              by the reporter.)

22                 MS. MURRAY:  So at the bottom of this

23      page --
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  Wait a minute, I'm sorry.

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  You can listen.

3                 DR. KHALDUN:  Can I just take some time to

4      read it?

5                 MS. HA:  Please.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  Well, no, just if you need

7      more time, you just have to tell us.

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  You know, it's hard that --

9                 DR. KHALDUN:  Are you a plaintiff lawyer or

10      are you an objective --

11                 MR. KONCIUS:  She has to see these ahead of

12      time.

13                 MS. BENTLEY:  And I've explained what our

14      limitations are for the charter.

15                 MR. KONCIUS:  And what was the limitation

16      in the charter?

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  It's the charter requires

18      that we keep our investigations confidential while

19      they're ongoing.  So we can't give out documents.

20                 MR. KONCIUS:  But she could have come in

21      and seen them as she's seeing them today, correct?

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, we can't do that but

23      because it's pertinent to the questions being asked to
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1      her today, we're table to provide that.

2                 MS. MURRAY:  I think these e-mails are

3      quoted as they're written in the report.

4                 MR. KONCIUS:  They're not quoted in the

5      report, that's just not true.

6                 DR. KHALDUN:  I think you took out pieces

7      that you wanted and put it in the report.

8                 MS. MURRAY:  The questions that I'm asking,

9      these are quoted in the report.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  Yes, you took out the pieces

11      that you --

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  I think they should --

13                 MS. MURRAY:  No, I understand what you're

14      saying, it's not the entire e-mail.  But the points

15      that are relevant are --

16                 DR. KHALDUN:  The ones that you wanted to

17      take out you did, yes.

18                 MS. HA:  Right.  And for the final report,

19      all of these exhibits, the entirety of the e-mails,

20      will be attached.

21                 MR. KONCIUS:  But they couldn't be

22      provided --

23                 MS. BENTLEY:  Correct.
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1                 MS. HA:  Right.

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- during this --

3                 MS. HA:  And it's not just for Dr. Khaldun.

4                 MR. KONCIUS: -- investigation.

5                 MS. HA:  It's to everyone.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  It's just our limitation.

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  I'm sorry, okay, so you had a

8      question.

9 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  So at the bottom of this

10      page there is -- you sent an e-mail to Tim Lawther.

11      And it says that wanted to check in to see where we

12      are on the salary increases for Zaundra and Valentina.

13      I think for both we wait for the official

14      title/position changes until we work through the city

15      process, which I am hoping is very soon.

16                 So again this reads as if -- so not

17      focusing on the salary part but the title change, that

18      there was going to be a title change for both

19      employees through the City of Detroit?

20 A    I think it is very, I think it is very unfair and

21      subjective to make those assumptions because clearly I

22      knew that I could do, as I've talked about many times

23      through SEMHA, increases in salaries and I did name
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1      those two individuals.  I think to jump from just

2      because of an e-mail saying that I thought that these

3      people definitely -- I said we're going to work

4      through the city process.  Now if you want to be --

5      let me not even go there.  But it says we're working

6      through the city process and we're waiting for

7      position and title changes until the city process is

8      done.  That is what we were doing.  That's what showed

9      in the memo.

10                 What is not here, I did not say that they

11      would get those official jobs.  I did not say that we

12      -- I actually said I want to work through the city

13      process.  And what this shows is that I was trying to

14      get them appropriate salary increases because I

15      thought that for the scope of work, as I've already

16      said today, when people are doing work in the city at

17      a certain level, they deserve to be paid for that.

18                 And what you can also see, which I talked

19      about in my written -- my oral remarks, is that all of

20      these e-mails show I was desperately looking for help

21      from my Deputy.  I was desperately trying to run a

22      struggling department and get people into the right

23      roles at the appropriate and fair salaries, fair
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1      salaries for the work that they were doing.

2                 And you can also see that I said here I

3      want to be responsive to people.  People were -- there

4      was a quick change in transition of people.  People

5      were very upset that they were now doing more work and

6      not getting appropriately paid.  There was this

7      question about SEMHA, city, quite frankly it was a

8      mess, and I was trying to be responsive and do the

9      work that was necessary as a city.

10                 And I think it is unfair to assume that

11      because I was trying to make increases for people on

12      SEMHA, which again I could do that through SEMHA, I

13      did not say that I thought that they would get the

14      job.  I said specifically I want to work through the

15      city process.

16 Q    Okay.  So I understand and I won't -- okay.  The last

17      question that I have is, I believe is another -- just

18      another e-mail that was referenced in the report.  It

19      is from February 9th, 2018.

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  We'll mark that as Exhibit

21      11.

22                              (WHEREUPON Exhibit No. 11

23                              was marked for identification
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1                              by the reporter.)

2                 MS. BENTLEY:  Just let us know when you're

3      ready to proceed.

4 Q    (Continuing by MS. MURRAY):  And so on this e-mail

5      from February 8th, 2018 there was an e-mail blast that

6      let everyone in the city know that there was -- that

7      these positions were posted.  And then you followed

8      that up -- that blast up with an e-mail to Valentina

9      Djelaj just to let her know that specifically that the

10      positions were posted.

11                 Was there any specific reason why you

12      singled her out to let her know?

13 A    No.  It's because again we said, and I think it's in

14      my memo from January 25th -- or wait.  Well, what you

15      can see in my memo from January 25th from Tim is that

16      we frequently said that we were going to let the

17      appropriate people know, encourage them to apply for

18      jobs.

19                 And I'll be honest with you, I had had a

20      conversation with Valentina saying that it was -- as

21      it is clear from your e-mails, right, I have nothing

22      to hide, that she would have to competitively -- you

23      know, to compete for the job.  And I knew that she
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1      knew she had to do that and so, yes, I did send it to

2      her.

3                 I will also say it was common practice, if

4      you did a thorough investigation and you looked at --

5      I'm assuming again because I wasn't involved in these,

6      but I know that Tim would tell me what she said here,

7      post priority city positions and communicate with

8      staff.

9                 It was common for us, as we were

10      transitioning from positions being SEMHA to being City

11      of Detroit, to let current SEMHA employees know, who

12      again we had relationships with in the Detroit Health

13      Department, to let them know.

14                 That was part of our plan.  You can see it

15      twice actually on the memo January 25th.  Open

16      recruitment, communicate with staff; post positions,

17      communicate that with staff.  And I did communicate

18      it.

19                 MS. BENTLEY:  Do you recall forwarding any

20      other of the job postings to any specific people?

21                 DR. KHALDUN:  For many of the job --

22      actually I would joke about this sometimes.  People

23      would look at me like I was crazy.  I would often,
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1      when there were jobs available, send it to people.

2      Jean's nodding because I did do that, because I always

3      wanted people -- again, that's my naive self.  I

4      wanted people to know that there were opportunities

5      available.

6                 And I actually was told later that I should

7      not do that because I heard that people were making

8      different assumptions and interpretations about me

9      forwarding jobs to them.  And again I'm learning, but

10      I honestly did that frequently because I wanted people

11      to know that there were opportunities for them to

12      advance.

13                 Again part of my role, part of my heart is

14      mentoring and giving people opportunities and I did

15      that here.

16                 MS. BENTLEY:  Do you happen to recall any

17      of the names?  I know it was a while ago.

18                 DR. KHALDUN:  Of people that I would have

19      sent jobs to?

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yeah, that you would have

21      forwarded to in a similar fashion?

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  Maybe -- again I really don't

23      remember.  I don't want to say anything that's wrong.
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1      But for our -- I'm sure I would have -- Yolanda -- and

2      this was both I'll also say for internal and external

3      jobs, I would frequently send job opportunities to

4      people.  I don't want to misspeak and have you tell me

5      I'm not telling the truth.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, I understand it's to the

7      best of your recollection.  I know it was a while ago.

8      You mentioned Yolanda.  Would that be Yolanda

9      Hill-Ashford or somebody else?

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  Yes.  I believe I would have

11      sent -- actually I think I sent something to -- did I?

12      Gosh, I'm forgetting to be honest.  But there was a

13      Deputy Director position that I sent I think to

14      Harolyn.  Again it's part of my nature.  I don't -- I

15      just don't remember but I frequently sent people job

16      descriptions.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  What's Harolyn's last name,

18      please?

19                 DR. KHALDUN:  Baker.

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  Thank you.

21                 DR. KHALDUN:  But again I don't, I really

22      don't remember.

23                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, I'm not trying to catch
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1      you up on anything.  I'm just looking for additional,

2      you know, people to just corroborate what you're

3      saying.  So that's the whole purpose.

4                 DR. KHALDUN:  Uh-huh.

5                 MS. BENTLEY:  And again that's what all

6      these questions for.  It is a draft report so we make

7      decisions based on the information we have.  So if

8      there's additional things, that's the point of

9      questions.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  I would also say some of the

11      people who I sent things to are also some of the

12      people who were probably very upset and angry with me

13      because I tried to hold them accountable.

14                 MS. HA:  The individuals that you sent the

15      e-mails to or --

16                 DR. KHALDUN:  Potentially, yes.  If --

17      anyone at a manager level in my department could have

18      potentially -- yeah, felt -- I'll let you finish your

19      question.

20                 MS. HA:  Yeah, that's fine.  I'm just a

21      little confused because if our Deputy Inspector

22      General leaves and I thought Beverly Murray would be

23      qualified to take the position and I forward her a job
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1      description, you think she's going to be -- she would

2      be upset because --

3                 DR. KHALDUN:  No.

4                 MR. KONCIUS:  You know, how can you --

5                 DR. KHALDUN:  I'm sorry, I'm not --

6                 MS. HA:  I'm sorry.

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  No, it's a misunderstanding.

8      That's not at all what I'm saying.

9                 MS. HA:  Okay.

10                 MS. BENTLEY:  So correct me if I'm wrong

11      but my understanding was that you were saying that you

12      forward job descriptions to health department

13      employees?

14                 DR. KHALDUN:  SEMHA.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  I'm sorry, SEMHA.

16                 DR. KHALDUN:  Either, again --

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  Either way that you've been

18      critical of in the past but you still forward them job

19      postings?

20                 DR. KHALDUN:  Correct, correct.

21                 MS. HA:  Oh, I see.

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  Thank you.

23                 MS. MURRAY:  I don't have any further
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1      questions.

2                 MS. BENTLEY:  No questions.

3                         EXAMINATION

4 BY MS. HA:

5 Q    Okay, so I'm a little confused about what functional

6      title does.

7 A    Oh.

8 Q    So who gives the health department employee a

9      functional title?

10 A    I'll be honest, you can -- that's a common -- I would

11      have you actually talk to Human Resources about that.

12 Q    Okay.

13 A    Because I did not do this, I mean I couldn't.  I did

14      this with Human Resources approval.  I believe Tamara

15      told me many times.

16 Q    Yeah, and I'm really not -- it doesn't matter.

17 A    Sure.

18 Q    I understand that there are functional titles.

19 A    Yeah.

20 Q    But at the health department how do you give people a

21      functional title, like do I just --

22 A    It depends.

23 Q    Okay.
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1 A    Again, this is all from memory but if I recall,

2      sometimes the person, whoever that person was going to

3      be reporting to, would create the functional title.

4      Sometimes we would think collaboratively as a Senior

5      Leadership Team on what the functional title would be

6      based on the job that the person would be doing.

7                 I can't say that there was one single

8      person who said peoples titles were what they were.

9      And I believe again, I'm sorry, you'll have to talk to

10      Human Resources because I'm just not looking at

11      anything right now.  But I do believe that Human

12      Resources when they posted the positions, they had

13      that functional title.  I thought it was in there when

14      they posted it.

15                 So, for example, all of the different

16      titles we talked about with Public Health Division

17      Administrator, --

18 Q    Okay.

19 A    -- my understanding was that when it was officially

20      posted, Human Resources for all those

21      subclassifications they had it there and so the person

22      would actually know what their job was that they were

23      going to be doing.
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1 Q    So the real reason why I'm confused is Valentina

2      Djelaj used the CIO title in her e-mail --

3 A    Yeah.

4 Q    -- before the position was created at the city through

5      the health -- not health, Human Resources Department.

6      Who gives her the functional title of CIO for the --

7 A    Through SEMHA.

8 Q    Through SEMHA?

9 A    Well, because if I'm --

10 Q    Okay.

11 A    The time frame here it looks like what you're

12      describing right now is e-mailed when she was a SEMHA

13      employee.

14 Q    Okay.

15 A    Again, that's what I talked about in my statements was

16      that through SEMHA we frequently changed titles,

17      increased salaries.  I mean again I don't know the

18      exact date when she would have changed her e-mail

19      signature, I don't know but...

20 Q    I thought for some reason that SEMHA said that the

21      health department could not have a CIO title under

22      SEMHA.  Am I wrong about that?

23 A    So that, again any conversation, that would be
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1      something that Tim Lawther had.  But I guess -- and

2      maybe I didn't, I should say it again but I thought I

3      put that in my remarks.

4                 Things were moving very fast, I'll be

5      honest with you.  And I had no reason to believe that

6      we could not have -- again if you think about the time

7      frame, other people outside of CIO, whatever titles

8      they were, we, common practice, changed their title,

9      changed their salary.  I actually had no reason to

10      believe we could not do that with Valentina because

11      I'd never been told through SEMHA that we couldn't do

12      what we wanted, quite frankly.

13                 And so what could have happened is we

14      assumed that we could do the Chief Integration Officer

15      through SEMHA, which we did.  And what could have

16      happened is that Valentina started using that in her

17      e-mail.  Again, if I could -- I don't have access to

18      any documents or e-mails so I'm trying to -- I don't

19      know.  It is plausible that she thought and we thought

20      that we could do that through SEMHA.  And it's

21      possible that is when and why she changed her e-mail

22      signature.  I do not know -- I don't have control over

23      e-mails, I don't know.
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1                 In my mind, again if we wanted to look

2      broad, there are several SEMHA employees who were

3      doing the exact same functional role, who went through

4      the city process in the appropriate way, and ended up

5      having the exact same functional role as they did in

6      SEMHA in the City of Detroit, if that makes sense.

7                 So, for example, David Bowser.  He was a

8      SEMHA employee and, you know, I wasn't involved in it,

9      my understanding Tim was leading this whole process,

10      is that there was a position description that fit.

11      And there was a functional title that they decided --

12      Tim decided would be appropriate.  There was an

13      interview process.

14                 Again, the memos show that we went through

15      interview processes with the City of Detroit and those

16      people are -- I don't know if they still work there,

17      but people ended up being City of Detroit employees.

18                 So I think what I'm trying to say is the

19      SEMHA and City of Detroit processes were very -- they

20      ran in parallel.  And we were moving a lot of people

21      -- or a lot of, I should say not a lot of people, a

22      lot of positions.

23                 And yet what you also notice, even when I'm
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1      speaking, is we were doing a massive coordination of

2      moving positions from SEMHA to city without the

3      support of Human Resources, without understanding --

4      clearly as you can see in my e-mails I don't

5      understand what are we doing; I don't understand what

6      this means.  It's not clear.  You tell me about.  I

7      say it's not clear.

8                 We were trying to move -- transition

9      positions from SEMHA to city.  There were a lot of

10      individuals that were potentially involved or

11      impacted.  But there is nowhere in anything that I've

12      seen or that you've put in your draft report where it

13      says I don't want to follow city process.  In fact you

14      see many times where I say Tim, Human Resources, help

15      me, I want to follow city process.  In the meantime I

16      still have to keep a department running.

17                 And so I think what has happened, if we use

18      an objective lens, is that probably things with

19      Valentina using the title -- and, quite frankly, I

20      didn't hide.  I thought I was doing the right thing.

21      That's why she had the title and that's why I

22      introduced her as such.  There was nothing -- there

23      was no corruption, there was nothing to hide.  I
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1      thought I was doing the right thing.

2 Q    You mean she had the title of CIO at SEMHA?

3 A    I, in my mind -- again I'm asking you to be me for a

4      moment.  That is what I thought she had.  I truly did.

5      There was nothing to hide.  There was no corruption

6      scheme.  There was no ruse.

7                 You know, I thought I was doing the right

8      thing, which is quite frankly why it was so out in the

9      open because -- now did I not follow some process or

10      protocol, perhaps, I don't know.  Someone should have

11      told me.  But I -- my intentions were very pure when I

12      was trying to move positions from SEMHA to City of

13      Detroit.

14                 And what I'm concerned about is that you

15      are taking out e-mails and trying to somehow prove

16      that I was corrupt when perhaps I was misguided,

17      perhaps I did not understand protocol.  But my

18      intentions, which you see throughout all kinds of

19      documents and the e-mails that you provide, my

20      intentions were to try to follow the city process.  I

21      did not hide anything.  I reached out to all kinds of

22      people all throughout the thing.  So if you want to

23      say that perhaps -- I had positive intent the entire
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1      time.

2 Q    So if I were a health department employee and I wanted

3      to get a CIO position, wouldn't it be reasonable for

4      me to think that if Valentina was already using the

5      CIO position, that she's probably going to get the CIO

6      position and that I shouldn't even bother to apply

7      because she's apparently acting as a CIO?

8 A    I don't think that's fair to say.

9 Q    Okay.

10 A    No, I disagree.  And if you look at -- and quite

11      frankly I'd recommend that the city stop its contract

12      with SEMHA because I think it sets people up for this

13      exact situation.  I don't think that's fair.

14                 Again I have said many times there were

15      people -- you can look at environmental health, for

16      example.  I don't -- again I wasn't even in those

17      interviews, but there are people who were SEMHA

18      employees doing environmental health, food safety,

19      restaurant inspection work.  We had to transition the

20      environmental health program to City of Detroit

21      positions.

22                 And those positions, again I worked with

23      HR -- I won't even get into how that -- anyway, I
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1      worked with HR, those positions were posted and those

2      same people who were SEMHA employees doing

3      environmental health work had to apply for the same

4      functional, you know, doing restaurant inspections

5      work in the City of Detroit.

6                 It is not fair, I do not believe it is fair

7      to blame me for doing quite frankly the only thing I

8      could do because I have to have a restaurant

9      inspection program.  Now if someone wants to assume

10      something, I don't know.  But everyone in

11      environmental health and food safety had the

12      opportunity to apply for the same functional job as a

13      City of Detroit employee.

14                 And I believe, again I wasn't in -- Tim and

15      others lead this process but I believe that there's

16      probably several people, if not most people, who used

17      to be SEMHA employees doing essentially the same thing

18      who ended up being the most qualified candidate, based

19      on that interview panel that I was not involved in,

20      ended up being a city direct Detroit employee ended up

21      doing the same thing.

22                 Anything that's -- that process, you may

23      not like it.  That is the only thing I could do.  I
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1      followed the rules and I did -- I followed the rules

2      for environmental health and food safety.  I followed

3      the rules for the David Bowser position.  I'm

4      forgetting what the functional title was, but the

5      David Bowser position.

6                 Oh, actually there was an epidemiologist

7      position.  You can't change an epidemiologist

8      position.  Like it's a basic public health function.

9      So I'm sorry if -- because I was told I had to move

10      people -- again, I'm sorry, I had to move positions.

11      Positions had to be moved from SEMHA to City of

12      Detroit, an epidemiologist is an epidemiologist.  A

13      food safety person is a food safety person.

14                 And so it's not fair to tell me, I don't

15      think, that someone's perceptions -- that is what the

16      process is.  And I think you should look very closely

17      at SEMHA hiring practices, at City of Detroit hiring

18      practices, and talk to Human Resources and the City of

19      Detroit Procurement Office about what they want to do

20      with that.  But I don't think it's fair to blame me

21      for being thrown into a process that was very unclear.

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  How often do you sit on the

23      interview panel?
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  I wouldn't know how to answer

2      that.  It depends on what it was.

3                 MS. BENTLEY:  So how do you decide what

4      interview panels to sit on?

5                 DR. KHALDUN:  If they were Senior, if they

6      were Senior Leadership Team people, I tended to sit on

7      those.  But if they were -- which I think is

8      acceptable -- if they were managers three, four below

9      me, I wouldn't necessarily be in those.  But for key

10      department positions, which I think is appropriate for

11      a department director, they're involved in those.

12 Q    (Continuing by MS. HA):  So what you're saying is that

13      people who have the functional title at SEMHA would

14      most likely get the title in the city?

15 A    I'm not saying that because you're saying people.  I'm

16      not saying people.  There are just basic functions of

17      public health.  So I really don't want anyone putting

18      words in my mouth.

19 Q    Okay.

20 A    There are functions of public health that SEMHA was

21      providing services for.  I don't know how or why that

22      SEMHA contract -- I was not here at the time, I don't

23      know how or why that SEMHA contract came into place.
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1                 But what happened when I started is I was

2      told that for whatever reason -- again I wasn't

3      involved in these conversations.  I was told that

4      these core public health functions should not be in

5      SEMHA.  But when the health department was restarted

6      in whatever year, 2014, 2015, other people decided, I

7      was not here, that all these critical public health

8      functions could be provided by SEMHA.

9                 And then very quickly when I started as the

10      Director of the department and started again trying to

11      put some infrastructure in place, that's when I was

12      told that it was not appropriate for these positions

13      to be on SEMHA.  And so all of a sudden I'm there,

14      someone else came and put all these positions on

15      SEMHA.  Here I am trying to run a health department

16      and being told that that contract was not appropriate.

17                 And so I had to figure out a way and budget

18      and go through the whole Human Resources process,

19      which I really didn't understand, to be able to get

20      positions into the City of Detroit.

21                 But public health is public health.

22      There's only so many functions you can make up; you

23      know, if you're looking at data, if you're inspecting
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1      restaurants.  So the descriptions of the positions

2      very likely for most of those transitioning positions

3      from SEMHA to City of Detroit would have been the

4      same.  And that is not any fault of mine.

5                 MS. BENTLEY:  Who told you it wasn't

6      appropriate to have them under SEMHA?

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  That would have been -- again

8      to be honest I was not involved in the conversation.

9                 MS. BENTLEY:  Best of your recollection.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  My understanding, what was

11      it, something about -- you see, I wasn't in the weeds

12      of this, but something about for environmental health

13      there's some way that the state dollars -- it all had

14      to do with dollars and function and contract, things

15      that I didn't understand.  But I really did what I was

16      told by others.

17                 Now I remember going through a budget

18      process, yeah, like a week after I started in my job

19      with no transition onboarding.  I had to go and talk

20      about my budget.  It was like budget season.  It was

21      like mid, late February.  I had no idea what was going

22      on and someone told me that I think the way the

23      revenue came in for environmental health and food
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1      services, that the city could not accept the revenue

2      because they were SEMHA employees.

3                 You can see I tried to do what I was told.

4      But I was told pretty quickly in my tenure that it was

5      not appropriate for some SEMHA employees to be doing

6      the work they were doing.

7                 MS. HA:  Okay, I don't have anything

8      further at this time.

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  I've got some follow-ups to

10      the, --

11                 MS. HA:  Sure.

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- to the info.

13                    RE-EXAMINATION

14 BY MR. KONCIUS:

15 Q    Doctor, do you have those e-mails in front of you,

16      Exhibits 8, 9, 10 and 11?

17 A    Yes.

18 Q    Would you take a look at Exhibit 8, and that's the

19      October 4th e-mail chain.  It starts at the second

20      page from Timothy Lawther to yourself, subject staff

21      titles.  Do you see that?

22 A    Yes.

23 Q    Timothy Lawther was the individual sending that
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1      e-mail, correct?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    You didn't draft that, did you?

4 A    No.

5 Q    Prior to this you were working under SEMHA to create

6      the CIO position, correct?

7 A    Yes.

8                 MS. HA:  Prior to this meaning prior to

9      October 4th?

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  Prior to this e-mail, yes.

11 A    In general at this point I would have been roughly six

12      months into my new job at that time, and in general I

13      was working under the SEMHA mindset at that time.

14 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  And that had been a

15      discussion that had been ongoing, correct?

16 A    Can you clarify for me the question?

17 Q    Yeah.  Considering the CIO position had been a

18      conversation that had been ongoing for some time.

19 A    The vision for specifically someone who needed to

20      really pay attention to integrating the work across

21      the department, that was something that I early on

22      knew was a position that was needed when I was

23      promoted.
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1 Q    And it was after -- how long had you been considering

2      that that you understood it needed to be done through

3      the City of Detroit?

4 A    I'd have to look at the dates of the e-mails but as

5      you can see, I deferred to Tim.  I wasn't involved in

6      the, you know.  I did what I was told and deferred to

7      other people to give me appropriate direction, whether

8      it was Tim Lawther or the Human Resources Department.

9 Q    And you were required to create a position through the

10      City of Detroit and not continue looking to do that

11      through SEMHA, correct?

12 A    It sounds like that's what I was told.

13 Q    And is that what you recall being told?

14 A    Yes.

15 Q    And you chose to follow that, correct?

16 A    Absolutely.

17 Q    You didn't create a position in SEMHA after that time,

18      you followed through the City of Detroit procedures;

19      is that right?

20 A    That was my intent and that is what some of the

21      e-mails they provided said, is that I want to work

22      with the city process.

23 Q    If you look on that first page here it says Tim
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1      Lawther, MPH, MA, Chief of Staff, Detroit Health

2      Department.  Do you see that?

3 A    Uh-huh.

4 Q    Is that Tim Lawther's --

5                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes?

6 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  Is that a yes?

7 A    Oh, I'm sorry, yes, yes.

8 Q    Is that Tim Lawther's title, Chief of Staff?

9 A    Actually I think that was a functional title, now that

10      you talk about it.  He was -- this was over two years

11      ago.  I'm not sure what official title in the city he

12      sat in.  He functionally changed titles between Deputy

13      Director and maybe even -- Deputy Director and Chief

14      of Staff.  And I'll be honest, I don't recall which --

15      because it was an appointed position, let me also say.

16      In the official City of Detroit Tim became appointed

17      by my subra -- but the Mayor officially appoints

18      people I believe.  But at some point quickly after I

19      became Health Director.  But again it actually speaks

20      to how we had some fluidity in changing functional

21      titles.

22                 MS. HA:  I still don't understand about the

23      functional titles because I mean who, who -- if I felt
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1      like I was working as an investigator instead of

2      saying Inspector General, I can just change my title

3      to Ellen Ha, Investigator because I'm functioning in

4      that way?

5                 DR. KHALDUN:  Can I, can I just speak?

6                 MS. HA:  Sure.

7                 DR. KHALDUN:  I appreciate, Inspector

8      General, that you are confused and may not understand

9      it.  That is not a reflection of me.  That is a

10      reflection of -- that is what is happening and was

11      customary and usual at the City of Detroit Health

12      Department.  That is what I found before I was in

13      charge.

14                 So again the purpose of this is to -- I

15      feel like you're talking about my behavior while

16      Director of the health department, which is why I'm

17      focusing on that.  You may not understand it but that

18      was customary.  And I actually was told by Tamara and

19      many people in HR that we could do that.

20                 So again if you look at the white book,

21      there are all kinds of just titles.  There's, you

22      know, there's all kinds of titles in the white book.

23      I was told -- actually initially -- no, not initially.
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1      See, now it's all a blur.  At some point I reported to

2      Dave Massaron when I was here.  He was -- I forget his

3      title at the time, but I reported to him and I

4      remember him saying that you can put people in

5      functional -- in whatever the white book said, but

6      that they could have whatever functional title that

7      you wanted.  That was -- that is customary.

8                 MS. HA:  But who approves the functional

9      title?  Obviously I can't just pick a functional title

10      for myself, right?  Somebody has to approve that

11      person's functional title eventually.

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  I don't think she can speak

13      to your department.

14                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, talking in the health

15      department.

16                 MS. MURRAY:  In the health department who

17      would have approved the functional title?

18                 DR. KHALDUN:  It could have -- sometimes it

19      was me but sometimes I think you'll see even in one of

20      the memos, again there's nothing to hide here.  It was

21      customary and usual.  I think Tim even, for other

22      people who I wasn't involved in the interview process,

23      I think for David Bowser and Esperanza Cantu, they
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1      went back and forth about should the functional title

2      include community in it.  You know, these kind of

3      nuances -- because people, it was really important to

4      people that when they went out and talked in public,

5      they didn't have these City of Detroit titles that

6      quite frankly didn't mean -- didn't specify to someone

7      outside the organization, or quite frankly even inside

8      the organization, what they actually did.

9                 MS. HA:  So I guess who gets the last say

10      in terms of whether or not that person uses a specific

11      functional title, is it you, --

12                 DR. KHALDUN:  Usually the --

13                 MS. HA:  -- the Health Department

14      Director, --

15                 DR. KHALDUN:  It depends --

16                 MR. KONCIUS:  Let her finish the question.

17                 MS. HA: -- is that the Deputy Director or

18      is that a SEMHA?

19                 DR. KHALDUN:  If I may.

20                 MS. HA:  Sure.

21                 DR. KHALDUN:  I'm a little concerned

22      because I think probably because people have not

23      worked at the Detroit Health Department, I don't
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1      actually feel comfortable because you're mixing there

2      SEMHA and City of Detroit into your sentence.

3                 MS. HA:  Okay.

4                 DR. KHALDUN:  They are different processes

5      and so you can't even put that in one sentence

6      together.  I really want you to understand the thought

7      process there.  And so --

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  Does SEMHA approve a

9      functional title for a SEMHA employee?

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  They -- whatever paperwork

11      goes through SEMHA, I mean for someone to be hired

12      they have to have some title.  But with SEMHA, and

13      again I'm not -- if you could just show me some

14      e-mails or any -- if I just had access to my own

15      e-mails from the time, it would be easier.  I'm doing

16      this from two plus, almost three years ago.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  Well, and you're more recent

18      in this.  I don't know if you, Jean Ingersoll, if you

19      could -- if you have some additional insight into

20      that, but I think we're trying to understand the

21      process.  It's not about --

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  I would highly recommend, to

23      be honest, that you -- this is about, understand, the
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1      Chief Integration Officer.  But the questions we're

2      talking about right now are pertaining to the -- this

3      is how the Detroit Health Department operated.  I feel

4      like you tried to key in because you had a certain

5      lens and you were trying to subjectively prove

6      something corrupt about me that you keyed in on this.

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  That's, that's an unfair

8      statement because --

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  I'm not sure.  We have the

10      report.

11                 MS. BENTLEY:  -- it's a draft report and

12      we're here for clarification.  So -- and we've already

13      admitted to things that were incorrect and we've

14      received evidence to show that.  So that's the -- so

15      that's what we're here for.

16                 DR. KHALDUN:  I believe words such as sham,

17      ruse, charade, are very subjective and they are not

18      factual.  And I believe --

19                 MS. BENTLEY:  So it's based off of -- those

20      conclusions are based off factual evidence.  So we are

21      very open, and the reason we're here is that if

22      provide additional factual evidence and help us

23      understand the process, we will remove words that you
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1      feel are subjective.  So please understand that's the

2      process.  And to come at us suggesting we have an

3      agenda, that's just simply not fair.

4                 MR. KONCIUS:  Well, I think it is given the

5      words in the paper.  So she can have her position and

6      you can have your position.  That's why we are here,

7      to try to figure this out.

8                 MS. HA:  We wouldn't be here --

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  Will we have an opportunity

10      to revise the report?

11                 MS. BENTLEY:  We would revise the report

12      based on the evidence presented today and then you'll

13      get a copy of it.  And one reason we attach the

14      administrative hearing transcripts, as well as any

15      statements you provide to us, is maybe at the end of

16      the day you still don't agree with what our findings

17      are but we present everything.  So people that read it

18      can really draw their own conclusions if that's, if

19      that's the case.

20                 DR. KHALDUN:  I do want to make sure -- let

21      me be clear.  I hear that you're saying you don't

22      understand.  I appreciate that.  I am explaining to

23      you what the process is or was for hiring through
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1      SEMHA and hiring through city.  Now whether or not

2      that's what the City of Detroit and SEMHA should be

3      doing, that is not my responsibility.  That is what

4      the facts are.  To your point, I'm sharing with you

5      process.  If you don't like it --

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  It's not about us liking it,

7      it's just about us understanding it.  So when's she's

8      asking questions about -- like me as a health

9      department employee, I can't just make up my own

10      title.  Somebody in health department has to approve

11      it and so we're just trying to understand who that

12      person would be.

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  But that's not --

14                 MS. BENTLEY:  And then separate SEMHA --

15                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- what we've testified to

16      here today.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  Then fine, then we'll get

18      clarification.  And then SEMHA, we understand SEMHA's

19      separate process so if they're going to have a

20      different functional title, is it somebody at the City

21      of Detroit that approves that or is it somebody at

22      SEMHA.  We're just merely trying to get that

23      understanding.
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1                 So if our questions are somehow flawed

2      because you think we don't understand it properly,

3      please clarify.  But we're asking questions based on

4      the best information that we currently have.

5                 DR. KHALDUN:  And what I am sharing with

6      you, again --

7                 MR. KONCIUS:  Hold on, let's -- there's no

8      questions.  There's no questions --

9                 DR. KHALDUN:  Okay.

10                 MR. KONCIUS: -- on the table right now.

11                 MS. MURRAY:  Well, the Inspector General

12      had a question and I was --

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  I was doing my --

14                 MS. MURRAY:  I know, I'm sorry.

15                 MR. KONCIUS:  That's fine.  I mean I

16      understand that this is a little loose but --

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yeah, and just because there

18      are certain clarifications that we know we need at the

19      time so -- and because it's in the moment and a

20      clarification can be made right then, you know, we'd

21      like to interject and ask the questions.  And, you

22      know, you're free to interject when we ask questions

23      as well.  It just helps to keep a clear record.  And,
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1      you know, she doesn't have to remember what she said

2      10 minutes ago and get a clarification on that.

3                 MS. MURRAY:  Let me attempt to rephrase the

4      question.  So what I'm understanding is that the city

5      titles are a bit generic and as such sometimes people

6      have the functional titles that better reflect what

7      their actual job responsibilities are.

8                 Public Health Division Administrator, as an

9      example, doesn't really tell you much about what that

10      person does.  But if you added something such as the

11      Chief Integration Officer or Health and Maternal, you

12      know, Director or --

13                 DR. KHALDUN:  SisterFriends Manager.

14                 MS. MURRAY:  It gives you more specific

15      details.  So I understand why the functional title's

16      there.

17                 I think what the Inspector General is

18      asking is who, who makes that determination as what

19      the functional title is; whose decision is that, is it

20      the employee, do they come up with their own

21      functional title, was it Tim Lawther, was it you, was

22      it their supervisor?  I think that's what she's trying

23      to ask.
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  And what I'm saying is

2      honestly it would have -- it depends.  It really

3      depends.  So, for example, I know for the

4      SisterFriends Manager, they're managing the

5      SisterFriends Program and so that's what it was.

6                 But I do know, again I'm being transparent

7      here.  I have nothing to hide.  I know for those, and

8      I'm repeating myself here, but for -- I believe for,

9      again, not remembering what the functional title was,

10      but for those individuals that ended up being in those

11      functional titles, David Bowser, Esperanza Cantu,

12      Lauren Fink, because they were lower level, if you

13      will, positions or -- I would not have necessarily,

14      which is probably why I don't remember either, said --

15      I mean they were just Community Epidemiology Manager.

16      I'm making that up but those -- for someone who's

17      three, four steps below me, for a functional title I

18      might not have been the one who would have determined

19      what that functional title would have been.

20                 MS. HA:  Okay.  So the functional title for

21      Valentina Djelaj before she was actually hired for the

22      CIO position through the city, that was approved by

23      you?
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  The vision of a Chief

2      Integration Officer initially I thought I could do it

3      through SEMHA and I was following the rules through

4      SEMHA, I did approve for the Chief Integration Officer

5      to be through SEMHA.

6                 MS. HA:  Okay.  I don't have anything

7      further.

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  Okay, I've got some more.

9      Exhibit 8, you know what, I don't have a copy of the

10      draft report but does everybody have one so if I refer

11      to it, it's going to be a part of it, we don't need it

12      as an exhibit here, is that fair or should we create

13      one?

14                 MS. HA:  So let me just remind you that if

15      we put that as an exhibit, that becomes part of the

16      final report.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  And public record.

18                 DR. KHALDUN:  We don't want that because

19      it's so bad.  I'm sorry, I take that off --

20                 MS. HA:  That's all right, you're entitled

21      to your opinion.

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  I take that off, I take that

23      off.
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1                 MR. KONCIUS:  It can go both ways on that.

2      But one of the things that was stated earlier today is

3      that these e-mails were quoted in the report.  And I

4      mean if we could just say that's not true and move on

5      from that, I won't have to go through the bullet

6      points that don't quote these e-mails.

7                 MS. HA:  So when you're saying bullet

8      points, are you talking about the bullet points on

9      page two --

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  Yes.

11                 MS. HA: -- and three?

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  Yes.

13                 MS. HA:  So I don't believe they are the

14      exact quote of the e-mails because, you know, we have

15      strict rules about quotating e-mails and quotating

16      anything.  It would actually have the quotes.

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  Right.

18                 MS. HA:  These are our summary of the

19      e-mails but --

20                 MR. KONCIUS:  It was represented earlier

21      that these were quoted in the document and so I just

22      -- if we can agree that that's not true, that these

23      are in fact summaries, that's fine.
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1                 MS. HA:  For the bullet points, yes.  But

2      if you look at page three after the first paragraph

3      after the bullet point it says in an e-mail on October

4      18, 2017 from Dr. Khaldun to Timothy Lawther, Dr.

5      Khaldun poses a question to Mr. Lawther.  Quote, Chief

6      Integration Officer dash can we go ahead and get it

7      finalized through SEMHA, end quote.  The e-mail is

8      entitled Valentina's position, end quote.  Those are

9      quoted.

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  Well, that is a part of the

11      e-mail quote and that happens to be one that wasn't

12      produced today, right?

13                 MS. HA:  Right.

14                 MR. KONCIUS:  So I mean that is a quote

15      from the e-mail.  That's not the complete e-mail or is

16      it, I don't know.  But I mean for sure the ones we've

17      been handed here today when we were talking about

18      whether or not we'd been able to take a look at them

19      or see them, it was referenced that they were quoted

20      in the report.  And I just want to make sure that -- I

21      mean I can walk through each of them and --

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  I mean they're partially

23      quoted, which I think we can agree to --



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 128

1                 MR. KONCIUS:  Well, they're summarized.

2                 MS. BENTLEY:  -- that there's additional --

3      well, and some of them are quoted I think in the body

4      of the report but, you know, just remember they're

5      also going to be attached to the final report.

6                 DR. KHALDUN:  E-mails that I have not seen

7      are going to be?

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  No, just whatever the exhibit

9      is.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  But what you're referencing

11      here --

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  Sure.

13                 DR. KHALDUN:  -- this a real question, even

14      what you're referencing in the bullets, those e-mails

15      unless they're submitted, those complete e-mails

16      unless they're submitted today, if anyone wanted to

17      look at this report, they would only see bullets in

18      your interpretation of conversations.  They would not

19      actually see the facts of the e-mails?

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  That's correct, with the

21      exception that once our investigation is closed,

22      everything is subject to FOIA.  So they are then

23      available to the public.
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1                 DR. KHALDUN:  But you will be putting out

2      your own version of what your, you know, what your

3      findings are and so -- I get that someone can do a

4      FOIA but I'm -- yeah.  So someone could easily just

5      take what they wanted out of here and make their

6      assumptions, if they perhaps did not want to go

7      through the whole FOIA process, they would only be

8      able to view what your interpretations of the

9      conversation was for these particular bulleted areas.

10                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes.

11                 MS. HA:  Yes.

12 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  So then Exhibit 9, if

13      you look at Exhibit 9.

14 A    Uh-huh.

15 Q    Was this e-mail only sent to Valentina Djelaj?

16                 MS. HA:  Exhibit 9?

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  Yes.

18 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  Exhibit 9, am I wrong?

19      This is from Dr. Khaldun --

20 A    Oh, here it is.

21 Q    -- to Timothy Lawther.

22 A    If that is what -- I mean that's what they're

23      presenting to me today I'm assuming.
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1 Q    Read it, who's it sent to?

2 A    It says Timothy Lawther and Valentina Djelaj.

3 Q    So it's not just sent to Valentina Djelaj, correct?

4 A    Correct.

5 Q    Is there any language in here that says push through?

6 A    Let me look at this.

7 Q    Those words.

8 A    Right here.

9 Q    Does that say push through?

10 A    No, it does not say push through.

11 Q    Does this e-mail say her new position could not be

12      pushed through SEMHA but there's a plan in place?

13 A    Where does this --

14 Q    Is that a quote in the e-mail you're looking at?

15 A    No.  I mean I'll just -- I can just read the e-mail.

16                 MS. BENTLEY:  What page of the report are

17      you referring to?

18                 MR. KONCIUS:  Three bullet point.  I mean

19      if we can agree --

20                 MS. HA:  There's a bullet point for October

21      23rd, 2017.

22                 MR. KONCIUS:  Correct.  And that is not a

23      quote of the e-mail, correct?
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1                 MS. HA:  No.

2                 DR. KHALDUN:  No.

3                 MS. HA:  Which is why --

4                 MS. MURRAY:  Can I clarify.  At the bottom

5      of page three it is quoted, the same e-mail with the

6      quotation marks.  So I understand what you're saying

7      now.  Yes, some of the bullet points are summarized,

8      but some of them are also quoted later on in the

9      report.

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  And it's not a full -- hold

11      on a second.  And it's not a full representation of

12      the e-mail.  It says in here that it was only sent to

13      Ms. Djelaj.  It doesn't say that it was sent to

14      Mr. Lawther.  The quote of it just has Val, comma.  It

15      doesn't have the part that was to both Tim and Val.

16      And that's what I -- these were presented today, and

17      you said the purpose of this is to identify issues

18      with regard to the report so that it's a clear factual

19      record.  I'm not trying to like belabor the point and

20      that's why I asked earlier if we could agree that

21      these are aren't fully quoted in the report.

22                 MS. MURRAY:  So I think that what I can

23      agree to is that the word I maybe probably should have
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1      used is referenced.  The report references these

2      e-mails.  And whether it's a direct quote or a

3      summary, they are referenced in the report.  So you

4      had -- you were aware, at least partially, what the

5      e-mails said.

6                 MR. KONCIUS:  We are aware about --

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  In the body of the report --

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- you believe the e-mails to

9      read I think, but that's, that's my understanding.

10                 MS. BENTLEY:  So but it does also state in

11      the report that it was sent to Ms. Djelaj with a copy

12      to Mr. Lawther and then it's quoted and it says push

13      it forward.  So it is fully represented in the report,

14      that part that you were concerned about.

15                 MR. KONCIUS:  Well, I mean that part is

16      fully represented there but the whole e-mail is not.

17      We can agree on that, right?

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  Well, it is now because it

19      will be attached to the final report.

20                 MR. KONCIUS:  But it's not a part of the

21      report.

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  It will be a part of the

23      final record.  It will be attached to the final
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1      report.

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  Right, but not the draft

3      report, right?  I just -- I'm not --

4                 MS. BENTLEY:  It's not a -- the draft

5      report is just a draft.  It doesn't go anywhere.

6                 MR. KONCIUS:  I know but this is what we

7      here to talk about today.

8                 MS. MURRAY:  Any changes that need to be

9      made, I understand what you're saying.  So I will -- I

10      can write that down as something that needs to be at

11      least more clear in our final report so there's not as

12      much confusion.

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  I think -- okay, well, I mean

14      I think there's a lot that needs to be a little more

15      clear in the final report but that's what we're here

16      to do.  And so that's why I didn't want to belabor the

17      point to go through them but...

18 Q    (Continuing by MR. KONCIUS):  If you look at Exhibit

19      10, that is the October 24th, 25th e-mail chain.  Do

20      you see Exhibit 10?

21 A    Okay.

22 Q    There's an e-mail at the bottom from you to Tim it

23      appears on 10-24; is that correct?
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1 A    Yes.

2 Q    In which it refers to working through the city

3      process.  Do you see that?

4 A    Yes.

5 Q    What was the city process you were working through?

6 A    Getting the requisitions approved by Human Resources.

7      Getting the position descriptions approved by Human

8      Resources.  The entire hiring process through city.

9 Q    And that was for the city position of Chief

10      Integrative -- Integration Officer, excuse me?

11 A    Yes.  We were working on specific positions being

12      transitioned into the City of Detroit.

13 Q    And did you in this e-mail anywhere promise that role

14      to Valentina?

15 A    I never promised any role to Valentina.

16 Q    Not in this e-mail, correct?

17 A    Not in this e-mail.

18 Q    Not outside?

19 A    Not ever.

20 Q    If you look at Exhibit 11, it is an e-mail that has a

21      body of FYI and a series of dots?

22 A    Uh-huh.

23 Q    That's from February 9th, 2018, do you see that
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1      e-mail?

2 A    Yes.

3 Q    Did you promise the job to Ms. Djelaj in this e-mail?

4 A    No, I did not.

5 Q    Did you promise it to her at any time outside of this

6      e-mail?

7 A    No, I did not.

8 Q    This is a -- do you know the attachments thereto; I

9      see one that says Public Health Division

10      Administrator, Chief Integration officer.html but it

11      doesn't have any attachments to this.  Do you know

12      what that is in fact an attachment?

13 A    I don't know.  It looks like there was, there was

14      several, Chronic Disease and Injury Prevention,

15      Marketing and Engagement.  There was several

16      positions.  I did not indicate anywhere -- anything

17      really except FYI and several positions.

18 Q    And these are -- do you think these were job

19      descriptions, job postings?

20 A    They likely -- based on what the subject of the e-mail

21      was it was probably the job descriptions.

22 Q    And if you turn to the back, it looks like an e-mail

23      from, is that Mayor Duggan?
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1 A    It looks like actually it was from the Detroit jobs --

2      again I haven't been there in a while, but the Detroit

3      jobs.  The e-mail blast I guess that would have went

4      out to the city.

5                 Let me also, again I have nothing to hide.

6      Current SEMHA employees would not have gotten an

7      e-mail blast from the City of Detroit.

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  So they have like a SEMHA

9      e-mail address?

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  No, they have Detroit --

11      again you really should investigate all these things,

12      but they would have a Detroit e-mail.  SEMHA

13      employees, if they were working on behalf of, this is

14      health department, they would have a Detroit e-mail

15      address.  My understanding is, again that's my

16      understanding, is that they would not have necessarily

17      gotten e-mail blasts.

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  It goes to all DetroitMI.gov

19      e-mails.

20                 DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, does it, then I'm wrong.

21                 MS. BENTLEY:  That's just why I was asking

22      for that clarification.

23                 MS. HA:  We wouldn't get it because we're
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1      on a different server.

2                 DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, I see.

3                 MS. INGERSOLL:  May I clarify that

4      actually?

5                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes, go ahead.

6                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I requested to be involved

7      in certain communications, so you would have had to

8      request to be involved and -- to receive those type of

9      e-mails.

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  And that's probably why --

11      hang on.

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  Are you able --

13                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I apologize.  Jean

14      Ingersoll, for the record.

15                 DR. KHALDUN:  Can I speak to that?

16      Actually what you just witnessed is me knowing there

17      are several people who would actually complain in the

18      health department when jobs were posted that they

19      didn't know they were posted.  And that's probably why

20      I thought that you didn't -- you weren't on the list

21      and that's an honest -- yeah.

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  Okay.

23                 DR. KHALDUN:  I believe that that speaks to
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1      what Jean was saying.  It was not uniform in people

2      getting these opportunities e-mailed to them.

3                 MS. BENTLEY:  If you have anything to add,

4      feel free.

5                 MS. INGERSOLL:  No.

6                 DR. KHALDUN:  Jean, jump in.

7                 MR. KONCIUS:  No, get in now because -- and

8      this is flowing, let's do this.

9                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Okay.  I'll just talk a

10      little bit about what's fresh on our minds.

11                 MS. HA:  You mean what's fresh on your

12      mind.

13                 MS. INGERSOLL:  What we just most recently

14      spoke about, --

15                 MS. HA:  Okay.

16                 MS. INGERSOLL:  -- SEMHA versus city

17      hiring.

18                 In your additional investigation I hope

19      that you'll find that if you talk to the city HR

20      department, at least 10 to 12 positions were just

21      recently transferred from SEMHA to city.  So there's a

22      very clear and defined process now of how that works.

23                 So if you, for instance, interviewed
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1      Angelic Rodriguez Edge, the Operations Director, Daryl

2      Conrad, there's several other individuals, but there's

3      a process in which we were required to transfer SEMHA

4      employees to city employees.  There's actually a rule

5      called Rule 4, I'm not sure if you heard of Rule 4,

6      you can actually do that without any request.

7                 And so what I know --

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  Without any request to HR?

9                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Correct.  We worked with HR

10      but there is a rule, Rule 4, where you can transfer

11      employees from one entity to another.  And just a few

12      things about that, those were HIV positions.  You can

13      look more into those but that just recently happened.

14                 Individuals were required to apply, though.

15      We actually required several to apply.  Several did

16      not opt to.  They left the health department, others

17      did apply.  Some of the salaries were equitable, some

18      were not but that was the process which we worked with

19      HR on.

20                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did any of the individuals

21      from SEMHA transitioning to the City of Detroit in a

22      competitive process not receive a position with City

23      of Detroit?
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1                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I am unaware.  I don't know

2      that for certain.

3                 DR. KHALDUN:  Do you happen to know the

4      functional titles between the SEMHA and the City of

5      Detroit?

6                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I do not know, but what I

7      do know is that it was customary.  In fact, I -- very

8      rarely did I receive a draft position description from

9      HR.  It was either we created them ourselves, or it

10      could have been that a position may be 10, 20 years

11      old, recollecting that the department is in its

12      infancy, many of these we would have had to recreate

13      on our own, right.

14                 And so what I recall is that the very top

15      of the document would have the functional

16      classification or functional title, but also the

17      actual classification.  So, for instance, in the white

18      book it's called a Dog Catcher.  We don't call it a

19      Dog Catcher.  The functional title is an Animal

20      Control Officer.  So very similar to firemen wouldn't

21      be appropriate anymore, it's a fire-fighter, right.

22                 So the white book would obviously, to your

23      point, Inspector Ha, would look much different than an
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1      actual functional classification.  Never once did I

2      receive a procedure, a policy, a rule, a requirement

3      on that being approved, on how to approve it or

4      disapprove it.  Essentially we could choose.  And I've

5      never seen it come back to say we couldn't do

6      something.  It's the same with SEMHA with one

7      exception.

8                 MS. HA:  Before we go any further can we

9      just establish some foundation so --

10                 DR. KHALDUN:  Oh, yes.

11                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Oh, sure I apologize.

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  Feel free.  Why don't you go

13      ahead.  I was just following your lead.

14                         EXAMINATION

15 BY MS. HA:

16 Q    So, Ms. Ingersoll, have you worked with the City of

17      Detroit Health Department?

18 A    I have.

19 Q    How long?

20 A    About a year and a half.

21 Q    And in what capacity?

22 A    In July 2018 I was hired as Director of Policy and

23      then transitioned approximately April of 2019 as a
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1      Interim Health Officer and completed my service in

2      October of 2019.

3 Q    Okay.  And what did you do as -- what was your second

4      title?

5 A    Interim Health Officer.

6 Q    Interim Health Officer?

7 A    Yes.

8 Q    Can you describe for us, just briefly, in terms of

9      what you did?

10 A    Essentially it was overseeing the operations of the

11      health department.  I was not the Medical Director.

12      After Dr. Khaldun's departure we contracted with Wayne

13      County and hired Dr. Sharangpani, Ruta Sharangpani, as

14      the Medical Director.

15 Q    Okay.  And as part of your new position as the, was it

16      Operation Officer?

17 A    Initially Director of Policy and then Interim Health

18      Officer.

19 Q    As an Interim Health Officer, did you come to

20      understand and follow the SEMHA procedure, as well as

21      the City of Detroit Health Department and HR process?

22 A    So to provide a little more context, probably halfway

23      into my tenure as the Director of Policy, as part of
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1      the Senior Leadership Team we all work together to

2      hire other individuals who are a part of that

3      leadership team.  I was never given any sort of

4      policy, procedure, toolkit, hiring guidelines for

5      either city HR or SEMHA.

6                 DR. KHALDUN:  Can I?

7                 MS. HA:  Go ahead, Dr. Khaldun.

8                 DR. KHALDUN:  Did you ask specifically to

9      receive such information and policies?

10                 MS. INGERSOLL:  So I did and I would sit in

11      -- we have biweekly meetings with HR, city HR.

12                 MS. HA:  Okay.

13                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Of which very rarely did

14      everyone attend from HR.  And I became very frustrated

15      that it was unclear how we were operating.  It seemed

16      very fluid to me personally.  Some of the HR managers

17      would attend, some payroll, recruitment and Ms.

18      Tarrance, and I forget her functional role.

19                 But often we wouldn't have all the

20      information we needed to make decisions.  Action items

21      weren't complete because there may have been an

22      individual missing.  It became very frustrating

23      because there wasn't a document or a toolkit.
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1                 In fact the city began using a system

2      called NeoGov.  I don't know if you're aware or

3      familiar with NeoGov but it was -- I had used it at my

4      former employment at the State of Michigan, so I was

5      relatively familiar.  But you can kind of customize it

6      to whatever your process is.

7                 So Ms. Tarrance attempted to train me on it

8      but there was no job aid.  There was no help.  We

9      literally sat and just clicked every single dropdown

10      until she identified an option that she thought was

11      correct.  Norton, there were no asterisks -- you know,

12      when you shop online or whatever, you see an asterisk

13      that required fields, there was none of that.   So

14      almost all of it was guessing.

15                 But there was a process with which

16      individuals behind the system would approve

17      requisitions.  So you would essentially have in your

18      budget or allocation certain positions and then you

19      would submit a requisition, HR would review it.  And

20      essentially budget would then review it and you would

21      get an e-mail back saying your requisition has been

22      approved.  And from there -- hopefully this is

23      providing a little bit of information.  And at that
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1      point you would draft a position description.

2      Typically once again because we were newer as a health

3      department we had very few actual electronic copies of

4      those.

5                 Another really unique thing about the

6      health department you'll find is that we are state

7      accredited.  Accreditation means something different.

8      I'm unaware of any other city departments, they may

9      have certifications but not accreditations.  An

10      accreditation requires categories.  So there may be

11      like a field, a field team member would have one sort

12      of category --

13                              (WHEREUPON a short pause was

14                              had in the proceedings.)

15                 MS. INGERSOLL:  So it's my understanding

16      there were different competencies.  So a field level

17      individual would be kind of the initial competency.

18      Then there'd be a mid level manager that would have

19      other competencies.  And then a senior leader or maybe

20      an executive it would be titled would have different

21      types of competencies.  And very often we found that

22      HR left that information out and we would have to go

23      and correct that.  So it was a very fluid process.
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1                 We really were the subject matter experts.

2      And we would inform -- which should be listed in those

3      position descriptions.  And I apologize, I can't

4      remember if I said this already, but never once did I

5      have HR come back or even SEMHA come back and tell me

6      that we didn't do that with one exception.

7                 I recall having a new executive secretary,

8      so it's my understanding many of the secretaries that

9      were in the Senior Leadership area were SEMHA

10      employees.  And we hired a new secretary that

11      supported myself, and I believe Ebony Robinson was

12      Associate Director, and SEMHA asked us, asked the City

13      of Detroit Health Department, to re-classify the

14      secretary to make her inline with the other

15      secretaries.  And I actually disagreed with that.

16      This individual was not supporting the same type of

17      level.  So in my mind the secretary supporting Dr.

18      Khaldun would be classified at a higher level and

19      would make more money than maybe the next, maybe the

20      Chief Deputy and then maybe myself.  And so we had

21      several conversations back and forth.

22                 And I'm sure once you do your inspection --

23      excuse me, your investigation, you'll find that that



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 147

1      was one instance where I actually disagreed, and

2      didn't necessarily believe that that individual

3      supporting different levels of senior leaders should

4      all make the same amount of money.  So that was the

5      only exception that I was aware of.

6                 I think those would be clarifying

7      statements that I would make, unless you have -- do

8      you have questions?

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  Well, were there other -- I'm

10      comfortable if you have other statements you'd like to

11      make because I know you were taking notes, and I think

12      we didn't -- I didn't invite you to jump in earlier

13      because I didn't know that would be okay in the

14      process, but --

15                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yeah, is that okay?

16                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- I'm comfortable if you've

17      got something to share.

18                 MS. HA:  Yes, please.

19                 MR. KONCIUS:  This seems pretty loose.

20                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I think it also may be

21      helpful to talk about a little bit more about actual

22      positions at the health department.  So we touched a

23      little bit on Health Information Officer.  HIO is a
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1      position as we got farther along as a health

2      department realized that we needed a Health

3      Information Officer.  And that was something that we

4      worked with HR on, although, you know, once again not

5      the subject matter expert, but we did work with IT to

6      draft that position description.

7                 So often we would work with other

8      departments.  Especially with the Health Information

9      Officer, that was something I was involved in.  And

10      there were times where we would draft the interview

11      questions as well.  So once again if it was unique,

12      maybe the Chief Epidemiologist that we talked about or

13      the Health Information Officer, we would draft

14      interview questions and we would send those to HR for

15      approval.

16                 But at other times we would show up to an

17      interview with questions that we had never seen that

18      didn't necessarily align with the actual job with

19      which we were interviewing for.  And in fact at times

20      the names on those interview questions would be wrong.

21                 But to speak to the actual interview

22      process itself, I have actually never been involved in

23      an interview where we didn't all confer or come to a
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1      consensus at the end of those interviews.  And I also

2      did not add up the numbers so I would never have been

3      aware of who received what number.  All of those score

4      sheets would have been given to the HR representative.

5      That individual would have taken them back, added them

6      up.  And I think maybe one time we actually received

7      scores in an e-mail.  But I don't recall that being

8      customary practice to send us interview responses as

9      it relates to scores or an average.  And in fact at

10      times I didn't know who the highest rated candidate

11      was.

12 Q    (Continuing by MS. HA):  So who got hired then, was it

13      -- how do you know that that --

14 A    Typically HR would come back and just give us the

15      candidate name and it would be --

16 Q    The chosen one?

17 A    Yes.  HR would say Bob Smith scored the highest, what

18      would you like to offer this person.

19 Q    I see.

20 A    And it may not even be that clear.  It may have just

21      said what would you like to offer Bob Smith.

22 Q    Okay.

23 A    So it was -- you know, we had very little guidance I
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1      would say.  And SEMHA was similar, although they may

2      have had policies and procedures but we never, we

3      never saw them, we never went through them.  They

4      would typically just e-mail us and ask us questions.

5      And it was just a very kind of fluid process.

6                 MR. KONCIUS:  Can I ask you --

7                 MS. MURRAY:  Can --

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  Oh, go ahead, please, please.

9                 MS. MURRAY:  When the position's open with

10      SEMHA, is it SEMHA's HR that interviews the candidate

11      or is it still the health department that interviews?

12                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I have actually never

13      interviewed a SEMHA employee myself.

14                 DR. KHALDUN:  I can speak to that.  And

15      again, the evidence I submitted, that's why I

16      submitted it.  That's that e-mail, I think it's -- is

17      it Number 1?

18                 MR. KONCIUS:  Exhibit 1 was an e-mail,

19      here.

20                 DR. KHALDUN:  So to be clear.  What the

21      e-mail says, we can directly appoint whomever I

22      choose.  Doctor K, that's me they're referring to, the

23      position is through SEMHA, not the city; therefore,
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1      the selection is totally up to you.

2                 It even says here in the beginning, an

3      e-mail from Kara Watson, does the entire -- SL means

4      Senior Leadership.  But does the entire SL Team need

5      to be involved or can Dr. K just handle them.  And

6      again you can see from the e-mails for SEMHA, my

7      understanding was it was -- from before I even had

8      moved here quite frankly in 2016 when I was

9      transitioning to just being Medical Director, it was

10      very clear to me from day one that through SEMHA you

11      can change titles, you can select people and you can

12      interview however you want and SEMHA did not have to

13      be involved.  And I never saw a SEMHA -- the SEMHA

14      like administrative leadership involved in any type of

15      selecting candidates, the interview, nothing.

16                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay.

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did Human Resources ever send

18      you a person or a name in -- at the back end of an

19      interview process that wasn't the same as the person

20      you collaborated to identify as the right choice?

21                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Not that I recall.

22                 MR. KONCIUS:  Was Alexis Adams employed

23      while you were operating as the --
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1                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yes.

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  I'm sorry, what was your

3      position again?  I'm blanking.

4                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Director of Policy and then

5      Interim Health Officer.

6                 MR. KONCIUS:  And Alexis Adams was employed

7      during that time?

8                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yes.

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  Do you know if she's still

10      employed?

11                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Maybe as of one month ago

12      possibly but I don't know at this point.

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  You can continue.  I'm sorry,

14      I was just jumping in.

15                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Can I -- just one more

16      thing, so kind of back to the hiring process in

17      general.  We talked about postings.  We talked about

18      interviewing, but we didn't really talk about that

19      middle process where a selection may occur of

20      individuals to interview.

21                 So to my knowledge screening at least on

22      the city level doesn't happen in HR.  I can recall

23      many times receiving a stack of potential candidates,
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1      you know, of which could have experience from

2      encyclopedia salesperson to nuclear physicist.

3      Clearly like sensationalizing but you kind of get the

4      drift.

5                 So we would essentially be required to look

6      through every single application, which potentially

7      could be hundreds, a very laborious process.  And it

8      kind of made me think, well, why do we even, you know,

9      why we didn't have these competencies criteria,

10      screening questions when they're not necessarily used

11      at least on the HR side.

12                 So what we would do is, as senior leaders

13      we would look through them and then we would also then

14      give them to other individuals to look through so we

15      could at least, you know, come to an agreement that,

16      yes, this individual we feel fits the experience,

17      qualifications and skills.  So not one person was

18      essentially making that selection.

19                 MS. HA:  You mean selecting the person --

20                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Selecting the interviewees,

21      yes, I apologize.  So that's something we didn't

22      cover.

23                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay, wait, can I clarify that
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1      a little bit?  So what you're saying is when the job

2      is posted, HR would then just forward you the

3      applications.  They -- these would all be people who

4      meet the minimum qualifications?

5                 MS. INGERSOLL:  No.

6                 MS. MURRAY:  Not necessarily?

7                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Not necessarily, no.

8                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay.  So they just forwarded

9      you all the applications --

10                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Every single one.

11                 MS. MURRAY: -- and then you went through

12      and made a --

13                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yes, yes.

14                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay.

15                 MS. INGERSOLL:  And in fact there were

16      times that they would hand deliver the paper copies so

17      we could not -- in essence those were the records.  We

18      didn't have additional records of individuals so we

19      had to be very, very cautious of keeping all of them

20      together.

21                 That's all I have.

22 Q    (Continuing by MS. HA):  Who did you deal with at HR

23      during your tenure as the Interim Health Officer?
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1 A    It depends upon the subject matter.  So I would

2      typically deal with Tamara Tarrance, when she would

3      respond to my e-mails.  There was numerous times where

4      she would remove me from e-mails because I was not the

5      Director of Operations and she didn't feel that I

6      needed to be involved in the hiring process.  So that

7      became very frustrating because you were doing double

8      work and not really understanding whether or not your

9      request was forwarded onto the appropriate people.

10                 I also met with Denise Starr and discussed

11      with her some challenges that we were having.  Daryl

12      Conrad at times, Kamia Crossin (ph) at times, Bernard

13      Morgan, several individuals, but those are the ones

14      that come to mind.

15                 MS. HA:  Okay.

16                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did you ever hear -- were you

17      involved in the hiring process of Ms. Djelaj?

18                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I was not.

19                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did you ever hear Dr. Khaldun

20      talk about Ms. Djelaj and the role of CIO?

21                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Not much.  I came into my

22      role in July of 2018 so that was many months after

23      that.  You know, I understood the importance of that
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1      role but as it specifically relates to the hiring, I

2      was not involved in that.

3                 MR. KONCIUS:  That had happened prior to

4      you arriving?

5                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yes, yes.

6                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did you ever hear Dr. Khaldun

7      encourage individuals to apply for jobs?

8                 MS. INGERSOLL:   Absolutely.  We all did.

9      It was customary not only for other health departments

10      but even SEMHA to share postings.  You know, really

11      open and competitive recruiting is what we wanted.  We

12      wanted to become a world-class health department and

13      that's, you know, what we were aiming for.

14                 MR. KONCIUS:  Did you ever hear her

15      discourage anybody from applying for jobs?

16                 MS. INGERSOLL:  I have never heard her say

17      that, do that.

18                 MR. KONCIUS:  Have you ever heard her say

19      -- tell anybody else to discourage someone from

20      applying for a job.

21                 MS. INGERSOLL:  No.

22                 DR. KHALDUN:  Were there ever a time when

23      you believe you got verbally or written information
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1      from a Human Resources representative that turned out

2      to later on be inaccurate or need to change?

3                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yes.  Specific to salary

4      increases I had heard two different things; one was

5      there was a certain percentage where we had to request

6      that in writing with a memorandum.  But then when I

7      spoke to my direct supervisor at the time, Hakim

8      Berry, he then confirmed that we had been given an

9      incorrect percentage to draft a memorandum, although I

10      did draft a memorandum anyway.

11                 You know, I think -- I have heard

12      specifically a gentleman named David Bowser tell me

13      that the reason why I may not be getting responses in

14      e-mails is because there were certain things they

15      didn't want to put in writing.  So that's why it

16      became very frustrating for me when individuals didn't

17      show up to meetings in person, I couldn't get

18      clarification because individuals did not respond to

19      me via e-mail.

20                 In fact I had many text messages with

21      Mr. Morgan and other individuals where -- and e-mails

22      and voice mails, and in your investigation I'm sure

23      you'll find that, that I would ask a question and then
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1      I would call Bernard when I didn't -- Mr. Morgan when

2      I didn't receive a response.  And he said it was

3      customary to not only include him in an e-mail but

4      also wait 48 hours for a response.  And so that was

5      our kind of standard protocol.  And even at times I

6      would text him and say, you know, I apologize, I

7      haven't received a response.

8                 And so that's what became very difficult to

9      even understand what is -- not only what's the policy

10      or protocol but, you know, waiting for that became

11      very frustrating.  And other examples --

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  I just have one

13      clarification.

14                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Yeah.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  So you said they don't want

16      to put it in writing.  Are you referring to a

17      department or specific people?  If you could just

18      clarify that.

19                 MS. INGERSOLL:  As it relates to my

20      conversation with Mr. Bowser, it was in relation to

21      Tamara Tarrance.  If you did query him, he could

22      possibly give you those examples.

23                 Other specific examples I don't have at



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 159

1      this moment, but those are just two that I can give

2      you.

3                 MR. KONCIUS:  Do you have anymore

4      questions?

5                 MS. BENTLEY:  I do not.

6                 MS. HA:  I do not.

7                 MS. INGERSOLL:  Okay.

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  I don't either.  Thank you.

9                 MS. INGERSOLL:  You're welcome.

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  I do have a couple of closing

11      pieces, if that's fine, just to --

12                 MS. HA:  Of course.

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  -- identify -- all right,

14      thank you.  I appreciate it.

15                 MS. HA:  You have additional documents?

16                 MR. KONCIUS:  No, no additional documents.

17      Just sort of like a basic recap because I think we

18      talked about identifying some of the concerns in the

19      report so that they could be reviewed and addressed.

20                 And, you know, the language used regarding

21      a sham job posting and interview process I think is

22      inflammatory and not supported by what we've heard

23      here as the facts in evidence and we'd ask that that
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1      be changed.  It doesn't appear from what we've talked

2      about today that there's any support for that position

3      when it's been looked into because we identified that

4      Ms. Djelaj and Dr. Khaldun were not personal friends.

5                 The facts section of the report, and maybe

6      it's just mistitled, under section two it's identified

7      as basic facts and the basic facts are only the

8      anonymous allegations.  I don't think those are

9      actually facts and should not be addressed as such, so

10      we'd ask that that be changed.

11                 I think later in the report it was

12      identified too that the salary had not been doubled,

13      and that is something that shows in the facts section.

14      I believe --

15                 MS. HA:  Yeah, I think you're right.  We

16      will rename that section.

17                 MR. KONCIUS:  I appreciate it.  And it's

18      true of the other bullets that are there, because I

19      believe these bullets to be the allegations contained

20      in the letter --

21                 MS. HA:  Yes.

22                 MR. KONCIUS: -- versus sort of facts that I

23      think would have been identified through the process.
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1      So I'd appreciate that, thank you.

2                 I think we identified today that the

3      position had not, for the City of Detroit, been

4      created for Ms. Djelaj.  It was originally to be

5      created in the SEMHA organization.  The City of

6      Detroit process was different, separate and required a

7      process that was -- and was desired to be followed and

8      was followed.  There's a quotation in here that

9      says --

10                 MS. BENTLEY:  Can you identify the page,

11      please.

12                 MR. KONCIUS:  I will.  Let me -- page two

13      in one of the bullets for the fact section but it's a

14      -- so if it's a quote up there, I believe maybe that

15      is a quote from the allegations.  And if that's the

16      case, if it's identified as such rather than a fact,

17      that would be I think appropriate there.  But I

18      believe it was quoted elsewhere.

19                 The quote I'm referring to is that internal

20      candidates who applied for the position were told,

21      quote, they should have known the position was created

22      for Valentina, end quote.  And I don't see that --

23                 MS. HA:  What page is that?
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1                 MS. MURRAY:  This is page --

2                 MR. KONCIUS:  That's page two.  And then --

3                 MS. BENTLEY:  Second bullet from the

4      bottom.

5                 MR. KONCIUS:  Second, yeah.  And then it is

6      -- let me see where else it was referred to in the

7      document.

8                 MS. HA:  So I think for that if we just

9      change the caption for section two, that probably

10      would resolve --

11                 MR. KONCIUS:  For that, for that individual

12      citation.  I'm --

13                 MS. HA:  Because that is under section two,

14      right?

15                 MR. KONCIUS:  That, that one is.  I believe

16      it was cited elsewhere and I'm trying to find that for

17      you.

18                 MS. HA:  All right.

19                 MS. BENTLEY:  We'll make note of your

20      objection to that.  And when we go back through all

21      the evidence and decide what we need to correct,

22      we'll --

23                 MR. KONCIUS:  I appreciate it.
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1                 MS. BENTLEY:  -- take that under

2      consideration.

3                 MR. KONCIUS:  Thank you.  Because I don't

4      see it as identified to somebody who was interviewed.

5      I don't see it as something that was stated by someone

6      else.  And so that we would ask to have changed.  I

7      appreciate that.

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  Uh-huh.

9                 MR. KONCIUS:  You'd already identified that

10      the information regarding the scoring was incorrect

11      and will be changed and we appreciate that, thank you.

12      And that it was indeed possible to know just days

13      after what the scoring was, we appreciate that.  And

14      that it was not in fact an appointed position but it

15      was one that had to go through the process.  And you

16      identified that as now being understood as incorrect

17      and to be changed and we appreciate that, thank you.

18                 One concern that exists in here is page

19      four, and it's in that first full paragraph that

20      identifies two of the concerns that have since been

21      identified as false.  There's language in here that

22      says this further supports the OIG's position that the

23      interviews were nothing more than a ruse to place Ms.
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1      Djelaj in the position Dr. Khaldun wanted her to have

2      all along.  Given that the facts surrounding this have

3      been identified as false, we'd like that to be removed

4      and changed.  I don't think it's appropriate to have a

5      position in an investigatory document and so if it's

6      OIG's position, I'd respectfully request that it can

7      be and should be changed.

8                 MS. MURRAY:  Which paragraph was that in,

9      I'm sorry?

10                 MR. KONCIUS:  The first full one that

11      starts we, therefore, conclude.

12                 MS. MURRAY:  Oh, I see, thank you.

13                 MR. KONCIUS:  Also the final sentence

14      referring to the interview process as a sham to create

15      an illusion of fairness should be removed, and any

16      citation to the word sham because the basis upon which

17      it was in here appears to be relied upon have both

18      been proven false.

19                 On page five, the first full paragraph that

20      starts with the actions taken by Dr. Khaldun are

21      troubling, do you see that?

22                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes.

23                 MR. KONCIUS:  All right.  It doesn't then



11/13/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 165

1      go onto refer to the specific actions, instead it goes

2      onto identify bold statements regarding, and what it

3      says is this evidence shows that Dr. Khaldun

4      manipulated the system to created an illusion of

5      fairness in the health department's hiring of the CIO

6      when there was none.  And it goes onto conclude that

7      this is abuse of authority.

8                 I think the basis for which those had been

9      taken, if I'm reading this report correctly, have been

10      identified as in fact false when we started this

11      through new information you received with regard to

12      the interview process and the scoring.  So I think

13      that should be removed and changed.

14                 In fact what we've seen today was that this

15      system, the process was required to make a City of

16      Detroit position versus a SEMHA position.  The way it

17      was identified and done was changed after that was

18      informed, and we'd like that to be identified in the

19      record.

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  I'm sorry, can you repeat

21      that?

22                 MR. KONCIUS:  Can you read that back.

23                              (WHEREUPON the reporter read
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1                              back as follows):

2            "In fact what we've seen today was that this

3            system, the process was required to make a City

4            of Detroit position versus a SEMHA position.

5            The way it was identified and done was changed

6            after that was informed, and we'd like that to

7            be identified in the record."

8                 MR. KONCIUS:  And the next paragraph on

9      this page five is referring to time and resources

10      being needlessly spent in coordination of the efforts

11      between health department and HR in creating the CIO

12      position.  And then it says in addition, planning and

13      carrying out the interview process was mostly, if not

14      entirely, unnecessary.

15                 And because of the statements you

16      identified as now understanding is false that you were

17      provided by Human Resources before, this should be

18      removed and changed.  And it should no longer be

19      identified as a clear waste of city resources because

20      the process was followed that was required to be

21      followed.  And it was not an appointed position as is

22      stated at the end of this paragraph.  If it was,

23      there'd have been no reason to have gone through the
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1      process.  You saw the e-mails with Mr. Lawther showing

2      Dr. Khaldun's seeking to do the right thing throughout

3      the process, and the promotions for Ms. Djelaj and

4      others.

5                 The next paragraph, again in this page five

6      under misuse of public funds, I think will again be

7      identified as being false if you identify the doubling

8      of the salaries erroneous.  And to the extent that

9      this might not need to be in any final report this can

10      be removed with regard to, you know, the allegations

11      themselves as being something improper.

12                 There is a notation further down that is

13      the increase that occurred in October 2017 was

14      intended to be for the promotion to CIO, and it refers

15      to the October 24th, 2017 e-mail.  And I don't believe

16      that the evidence shows that those are connected.

17      Instead, the raises that were discussed and identified

18      were for the work that was being done in the

19      department at the time and not for the City of Detroit

20      position, as we saw with Dr. Khaldun asking to do

21      right by the process.

22                 The insinuation that Dr. Khaldun undertook

23      a process to create the city of -- or the Chief
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1      Information Officer position, and this is the

2      paragraph right before misuse of public funds

3      identified as evidence of being a clear waste of city

4      resources, should be removed.  In fact it was a

5      process that was in her power to start for a SEMHA

6      employee, and it was a process that was dictated to be

7      changed to the City of Detroit thereafter.  And so I

8      don't know how that could possibly be used to identify

9      some sort of wrongdoing.

10                 So I guess in the end what we're doing is

11      asking that this report be reviewed sort of in its

12      entirety, and where appropriate maybe even have a new

13      draft report completed, if that is within the power,

14      or entirely ignored as you create a final report,

15      because I do not believe that this provides factual

16      information that will lead you to a correct outcome.

17                 I think you've received that here today.

18      Identifying that this draft report was based on an

19      investigation that did not include an interview with

20      any of the parties who were most intimately involved

21      in this issue, specifically Dr. Khaldun, Timothy

22      Lawther.

23                 And I think to have not been able to review
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1      the documents that are identified or referred to prior

2      to having to respond to something along these lines is

3      either a failure in policy or a failure in the

4      implementation of the policy.  So maybe that can be

5      looked at and changed in the future.  That's just an

6      aside.

7                 Do you have anything?

8                 DR. KHALDUN:  Thank you for the

9      opportunity.  It was truly an honor to serve the City

10      of Detroit, and I wish I had been supported in a

11      better way by my Human Resources Department.  But it

12      was truly an honor and I hope that future health

13      department directors will be appropriately supported

14      so that the City of Detroit can get the services that

15      they deserve.

16                 MR. KONCIUS:  Thank you for your time.

17                 MS. HA:  Thank you.

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  Thank you.

19                              (WHEREUPON the hearing was

20                              concluded at approximately

21                              1:49 p.m.)

22

23
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1                   C E R T I F I C A T E

2

3                 I, Suzanne Lynn Bonarek, do hereby certify

4      that I have recorded stenographically the proceedings

5      had and testimony taken in the above-entitled matter

6      at the time and place hereinbefore set forth, and I do

7      further certify that the foregoing transcript,

8      consisting of (170) pages, is a true and correct

9      transcript of my said stenographic notes.

10

11                     ______________________________
                    SUZANNE LYNN BONAREK, CSR 3086

12                     Wayne County, Michigan
                    My Commission Expires:  3-27-20
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1 Detroit, Michigan

2 November 22, 2019

3 10:00 a.m.

4                        *     *     *

5                 MS. HA:  Today is Friday, November 22nd,

6      2019.  This is an Administrative Hearing for

7      Ms. Valentina Djelaj for Office of Inspector General

8      File Number 18-0053-INV.  We are holding this hearing

9      pursuant to a request made by Ms. Valentina Djelaj in

10      accordance with Section 7.5-311 of the 2012 Charter of

11      the City of Detroit pursuant to written notices sent

12      to Ms. Djelaj, and in accordance with the Office of

13      Inspector General's Administrative Hearing Rules, a

14      copy of which was previously provided to Ms. Djelaj.

15                 The record should further reflect that

16      sometime in December 2018, the City of Detroit Office

17      of Inspector General received an anonymous complaint

18      which alleged the following.

19                 One, the then Health Department director,

20      Dr. Joneigh Khaldun promoted a personal friend,

21      Ms. Valentina Djelaj, to a high-ranking position in

22      the department and doubled her salary to about

23      $120,000.  Ms. Djelaj according to the Complaint
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1      lacked the necessary qualification and experience for

2      the Health Department chief integration officer

3      position.

4                 Allegation 3, the position was specifically

5      created by Dr. Khaldun for Ms. Djelaj without any

6      intent of it being competitive.

7                 Item 4 of the allegation stated that the

8      candidates who applied for the position were allegedly

9      told that they should have known the position was

10      created for Ms. Djelaj.

11                 Ms. Djelaj was also alleged to have used

12      intimidation tactics with Health Department staff by

13      emailing notifications of termination of Health

14      Department employees.

15                 Based on our findings of the Complaint with

16      respect to Ms. Djelaj, we found, one, the chief

17      integration officer position description with SEMHA,

18      Southeastern Michigan Health Association, was

19      initially crafted by Ms. Djelaj with Dr. Khaldun's

20      assistance and approval.

21                 Two, based, on the email exchanges between

22      Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj, Ms. Djelaj was made aware

23      that SEMHA was not able to create a chief integration
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1      officer position.

2                 Three, however, Ms. Djelaj was also made

3      aware that since SEMHA was not able to create a CIO

4      position, Dr. Khaldun through her deputy, Timothy

5      Lawther, sought to create a Chief integration officer

6      position with the Health Department through the City

7      of Detroit Human Resources Department.

8                 Ms. Djelaj applied for the position of the

9      chief integration officer at the Health Department and

10      got the position.

11                 On August 9, 2019, during her initial

12      interview with the Office of Inspector General,

13      Ms. Djelaj stated that she did not recall assisting

14      Dr. Khaldun in crafting a SEMHA CIO position or the

15      Health Department CIO job description.

16                 Subsequent to the first interview with the

17      Office of Inspector General, Ms. Djelaj requested a

18      followup meeting with the Office of Inspector General.

19      During that meeting, Ms. Djelaj admitted to assisting

20      Dr. Khaldun in crafting the chief integration officer

21      job description.  However, Ms. Djelaj denied any

22      knowledge of Dr. Khaldun's attempt to create a CIO

23      position with SEMHA, or the fact that the description
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1      of the CIO position that she assisted in creating was

2      later carried over by the Health Department when the

3      CIO position was posted through the City of Detroit

4      Human Resources Department.  Ms. Djelaj also denied

5      using the chief integration officer title in her

6      emails before her official appointment with the Health

7      Department.

8                 Therefore, based on the above findings with

9      respect to Ms. Djelaj, the OIG concluded Ms. Djelaj

10      was not forthcoming in her statements provided to the

11      Office of Inspector General pertaining to her

12      knowledge and involvement in creating the Chief

13      Integration position with SEMHA or the Health

14      Department.

15                 With respect to the Human Resources

16      Department, Ms. Djelaj and her attorney, Ms. Porter,

17      should know that based on new evidence provided by the

18      Human Resources Department, the OIG will be correcting

19      the following as they pertain to the Human Resources

20      Department in this matter.

21                 One, contrary to our initial finding which

22      is recorded in the draft report, the CIO position was

23      not an appointed position, and we now have written
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1      verification that it was not an appointed position.

2                 Secondly, contrary to our initial finding

3      that it would have been impossible for the Human

4      Resources Department to know which candidate had the

5      highest score by the end of the interviews, HR

6      personnel would be able to determine at the end of the

7      interviews which interviewees would have had the

8      highest score.

9                 Therefore, because we received such factual

10      evidence from the Human Resources Department which was

11      not provided to us prior to the issuance of the draft

12      report, we will be correcting the two findings

13      pertaining to the Human Resources Department in our

14      final report.

15                 With respect to today's hearing, pursuant

16      to Rule Number 3 of the OIG Administrative Hearing

17      Rules, the purpose of this hearing is to permit

18      Ms. Djelaj with an opportunity to present any

19      testimony or any evidence supporting her response to

20      the OIG's findings against her as stated in our draft

21      report dated August 29, 2019, with the exception of

22      the two corrections that we will be making with

23      respect to the Human Resources Department.
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1                 In doing so, it is also important to note

2      that, one, the OIG did not make any determination

3      pertaining to whether Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj were

4      personal friends.  If any, the relationship is not

5      relevant.  The OIG did not find any evidence to

6      support that Dr. Khaldun doubled Ms. Djelaj's salary.

7      And the OIG was not able to substantiate the

8      allegation that Ms. Djelaj was intimidating any Health

9      Department employees with any evidence.

10                 For the record, everyone in this room is

11      therefore reminded this hearing is not an adversarial

12      proceeding, and as such will be heard in the manner

13      pursuant to the Administrative Hearing Rules, a copy

14      of which was again provided to Ms. Djelaj and

15      Ms. Porter prior to today's hearing.

16                 The hearing is not for the Office of

17      Inspector General to present its evidence or

18      witnesses.  The purpose of this hearing is solely for

19      Ms. Djelaj to provide this office with the testimony

20      or evidence which would show that the Office of

21      Inspector General's findings as outlined in the draft

22      report against Ms. Djelaj is incorrect or inaccurate.

23      Therefore, upon completion of this Administrative
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1      Hearing, unless we require additional information from

2      Ms. Djelaj, the Office of Inspector General will

3      conclude the investigation by closing the record

4      pertaining to Ms. Djelaj on this matter, and in fact

5      we will be closing the record on this investigation,

6      because we've had a hearing with Dr. Khaldun, and we

7      did receive written response from the City of Detroit

8      Human Resources Department.

9                 So in accordance with the Administrative

10      Hearing Rules, the OIG will either revise, amend, or

11      supplement its report and will issue our final report,

12      which will also contain a copy of notices of the

13      Administrative Hearings, Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj's

14      written statements and responses to the draft report,

15      a copy of the City of Detroit Human Resources

16      Department written response, and a copy of the

17      transcript of the Administrative Hearings of

18      Dr. Khaldun and Ms. Djelaj.

19                 May I have everyone's appearances starting

20      with --

21                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes.  Jennifer Bentley,

22      attorney for the Inspector General.

23                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  Jacqueline
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1      Hendricks-Moore, Investigator for the OIG.

2                 MS. MURRAY:  Beverly Murray, Forensic

3      Auditor with the Office of Inspector General.

4                 MS. HA:  Ellen Ha, Inspector General.

5                 MS. PORTER:  Julie Porter, counsel for

6      Ms. Djelaj.

7                 MS. DJELAJ:  Valentina Djelaj.

8                 MS. HA:  Thank you.  You may go ahead.

9                 MS. PORTER:  Okay.  Thank you.  We really

10      appreciate the opportunity to address all of you about

11      the draft report relating to Ms. Djelaj.  There is a

12      lot about the report that troubles us, and we really

13      appreciate the opportunity to talk all of that through

14      with you today and to share our perspective on it.

15                 My hope today and my plan, if it's okay

16      with all of you, is to first present testimony from

17      Ms. Djelaj.  I'll ask her questions, and she'll answer

18      my questions I hope.  And then of course if you have

19      questions for her, she's happy to answer those.  I

20      have a number of exhibits that I would also like to

21      introduce through her testimony.

22                 There are a lot of other witnesses that we

23      think have information that would be critical to a
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1      fair process here.  We do not have subpoena power and

2      we have not been able to secure people to come here

3      today, but we will describe to you during Ms. Djelaj's

4      testimony people who we believe have information that

5      is relevant to the matters that are being addressed by

6      you, and you can do with that what you see fit.

7                 After Ms. Djelaj's testimony and after

8      you've asked questions, I hope you will give me the

9      opportunity to present Ms. Djelaj's perspective.  I

10      would like to present an argument to you that

11      summarizes her perspective.

12                 And I heard you say, Ms. Ha, that some of

13      the possible outcomes are to revise or amend or

14      supplement the report.  My understanding is that

15      another option is to withdraw the report.  I would

16      like you to keep an open mind.  I ask that you keep an

17      open mind.  I was an inspector general once, and I

18      know that in doing investigations you have information

19      from different sources, and one of the things that I

20      really respect about inspector generals is their

21      keeping an open mind throughout a process and being

22      willing to hear it, and if something is wrong, dial it

23      back.
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1                 I do think that even with very good

2      intentions, there is some real mistakes here about

3      what Ms. Djelaj knew and what Ms. Djelaj did, and in

4      particular during her interviews the conclusion that

5      she lied is very troubling.  She did not lie, and she

6      certainly did not intend to mislead anyone.  I think

7      there were some misunderstandings and some cross talk

8      about what was being discussed, and I really want to

9      explore that with you today.  And to the extent as

10      you're listening to my questions to Ms. Djelaj, if you

11      still have internal doubt or there is something

12      sticking for you, please while we're still here in the

13      room ask her and ask me and give us the opportunity to

14      clear any of that up, because her integrity in the

15      career that she has started to build to serve the

16      public is very important to her, and any of us I think

17      who was accused of telling a lie or doing something

18      false in our jobs, that would cut deep, and it has cut

19      her very deep, and so she very much welcomes the

20      opportunity to clear up any questions that remain.

21                 MS. HA:  That's what we're here for.

22                 MS. PORTER:  Thank you for that.

23                 So with that I would like to proceed to ask
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1      questions if that's okay.

2               V A L E N T I N A   D J E L A J

3      was thereupon called as a witness herein, and after

4      first being duly sworn to tell the truth, the whole

5      truth and nothing but the truth, testified as

6      follows:

7                         EXAMINATION

8 BY MS. PORTER:

9 Q.   Could you please state and spell both your first name

10      and your last name?

11 A.   Yes.  Valentina Djelaj, V-a-l-e-n-t-i-n-a

12      D-j-e-l-a-j.

13 Q.   Ms. Djelaj, are you employed?

14 A.   Yes.

15 Q.   Where do you currently work?

16 A.   The City of Detroit Health Department.

17 Q.   I would like to talk to you about your educational and

18      your employment background.  Can you tell us first

19      where you attended college?

20 A.   Yes.  I attended Michigan State University for my

21      Bachelor's in social work, and I attended Wayne State

22      University for my Master's in social work.

23 Q.   When did you get your Bachelor's in social work from
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1      Wayne State?

2 A.   I received my Bachelor's from Michigan State.

3 Q.   I'm sorry, from Michigan State.  My apologies.

4 A.   In 2011.

5 Q.   Thank you.  And when did you get your Master's from

6      Wayne State?

7 A.   2012.

8 Q.   Did you have any particular concentration while you

9      were doing your Master's?

10 A.   Yes, community practice and social action.  So that is

11      macro social work where we learn program development,

12      policy change, community organizing.

13 Q.   Why did you study that?

14 A.   Because I am passionate about serving communities as

15      the client, making change on a larger level, and

16      ensuring that systems don't possess barriers for

17      clients.  So I figured that was the -- that was the

18      path that I should take in order to create the

19      greatest amount of change.

20 Q.   I want to talk -- we'll get to your jobs in a minute.

21      While we're on the topic of education, I want to ask

22      you about some of the continuing education that you've

23      had during the time that you've been working.  Have
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1      you done some continuing education while you're

2      working?

3 A.   Yes.

4 Q.   Tell us about that?

5 A.   So I pursued a graduate certificate in research and

6      evaluation at Wayne State University, and completed

7      that.  I completed a practicum there as well where I

8      looked at sexual assault survivors and the barriers

9      that they encountered getting nonoccupational

10      post-exposure prophylaxis, which is HIV prophylaxis.

11 Q.   Was that around 2016?

12 A.   Yes, yes.

13 Q.   Okay.  What else?

14 A.   I also pursued a restorative practice conferencing

15      certificate.  So I was trained on how to conduct

16      restorative practices conferences, which is for

17      conflict resolution.  And I also pursued a woman in

18      leadership certificate through Cornell University, and

19      that -- those courses consisted of negotiation skills,

20      emotional intelligence, enhancing communications

21      staff.  It was a certificate that was web-based with

22      forums, exams.  And I pursued that because I am a

23      woman seeking additional leadership positions
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1      throughout my career, and I wanted to get a good

2      foundation for that.

3 Q.   Why did you pursue the restorative justices -- the

4      restorative practices certificate?

5 A.   So as a social worker, I've always thought about

6      meeting clients where they're at.  I understand the

7      social determents of health.  I understand that

8      systems fail clients all the time, and there are

9      different avenues for dealing with conflict.  Our

10      current judicial system doesn't seem to work in my

11      mind, and so that is something that was intriguing

12      when I first found out about restorative practice and

13      restorative justice, and I wanted to better understand

14      how to utilize those skills for our clients in

15      addition to in the workplace.

16 Q.   Since finishing your Master's and entering the work

17      force, have you participated in any volunteer work?

18 A.   Yes.  I have been on the LGBT Abuse Collaborative for

19      Southeastern Michigan.  I've been on the Macomb

20      Community Domestic and Sexual Violence Council.  I

21      have also been a board member at Turning Point, Inc.

22      in Macomb county.  I have served as the vice chair of

23      the external relations committee, co-chaired the
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1      advocacy committee, and am a board member there.

2 Q.   Are these all things you've been doing within the past

3      five years or so?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   Who was your first employer after school?

6 A.   Wayne State University.

7 Q.   What did you do there in your first job?

8 A.   I was a research assistant, and my functional title

9      was Linkage-to-Care Coordinator, so I oversaw a case

10      load of over 50 plus newly diagnosed with HIV youth

11      ages 12 to 25.  And then I also conducted the research

12      study, collected the identifying data, and worked with

13      these youths to get them housing, healthcare,

14      insurance, any kind of services they needed.

15 Q.   Was that the 2012, 2013 time frame?

16 A.   Yes.

17 Q.   Where was your next job?

18 A.   I was actually promoted at Wayne State School of

19      Medicine to the Connect to Protect Detroit Study

20      Coordinator, which is also a research assistant

21      position, and I supervised the new Linkage-to-Care

22      coordinator, and I oversaw a community participatory

23      research study including a coalition.  And with this
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1      coalition I worked with nonprofits and community

2      organizations and health departments both state and

3      local to create practice and policy change to address

4      root causes of HIV.

5 Q.   What were the years that you performed that job?

6 A.   2013 to I believe 2015, maybe 2016.  I'm sorry.

7 Q.   That's okay.  And one thing we can't see on the

8      transcript is you're closing your eyes and counting on

9      your fingers?

10 A.   Sorry, yes.

11 Q.   Is it fair to say you're doing your best to give us

12      the approximate dates?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   But around three or four years you did this?

15 A.   Yes, four.

16 Q.   You described to us some of the responsibilities you

17      had there.  What more can you tell us about what you

18      learned and the job skills you gained while doing that

19      job?

20 A.   Yes.  So overseeing research studies, overseeing

21      programs, creating practice and policy change, working

22      with political officials, working with CEOs of major

23      organizations to create partnerships.  I also gained
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1      supervisory experience there.  And I also started

2      learning and further enhancing my budgetary

3      experience.  By the end of the position there I had

4      supervised seven employees.

5 Q.   Okay.  And when you talk about your budgetary

6      experience, what does that mean?

7 A.   So learning to create -- everything from learning to

8      create a budget to operating within my budget, to, you

9      know, teaching staff how to budget themselves for

10      their appropriate research study.

11 Q.   Okay.  After completing that job, who did you go to

12      work for next?

13 A.   I worked for the Imagine Center for Psychological

14      Health in addition to Wayne County Safe and University

15      of Chapel Hill.  For Wayne County Safe and University

16      of Chapel Hill I was a research coordinator for the

17      women's health study, which looks -- it was a

18      longitudinal study that looks at the recovery process

19      for sexual assault survivors.  And I supervised a few

20      staff in that research study, and I actually launched

21      that study at Wayne County Safe.  And then in addition

22      to that, I was doing that part-time, I was also doing

23      psychotherapy at the time Imagine Center for
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1      psychological health.

2 Q.   At some point while you were still doing that

3      psychotherapy work, did you come to work for the

4      Detroit Health Department?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   Approximately when was that?

7 A.   I started working at the Detroit Health Department in

8      September of 2016.

9 Q.   What was your first job there?

10 A.   The Clinical Engagement Coordinator.

11 Q.   How did you learn of the Clinical Engagement

12      Coordinator job?

13 A.   Two ways.  One, I saw it through an online posting

14      through Indeed.  And then I explored it further at the

15      SEMHA website, Southeastern Michigan Health

16      Association.  And in addition to that, a fellow

17      colleague of mine from the coalition forwarded me the

18      posting and thought that I would be a great fit

19      because of my experience working with physicians and

20      the medical community and medical students.

21 Q.   Why were you interested in working for the Detroit

22      Health Department and the affiliated entities?

23 A.   So I had -- so the Health Department essentially in
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1      2013 during the bankruptcy, the city's bankruptcy,

2      contracted out all of its services to nonprofits,

3      Wayne State University, and a few other entities.  And

4      in around 2015 and around 2016 when I started looking

5      for a new place of employment, I started hearing some

6      great things from the Health Department.  I heard some

7      speeches from some key leaders at the Health

8      Department including the health officer at the time,

9      who was Abdul El-Seyad.  He had made a speech at a

10      council that I was -- that I attended and was a member

11      of, the Southeastern Michigan HIV AIDS Council.  And

12      really -- his vision for the Health Department and for

13      residents really resonated with me.  I felt as though

14      I could create some real change there.

15                 In addition to that, I enjoyed working and

16      educating medical students through my coalition.  I

17      had taught them how to conduct HIV testing with

18      at-risk youth.  And I enjoyed working with providers

19      in the community and doing a lot of education through

20      the sexual assault education work that I was doing.

21      So I figured it was the next step in my career, and I

22      really thought it was a great fit.

23 Q.   You mentioned SEMHA, S-E-M-H-A.  Can you tell everyone
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1      what your understanding was at the time of what SEMHA

2      is?  And you're making a face.  Let me ask that a

3      different way.  Why don't you tell us what your

4      understanding now is of what SEMHA is?

5 A.   Okay, because at the time I did not understand what

6      SEMHA was.  SEMHA to my understanding now is the

7      fiduciary agent for the City of Detroit Health

8      Department.

9 Q.   What do you understand that to mean?

10 A.   So all of the local public health services that the

11      City of Detroit offers gets funded through the State

12      of Michigan and approved through the city and

13      essentially goes to SEMHA to monitor and keep and

14      maintain all financial records for.  I don't know why

15      that was ever the case or why that was decided, but

16      what I understand is that many of the local health

17      departments utilize SEMHA's services.

18 Q.   How did you come by that understanding, Ms. Djelaj?

19 A.   Through my years working at the city and working with

20      SEMHA as well.

21 Q.   Okay.  Let me show you what I would like to mark as

22      Exhibit 1.

23                 (Exhibit No. 1 was marked
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1                 for identification.)

2 BY MS. PORTER:

3 Q.   What is Exhibit 1?

4 A.   It is the offer letter from SEMHA for the position of

5      clinical engagement coordinator.  This is my offer

6      letter.

7 Q.   So this is the very first job that you had with SEMHA,

8      is that right?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   And we see at the top the letter is dated August 24,

11      2016 from Gary Petroni, Executive Director.

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   Did you know him at the time?

14 A.   No.

15 Q.   It says that you will be placed with the Southeast

16      Michigan Health Association as the employer of the

17      grant funded administrative program.  Is that what you

18      were just sort of describing to us?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   And your position would be clinical engagement

21      coordinator.  At the time that you were coming in for

22      the job, what did you understand that the job would

23      be?
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1 A.   I understood that I would be essentially the right

2      hand to the medical director.  I would help the

3      medical director carry out projects, work with the

4      medical director to establish partnerships with

5      medical providers across the city.

6 Q.   Who was the medical director at that point in time?

7 A.   Dr. Joneigh Khaldun.

8 Q.   If we look about halfway down, we see that it says

9      that you'll report to Dr. Khaldun, and you'll have a

10      salary of $70,000, is that right?

11 A.   Yes.

12 Q.   And was that your understanding when you say you would

13      be the right hand to the medical director, you would

14      be the right hand to Dr. Khaldun?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   At the time that you received this letter on

17      August 24, 2016, had you met Dr. Khaldun yet?

18 A.   Yes, I had met her for my interview.

19 Q.   Other than for interviewing for the job, had you

20      already known Dr. Khaldun at all?

21 A.   No.

22 Q.   Had you done anything with Dr. Khaldun other than

23      interviewing for this position?
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1 A.   No.

2 Q.   Did you have any relationships with her outside just

3      getting this job?

4 A.   No.

5 Q.   Okay.  Once you got the clinical engagement

6      coordinator position, where did you physically work?

7 A.   I worked at 3245 East Jefferson.

8 Q.   And you described to us what you thought the job would

9      be like.  Is that what the job turned out to be?

10 A.   Somewhat.  In addition to that I had additional

11      responsibilities.  We had just entered a Hepatitis A

12      outbreak, and so I was quickly expected to stand up a

13      Hepatitis A clinic -- multiple Hepatitis A clinics,

14      develop materials, help draft press releases, stay on

15      state calls with the State Health Department.  And I

16      was essentially spearheading the effort to do any type

17      of outreach.  So I was working with our immunization

18      team in developing a staff or creating a staff list of

19      individuals that would be spending time in the

20      clinics.  And then I also had to quickly get

21      well-versed in Hepatitis A so I could teach physicians

22      in the community about, you know, what type of

23      treatment they should be providing for which type of
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1      patients.  I also had to go myself and do intakes for

2      people at these clinics because we were so short

3      staffed.

4 Q.   Did your job continue to change over the time you

5      served as clinical engagement coordinator?

6 A.   Yes.

7 Q.   How so?

8 A.   I was expected to create new projects and new

9      proposals that would be shared with the mayor at a

10      moment's notice.  One was our I-Decide reproductive

11      health clinic.  We had -- former leadership had

12      proposed an idea to create a reproductive health

13      mobile clinic, and the mayor didn't -- wasn't fond of

14      that idea.  So I was expected to create an entirely

15      new plan to address reproductive health or unintended

16      teen pregnancy in the city.

17 Q.   Do you feel like the prior job experiences that you

18      had had before coming to SEMHA and the City of Detroit

19      Health Department prepared you for that set of

20      shifting responsibilities?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   Tell us how?

23 A.   So I had through my coalition and through other types
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1      of work in the Linkage-to-Care coordinator role had to

2      be very adaptable, especially working with transient

3      youth living with HIV, and even sexual assault

4      survivors, I had to quickly adapt and change either

5      the research study approach with the proper approvals,

6      or create new plans if the first kind of plan did not

7      work.  I also had to create, you know, work plans,

8      budgets in the past.  So that was something that I was

9      well-versed in doing.  I just had to adapt whatever

10      skills I had to the way the health department was

11      doing it.

12 Q.   Tell us what your day-to-day relationship with

13      Dr. Khaldun was like in your clinical engagement

14      coordinator job?

15 A.   I spent -- I spent a decent amount of time with her

16      having regularly -- regular supervision sessions,

17      working closely on the I-Decide reproductive health

18      project.  I was often in other meetings with her, but

19      it was a larger group of individuals as well.  I also

20      had meetings with the health officer.  I also had

21      meetings with the associate director.  So really I had

22      a lot of meetings with a lot of folks including

23      special project teams, budget, finance.  But I did
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1      have regular supervision sessions with Dr. Khaldun and

2      was in meetings with the mayor and Dr. Khaldun and a

3      team as well.

4 Q.   Once you were in the clinical engagement coordinator

5      job, did you have the opportunity to observe the

6      organizational structure at the Detroit Health

7      Department and how it was changing in realtime as you

8      were there?

9 A.   Yes.  It was quickly adapting actually.  It seemed

10      like every day someone else had a new role within the

11      Health Department, and that evolved even further once

12      the change in leadership happened.  We had multiple

13      organization charts just under one health officer, and

14      multiple different divisions.  They were renamed,

15      re-categorized, directors -- or managers became

16      directors and so forth.

17 Q.   What was your understanding of why the change was

18      happening so rapidly?

19 A.   We went from having five staff at the Detroit Health

20      Department to having over 200.  So it was my

21      understanding that it was adapting as the organization

22      was growing.

23 Q.   And just approximately what is the time period when
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1      that rapid growth was occurring?

2 A.   Oh, it went from 2015, yes, from five people to around

3      2016, start of 2017.

4 Q.   And now having hundreds of people?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   Okay.  And I think you mentioned to us before your

7      understanding of the reason was that there were some

8      changes during the bankruptcy and the city was

9      emerging from that?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   Okay.  Between approximately August 2016 when you

12      started as clinical engagement coordinator to March of

13      2017, how did your job responsibilities end up?  By

14      the end of your tenure in that job, what were you

15      focusing on?

16 A.   I started getting additional staff to supervise, so

17      medical students, interns.  I started getting

18      additional responsibilities, managing my own projects.

19      Once the former medical director became the health

20      officer, I was still working very closely along with

21      those priority projects that she was overseeing.  So I

22      was working very closely with her.

23 Q.   Okay.  And just to be sure we all know who we're
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1      talking about, when you talk about the former medical

2      director becoming the health officer, who is that?

3 A.   Dr. Khaldun.

4 Q.   So when you started as the right hand to Dr. Khaldun,

5      at that point in time her title was what?

6 A.   Medical director.

7 Q.   Okay.  And then at some point she changed jobs to

8      become the health officer?

9 A.   Yes.  When Dr. El-Sayed left the Health Department,

10      the mayor promoted Dr. Khaldun.

11 Q.   Then around March of 2017, you became special

12      associate to the director and health officer, is that

13      right?

14 A.   Yes.

15 Q.   And let's look at what I'll mark as Exhibit 2 to your

16      testimony.

17                 (Exhibit No. 2 was marked

18                 for identification.)

19 BY MS. PORTER:

20 Q.   Okay.  What do you recognize Exhibit 2 to be?

21 A.   This is salary adjustment form.

22 Q.   It's dated March 23rd, 2017 and it's from Tim Lawther,

23      do you see that?
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1 A.   Yes.

2 Q.   Who was Mr. Lawther?

3 A.   Mr. Lawther at the time was the chief operating

4      officer.

5 Q.   For what?

6 A.   The Detroit Health Department.

7 Q.   He writes in the memo to Mr. Petroni, "In recognizing

8      the need to maintain excellent staff, I'm recommending

9      the SEMHA employee Valentina Djelaj receive an annual

10      salary of 80,000, and her title be changed to special

11      associate to the director effective March 27, 2017,"

12      is that right?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   And then he says in the last sentence of that

15      paragraph that he's consulted with a few folks.  Who

16      was Joseph Mutebi, M-u-t-e-b-i?

17 A.   He is the finance manager for the Detroit Health

18      Department Office of -- ODFS, the Office of -- they're

19      changing their name.  I don't recall, but it's the

20      finance division of the City of Detroit.

21 Q.   The next person listed is Leseliey Welch,

22      L-e-s-e-l-i-e-y, last name Welch, W-e-l-c-h?

23 A.   She was the associate director I believe at the time.
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1 Q.   And then it refers to Dr. Khaldun, who you told us was

2      the health officer at the time, correct?

3 A.   Correct.

4 Q.   And it says that I consulted with these people, and

5      the salary is within the budget and required.  Did you

6      have any understanding at that time of the

7      significance of what Mr. Lawther was saying there?

8 A.   No, just that it was acceptable.

9 Q.   Okay.  Once you became special associate to the

10      director and health officer, you were reporting to

11      Dr. Khaldun, is that right?

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   Just as Dr. Khaldun must have had different

14      responsibilities in her new job as health officer, did

15      you have different responsibilities in your new role

16      as special associate?

17 A.   Yes.

18 Q.   Tell us what those were?

19 A.   I was overseeing much more -- there were items of more

20      importance.  So I was preparing materials for City

21      Council, I was preparing additional materials for the

22      mayor.  I was preparing additional materials for the

23      Finance Department that were weighted more significant
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1      than some of the other work I had done.

2 Q.   Now, by this time when you started this job, you had

3      been at the Detroit Health Department for six or seven

4      months, is that right?

5 A.   Correct.

6 Q.   Had you learned whether SEMHA had HR specialists?

7 A.   They do not -- they did not.

8 Q.   Did the City of Detroit have HR specialists at that

9      time?

10 A.   Let me go back.  Can you define specialists?

11 Q.   No, so I'll ask it differently.  As you matured within

12      this department, did you learn whether there was any

13      human resources function at SEMHA?

14 A.   Yes, there were -- there was one staff member at SEMHA

15      that was -- that would process the HR paperwork.

16 Q.   Okay.  And did you also come to observe whether there

17      were folks on the City of Detroit side that focused on

18      human resources issues and personnel issues?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   What observation did you have about whether the SEMHA

21      human resources people and the City of Detroit human

22      resources people were working in an integrated fashion

23      or not?
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1 A.   They were not.

2 Q.   And tell us what you observed?

3 A.   It was my understanding that they were not allowed to,

4      that they were two separate entities, that the City of

5      Detroit would not work with SEMHA staff.

6 Q.   In the absence of at least what you perceived to be a

7      cohesive working relationship between SEMHA and the

8      City of Detroit Human Resources folks, did you come to

9      have responsibilities for any human-resources type

10      functions?

11 A.   Yes.  I would create nearly every new position

12      description or I would have a role in it.  So if it

13      was a new position such as a behavorial health manager

14      position, I would have to do my research on, you know,

15      what did exist out there, what type of specifications

16      those types of positions would need.  And then there

17      would be -- you know, I would essentially provide

18      those position descriptions to our COO or our

19      associate director or our health officer.

20 Q.   Did you have experience doing that, writing position

21      descriptions?

22 A.   No.

23 Q.   How did that come to fall on you?
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1 A.   In the absence of having someone to do the work, and

2      my I guess skill in just being adaptable and quickly

3      learning, I was assigned the task, and I didn't want

4      to let anyone down.

5 Q.   And why was it important to be writing new job

6      descriptions during this time period of your career?

7 A.   For the department or just for me?

8 Q.   For the department.

9 A.   It was important because the organization's needs were

10      constantly changing.  In addition to that, the

11      positions that did already exist, they were one or two

12      lines of a position description, which did not

13      properly account for all the responsibilities that

14      each role would need to maintain.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  Just a quick question.  Did

16      you create job position descriptions for both SEMHA

17      positions and City of Detroit positions?

18 A.   So they were SEMHA positions.

19                 MS. BENTLEY:  Thank you.

20 A.   SEMHA staff members were not able to interact with or

21      process paperwork through the City of Detroit.

22 BY MS. PORTER:

23 Q.   And at the time you were a SEMHA person?
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1 A.   Yes.

2 Q.   As all of this is going on and you're functioning in

3      this position as special associate -- did I get the

4      title right?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   Okay, special associate.  Did you have discussions

7      during that time with Dr. Khaldun about her vision for

8      what she was trying to create in the Health

9      Department?

10 A.   Yes, loose conversations.  I think it was -- I wasn't

11      a part of the senior leadership team, so I wasn't

12      really aware of all the -- the entire vision of the

13      department.  I was more task oriented.  So she would

14      say we do need -- these are the needs, help me create

15      a position that would align with those needs.  But it

16      would be more piecemeal, it wouldn't be a broader

17      vision.

18 Q.   Okay.  Let's focus our attention on October 2017.  At

19      that time you've been at the Health Department for

20      about a year, is that right?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   What was your relationship with Dr. Khaldun like at

23      that point in time?
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1 A.   The same.

2 Q.   So when you started you didn't know her at all?

3 A.   Oh, okay, yes.

4 Q.   Tell us how that had evolved?

5 A.   I worked with her day in and day out.  I respected her

6      as my supervisor, but would just work with her

7      throughout the workday.

8 Q.   Did you spend time with Dr. Khaldun outside of work?

9 A.   No.

10 Q.   Did she ever invite you to her home?

11 A.   No.

12 Q.   Did you ever invite her to your home?

13 A.   No.

14 Q.   Did you have meals together?

15 A.   No.

16 Q.   Did you go to restaurants together?

17 A.   No.

18 Q.   Sporting events?

19 A.   No.

20 Q.   Theater?

21 A.   No.

22 Q.   Is it fair to say from what you're describing that

23      your relationship with her in October of 2017 was
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1      purely professional?

2 A.   Yes.

3 Q.   How about now, now we're two years later?

4 A.   Still professional.

5 Q.   All right.  At some point in or around October 2017

6      did you and Dr. Khaldun discuss the possibility of

7      creating a job title within the organization for a

8      chief integration officer?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   Explain to everyone how that came about?

11 A.   So as I was mentioning, the needs of the department

12      were constantly changing.  There was a need to have an

13      individual work on braiding funding at the Health

14      Department.  As we kept getting in additional dollars,

15      having a difficult time still managing our budget,

16      managing finances, and trying to integrate our

17      programs and service, there was someone that needed to

18      solely focus on that.  It was difficult to have each

19      manager work across the aisle if you will, so cross

20      programs.  There needed to be someone to individually

21      give attention to that.  There were constant errors

22      happening, staff split across multiple budgets that

23      were never updated because managers weren't talking to
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1      other managers, directors weren't talking to other

2      directors.  So there was someone that needed to focus

3      on that solely.  I started doing that because

4      paperwork was coming across my desk to share with

5      Dr. Khaldun, but I would find constant errors in them,

6      in this paperwork.

7                 So I brought these issues to her attention

8      and created a system to ensure that those issues

9      wouldn't happen any more.  But there was still the

10      need to integrate programs and services so we didn't

11      have clients in the city going to our immunizations

12      department waiting for four hours for immunization,

13      then needing to go to the WIC clinic, which is just

14      across the hallway, and waiting an additional four

15      hours in line for that, and then catching the bus

16      maybe four hours to go home.  So there was a need to

17      have someone focus on how to better streamline

18      services across the department.

19 Q.   What is your understanding of any differences between

20      what that chief integration officer job would be and

21      what you were doing as special associate to the

22      director?

23 A.   There was a little bit of carryover with the role
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1      because every day it seemed like I didn't operate in

2      just one position.  There would be additional

3      responsibility every day.  So it is hard to decipher,

4      but the main difference was focusing the financial and

5      fiscal management responsibility, the integration of

6      programs and services.  I was supervising additional

7      staff.  Any new projects or grants that were coming

8      in, I would spearhead, hire those staff, and then get

9      those programs off the ground like our lead pilot

10      prevention program.

11 Q.   As someone who had been working at the department now

12      for over a year, did you have a personal view about

13      whether a chief integration officer position was

14      needed?

15 A.   Yes, I strongly thought it was needed.

16                 MS. BENTLEY:  Is that a position that

17      exists in most health departments?

18 A.   I'm not certain if it exists in health departments.

19      I've seen it exist in other organizations at least

20      online when I was kind of searching for the right fit

21      in nonprofits.

22 BY MS. PORTER:

23 Q.   And when you said yes, you did believe it was needed,
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1      what was it that was missing that this title would do

2      and provide that wasn't -- that somebody wasn't

3      already doing in the department?

4 A.   Can you rephrase that?  I'm sorry.

5 Q.   Sure.  This was going to be a new title and a new

6      position?

7 A.   Right.

8 Q.   What would be the new thing that would be happening

9      that wasn't already happening within the department?

10 A.   That people were not working across their programs and

11      no one was solely focusing on that.  Everyone was kind

12      of -- just had enough energy to focus on their

13      programs and running the day-in and day-out

14      operations.  Someone had to be thinking strategy and

15      thinking how else to make things more efficient.

16                 Another just reason was that special

17      associate title just as an FYI was not resonating with

18      anyone.  No one -- internally and externally staff or

19      the community did not understand that.  That

20      integration piece of the role was really important to

21      external parties.  Even when people, you know, had met

22      me or I had been introduced, people understood that I

23      was solely working to integrate the programs.
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1 Q.   So in addition to the responsibilities that you had

2      taken on when you started as special associate, had

3      you started to do some of these integration-type roles

4      that you've been describing to us?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   And why were you the person doing that and not

7      somebody else?

8 A.   There was -- one, truly everyone had their own

9      bandwidth issues.  And, two, I took the initiative to

10      just start doing the work and had to fill the need.

11 Q.   Okay.  Let's talk about what I'll mark as Exhibit 3.

12                 (Exhibit No. 3 was marked

13                 for identification.)

14 BY MS. PORTER:

15 Q.   The first page of Exhibit 3 is an email that you wrote

16      to Dr. Khaldun on September 8, 2017.  Do you see that?

17 A.   Yes.

18 Q.   And it says, "I have attached the memo that we need to

19      send over SEMHA to officially change my position.  I

20      filled in most of the memo, but please review and

21      provide feedback at your leisure.  I've also attached

22      my proposed PD."  And what does PD mean?

23 A.   Position description.
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1 Q.   Okay.  It says, "I tried to leave it a bit vague to

2      account for ad hoc projects that don't exactly fall

3      into a category/program, but detailed enough to

4      eliminate confusion throughout the department.  Please

5      let me know what you think.  My position change can

6      also be one of our first agenda items for our

7      one-on-one on Monday."  Then it's signed by you as

8      special associate to the director, correct?

9 A.   Correct.

10 Q.   And then the attachment appears to be a draft position

11      description for chief integration officer, is that

12      right?

13 A.   Correct.

14 Q.   Did you write this email in Exhibit 3?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   And did you write the attached position description?

17 A.   Yes.  I contributed to multiple drafts of a working

18      document.

19 Q.   And then there is a second document attached to your

20      email on City of Detroit Health Department Interagency

21      Memorandum, do you see that?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   And that's drafted from Dr. Khaldun to Mr. Petroni,
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1      right?

2 A.   Yes.

3 Q.   And it says please change the position description and

4      job title of Valentina Djelaj beginning from 9/11/17,

5      right?

6 A.   Yes.

7 Q.   And it would be a change from special associate to the

8      director and health officer, your current position, to

9      the new position of chief integration officer, right?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   And the proposed salary is blank?

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   Did you draft this as well?

14 A.   I did.

15 Q.   And then on the last page it's got all your personal

16      information, but again the salary is blank, is that

17      right?

18 A.   Correct.

19 Q.   Okay.  Going back to the email, and just the overall

20      Exhibit 3, why did you draft this?

21 A.   It was something that Dr. Khaldun and I had discussed,

22      and she had wanted me to complete the paperwork to

23      process.
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1 Q.   At the time that you wrote this email and this job

2      description and this memo, what did you expect were

3      going to happen with these items?

4 A.   That they would hopefully be approved through

5      Dr. Khaldun and be processed through SEMHA.

6 Q.   When you say that you thought they would be processed

7      through SEMHA, help everyone understand what did you

8      think the significance of that was?  Why did it matter

9      that this was something that was going through SEMHA?

10 A.   This was common practice through SEMHA.  As again the

11      organization evolved, individuals' positions would

12      change, responsibilities would change.  I was one of

13      many people at that time, including our communications

14      director, whose responsibilities were changing.  And

15      SEMHA was the -- because we were funded through a

16      certain budget, that funding sat on the SEMHA side,

17      and the position would be processed that way.

18 Q.   In your experience so far at the department, had you

19      seen other positions be created and filled within

20      SEMHA?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   Did you have an understanding of what was required at

23      that time for a job position to be created and filled
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1      on the SEMHA side?

2 A.   Just -- I didn't understand the background of what

3      would happen with SEMHA, but just the documents and

4      the proper items to complete.

5 Q.   Did you have an understanding at that time about

6      whether Dr. Khaldun had the power and ability to

7      create new jobs and fill them as she saw fit on the

8      SEMHA side?

9 A.   Yes, it was my understanding that she did.

10 Q.   And had you actually seen that happen before?

11 A.   Yes.

12 Q.   Just once or more than once?

13 A.   More than once.

14 Q.   Lots of times?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   Now, at that point in time, Ms. Djelaj, were you

17      familiar with the City of Detroit's job classification

18      system?

19 A.   No, not exactly.  It was actually very confusing to

20      me.

21 Q.   In particular I want to ask you about what is called

22      the public health division administrator or PHDA

23      classification.  Did you know what that was at the
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1      time?

2 A.   I only knew as much as individuals were in that role,

3      so I understood it to be a director level position.

4 Q.   Okay.  When you wrote what we're looking at as

5      Exhibit 3, were you trying to write the CIO job

6      description to match up with the PHDA classification

7      with City of Detroit?

8 A.   No.

9 Q.   Why not?

10 A.   Because it didn't make sense to me.  It was something

11      entirely separate.

12 Q.   Was the concept of the PHDA classification even on

13      your radar at the time you were writing the CIO job

14      description?

15 A.   No.

16 Q.   Explain that.

17 A.   I don't know.  I guess I just didn't think it was

18      relevant.  I don't know.

19 Q.   And is that because what you were writing was for

20      SEMHA, not for City of Detroit?

21 A.   Correct, yes.

22 Q.   Is it your understanding that that PHDA classification

23      is just a City of Detroit thing, and not a SEMHA
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1      thing?

2 A.   Correct.  The only thing that I can say that we were

3      trying to do, and even prior to creating this

4      position, was aligning with the position competencies.

5      There are three tiers in the Detroit Health

6      Department, and we were trying to make those

7      consistent across the board to match state level

8      competencies or national competencies for health

9      departments.  But that -- again, there were three

10      tiers, and that is something that was a template that

11      everyone was able to access on our shared drive, and

12      that is something that I knew was consistent on both

13      the city side and the SEMHA -- or we were trying to

14      move toward making it consistent.

15 Q.   So you're pointing to the position description

16      attached to Exhibit 3, and I think you were looking at

17      the third page in that position description where it

18      says position competencies?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   And so I think what you're saying is those were

21      standard and set, and those -- in your understanding

22      these do overlap with the way the City of Detroit did

23      their job posting?
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1 A.   Yes.

2 Q.   Look what they write over there where it says

3      education and experience.  It says the successful

4      candidate will hold a Master's degree in public

5      health, social work, business administration, health

6      science administration, or other related fields, and

7      have three or more years experience in public health

8      project management, program development, and coalition

9      building.  Do you see that?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   Now, when you drafted this position description, was

12      this the very first position description that you had

13      drafted?

14 A.   No.

15 Q.   Do you remember about how many others you had done at

16      this point in time?

17 A.   Many.  I would have to say probably more than ten.

18 Q.   And what was your practice at that time in figuring

19      out how to figure out what to put there under

20      education and experience?

21 A.   I had some examples from previous work I had done from

22      previous descriptions, and most of my research was

23      what was -- what I could find online, what was the
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1      qualifications for -- you know, the going

2      qualifications for each position.

3 Q.   Is it fair to say that you were creating an education

4      and experience requirement based on what you had seen

5      online and across the department?

6 A.   Yes, and based on my conversations with our health

7      officer and our COO.

8 Q.   Okay.  If this had said, just by the way, that the

9      minimum requirement was for a Master's degree in

10      medicine, public health, business administration and

11      health science administration or other related field,

12      would you have qualified for that?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   Why?

15 A.   I have a Master's degree in social work.

16 Q.   Okay.  So at the time that you sent this to

17      Dr. Khaldun in September of 2017, when you wrote this

18      CIO job description, did you have an understanding of

19      whether you would be the person to fill that role?

20 A.   What was the time line again?  I'm sorry.

21 Q.   Well, this particular one is September 8, 2017.

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   So at the time that you're writing this CIO job
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1      description in September of 2017 and sending it to

2      Dr. Khaldun, did you think that if SEMHA created the

3      job title, that that would be your job?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   Why did you think that?

6 A.   For the most part because I was already doing all of

7      the responsibilities of this role, and it just made

8      sense at the time.

9 Q.   Okay.  Let me show you what we'll mark as Exhibit 4.

10                 MS. BENTLEY:  Before we move on from

11      Exhibit 3, I would just like to redact her home

12      address since this is going to be a public document.

13      So if we can make that change.  I'm just going to grab

14      a quick marker.

15                 MS. PORTER:  That would be great.  I

16      appreciate your attention to that.

17                 MS. BENTLEY:  You can continue if you'd

18      like.

19                 MS. PORTER:  Are you sure?

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes, that's fine.

21                 (Exhibit No. 4 was marked

22                 for identification.)

23 BY MS. PORTER:
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1 Q.   I'm showing you what we've marked as Exhibit 4 to your

2      testimony.  This is a little less than a month after

3      the exhibit we just looked at.  It's dated October 2,

4      2017.  Do you see that?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   And this is another email from you to Dr. Khaldun,

7      right?

8 A.   Right.

9 Q.   And it says, "I know you mentioned me staying on the

10      SEMHA payroll for a bit longer this morning, but do

11      you want me to change my title in PD?  How do you feel

12      about the PD attached I shared with you last week?  Do

13      you have any revisions?  If not, I can update the

14      paperwork and submit through SEMHA."

15                 What were you trying to tell Dr. Khaldun in

16      this email.

17 A.   I was just -- I understood she was busy, frequently

18      being pulled in multiple different directions, but I

19      wanted to ensure that she hadn't forgotten about this

20      PD or it didn't have any additional changes.  We had

21      talked about making some additional changes, so she

22      recommended them to me, and then I also took another

23      look at it and drafted additional language on here, so
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1      I wanted her to review it.

2 Q.   When you talk about you drafted additional language,

3      are you referring to the attachment to this email as

4      part of Exhibit 4?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   In between this email that we see in Exhibit 4 and the

7      email that we looked at in Exhibit 3, do you remember

8      any particular discussions that you had with

9      Dr. Khaldun about the CIO job?

10 A.   I don't recall specific conversations.  It felt like a

11      rolling conversation.  It felt like we continuously

12      discussed little pieces here and there.  But I did

13      know that she wanted to move forward with it at SEMHA.

14 Q.   Okay.  And the email references updating the paperwork

15      and submitting through SEMHA.  What did you mean by

16      that?

17 A.   Yes, to submit the position and be hired through

18      SEMHA.

19 Q.   And at this point in time, October 2 of 2017, did you

20      believe that if a CIO position was created, that that

21      would be your job?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   Why did you think that?
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1 A.   Again I was doing the work, and I felt that it was

2      still -- it still made sense to me.

3 Q.   And was that consistent with the discussions you were

4      having were Dr. Khaldun?

5 A.   Yes.

6                 (Exhibit No. 5 was marked

7                 for identification.)

8 BY MS. PORTER:

9 Q.   Let me show you what I've marked as Exhibit 5 to your

10      testimony.

11                 MS. MURRAY:  Before you do that, can I ask

12      one question?

13                 MS. PORTER:  Of course.

14                 MS. MURRAY:  The first part of the email

15      where it says I know you mentioned me staying on the

16      SEMHA payroll for a bit longer, can you explain what

17      that part of the email meant?

18 A.   Yes.  So I was trying to recall what I was -- where I

19      was going with this, but I think around this time

20      there were conversations about other staff moving over

21      to the city, and rumors going back and forth across

22      the department about I think the communications

23      director position and a few others, policy director,
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1      so I felt safe at the time, but I knew that it was

2      genuinely the City of Detroit's stance to move

3      eventually all positions over to the City, but not

4      immediately, and over years of time, because they were

5      having some difficulties with SEMHA.  But I didn't

6      know all the complexities, a lot of it was rumors and

7      speculation.  And I had been around through the

8      bankruptcy and actually worked at -- well, I was at

9      Wayne State, but I had an office in Herman Kiefer when

10      the Institution for Population Health took over.  So I

11      knew it was -- it's always a possibility.

12                 MS. MURRAY:  Thank you.

13 BY MS. PORTER:

14 Q.   Let's look at Exhibit 5, which is dated October 3,

15      2017.  And you agree with me that this appears to be

16      Dr. Khaldun's response to your email from October 2?

17 A.   Yes.

18 Q.   She says, "Hi, Val, see attached.  I'm fine if you

19      move forward with this one.  Excited about this role."

20 A.   Yes.

21 Q.   And tell us what the attachment is to the email?

22 A.   It is a Track Changes version of this chief

23      integration officer position description.
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1 Q.   What is your understanding of who made these edits to

2      the CIO job description?

3 A.   Dr. Khaldun.

4 Q.   And when she says in her email to you, "I am fine if

5      you move forward with this one," what did you

6      understand her to mean?

7 A.   To process this paperwork through SEMHA.

8 Q.   Let me show you what I'm going to mark as Exhibit 6 to

9      your testimony.

10                 (Exhibit No. 6 was marked

11                 for identification.)

12 BY MS. PORTER:

13 Q.   Let's do the top one first.  It's an October 3rd email

14      at 10:51 a.m. from you to Dr. Khaldun where you say

15      this looks great, I'll stamp it with your signature

16      and submit to SEMHA.  What are you referring to there?

17 A.   That I would process the paperwork as I had done all

18      other documents through SEMHA.

19 Q.   Are you referring to the revised job description that

20      she had just sent you?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   And then later that day if we look at the email from

23      the bottom, there is an email from you to Tim Lawther.
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1      Remind us who he is and what his job was at that time?

2 A.   I believe he was still the chief operating officer.

3 Q.   And you say, "Hi, Tim.  Please see the PD attached.

4      Let me know if you have any questions, comments or

5      concerns."  And were you sending him that same CIO job

6      description?

7 A.   Yes.

8 Q.   Why were you sending this to Tim Lawther?

9 A.   Because he had the authority to process the documents

10      through SEMHA.

11 Q.   What is your understanding of what he was going to do

12      with the position description that you sent him?

13 A.   Process it through SEMHA.

14                 (Exhibit No. 7 was marked

15                 for identification.)

16 BY MS. PORTER:

17 Q.   I'm showing you what we're marking as Exhibit 7.

18      Let's do the top one first.  October 3, 2017, at 6:42

19      p.m.  you're sending the same CIO description to

20      Zaundra Wimberley, is that right?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   Who is Ms. Wimberley?

23 A.   She was the operations administrator I believe.  Yes.
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1                 MS. HA:  For SEMHA?

2                 THE WITNESS:  For the City of Detroit.

3      Well, she works at SEMHA, but, yes, at the Health

4      Department.  So in a similar type of role as I was,

5      but she worked with Tim Lawther.  She did not work for

6      SEMHA specifically.

7                 MS. HA:  Okay.

8 BY MS. PORTER:

9 Q.   So the email says, "I just met with Tim for our

10      regularly scheduled one-on-one, and he asked me to

11      share my PD with him for a final review.  I'm not sure

12      if he's submitting my PD or if he will instruct you to

13      submit the PD on behalf of him.  Either way, I've

14      attached my PD to this email."  Why did you send this

15      to Ms. Wimberley?

16 A.   One of her roles that she was taking on was processing

17      some of the paperwork as well, and ensuring that

18      positions align, competencies match the proper level,

19      and she was kind of the keeper of the positions

20      in-house.

21 Q.   Okay.  So I want to be very, very clear.  Here we are

22      October 3rd of 2017.  At that specific point in time,

23      Ms. Djelaj, were you the person who had a heavy hand
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1      in drafting the position title for CIO?

2 A.   Yes.

3 Q.   And at that particular point in time did you think

4      that you were the person who was going to be placed in

5      that title?

6 A.   Yes.

7 Q.   At that particular point in time did you think that it

8      was going to be competitive, that you were going to

9      have to apply for it?

10 A.   No.

11 Q.   At that particular point in time did you think there

12      was any risk that someone else might get the job?

13 A.   No.

14 Q.   At that particular point in time what was your

15      understanding of Dr. Khaldun's intentions with respect

16      to the CIO role?

17 A.   That she would process it as we had discussed through

18      SEMHA and hire me in that position.

19 Q.   Okay.  Now let's look at the bottom of Exhibit 7.  We

20      have an October 23rd, 2017 email from Dr. Khaldun to

21      you and Mr. Lawther, is that right?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   And it says communications position is the subject
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1      matter.  And she says, "Hi, Tim and Val.  Thanks for

2      moving forward these PDs."  Let me stop there.  What

3      is your understanding of what was happening at that

4      time with respect to position descriptions for the

5      communications jobs?

6 A.   I had drafted two new position descriptions for the

7      communications position or department within the

8      Health Department, and again those were two people

9      that had worked similar to me, funded through SEMHA or

10      through the administration budget, and their positions

11      and their responsibilities were increasing.  So I

12      drafted additional position descriptions to account

13      for the needs of the department.  This was followup.

14 Q.   Okay.  At the end of that first sentence Dr. Khaldun

15      says, "I would like all three people to be appointed

16      to their roles Monday, October 30th, if possible."

17 A.   Yes.

18 Q.   What did you understand her to mean by that?

19 A.   There were three positions, excuse me.  One person did

20      not take the job, so that is why I forgot.  But, yes,

21      that she wanted these people to be appointed through

22      SEMHA as we had done before.

23 Q.   Okay.  Then she says, "Val, I need to discuss your
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1      role.  Because it is so integrated with organizational

2      development with the City, we are unable to push it

3      forward as is through SEMHA, but we have a plan.

4      Let's talk offline."  Do you see that?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   Now, do you specifically recall receiving this email

7      October 23, 2017 or thereabouts?

8 A.   I do recall.  I was out of town at a restorative

9      practices conference, and I received the email while

10      there, and I was really shocked by it.

11 Q.   At the time that you first received it, did you know

12      what that meant?

13 A.   No, not exactly.  I really didn't understand what it

14      meant at all.

15 Q.   Did a time come when you had the opportunity to

16      discuss this with Dr. Khaldun?

17 A.   Yes.  The following week we had our regularly

18      scheduled one-on-one, and that's where she told me

19      that the CIO position would no longer be processed

20      through SEMHA, and that the special associate position

21      would no longer exist at SEMHA either.  And that in

22      order to, you know, ensure equitable opportunity, that

23      this position would be posted, and that I would have
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1      to apply for that position.

2 Q.   And when you say the position would have to be posted,

3      what do you mean?

4 A.   The chief integration officer position.

5 Q.   So the special associate position that you were in at

6      the time was going to be eliminated?

7 A.   Yes.

8 Q.   And the CIO position that you thought you were going

9      to get was going to be posted?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   What did she tell you that meant, that it would be

12      posted?

13 A.   That it would be posted, and then there would be an

14      opportunity for me to apply just as anyone else.  And

15      she made it very clear at that meeting that the

16      position was not mine, and that it wasn't something

17      that was appointed, and that I would have to, you

18      know, apply just as anyone else.

19 Q.   When you say she made it very clear, what do you mean

20      by that?

21 A.   I remember vividly, because I had such an emotional

22      reaction to it.  She had said that city processes are

23      different from SEMHA, and that it would need to be
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1      fair for everyone, and in order to do that, this is

2      what -- this is the process we had to take.  And I

3      just remember leaving that meeting with tears in my

4      eyes, because I didn't feel like I had a job or I

5      didn't know what the next steps were.

6 Q.   In the immediate aftermath of that discussion, what

7      did you do?

8 A.   I tried to carry on with my day, but luckily it was

9      toward the end of the day.  And when I went home, I

10      brought up my resumé and I started updating it.

11 Q.   Why did you do that?

12 A.   Because I felt as though I needed to -- it was my time

13      to move on from the Health Department.

14 Q.   Tell us why?

15 A.   I felt that the entire process was abrupt, and that I

16      was concerned about job security.  I had a family at

17      home.  I was newly married, but I had been my sister's

18      guardian.  So I had a teenager at home who was going

19      to be going to college soon.  You know, we had a

20      graduation, all these things, and I didn't feel secure

21      in my current job.

22 Q.   This teenager you're talking about, that's your

23      sister?
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1 A.   Yes.

2 Q.   Were you financially responsible for her at the time?

3 A.   Yes.

4 Q.   Other than Dr. Khaldun, is there anyone else that you

5      spoke with about the fact that this was now going to

6      be a competitive process?

7 A.   I did speak to Tim Lawther about it as well, because

8      we had regular supervision sessions as well.  And he

9      just mentioned that it had to be -- again, you know, I

10      was asking about the process and why it was happening,

11      and they really didn't -- either one of them didn't

12      really explain much to me, but Tim again very

13      specifically said, you know, this needs to be a fair

14      and competitive process.  This position is not going

15      to be offered to you just because, you know, you felt

16      it was through SEMHA, this is going to be an open and

17      competitive position and it can't be promised to

18      anyone.

19 Q.   Did you have any doubt about that at all at that time?

20 A.   What do you mean?  I'm sorry.

21 Q.   Was there any question in your mind as of -- you know,

22      after this October 23rd, 2017 time frame that this was

23      going to be a competitive process?
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1 A.   No, it was my understanding that it was going to be a

2      competitive process.  And I was actually -- I mean, I

3      was concerned about that, because I was still fairly,

4      you know, young in my professional career, and I

5      thought that someone with years of experience could

6      come in and do this work as well, and it frightened

7      me.  But Tim made it clear, Dr. Khaldun made it clear.

8      What wasn't clear to me was when it would happen.

9      They kept saying as soon as possible, but I stopped

10      asking because I was afraid that my position as

11      special associate would go away any day.

12 Q.   Let's turn back to the special associate work.  So you

13      know the CIO job is going to be posted at some future

14      time.  Did you continue on in your work as special

15      associate?

16 A.   Yes and no.  I continued on in the work I was doing,

17      which was essentially the work of the CIO.  So in the

18      interim of not having a CIO through the City of

19      Detroit, someone had to do this work, someone had to

20      prepare the memos for council, someone had to do this.

21      And I didn't want to lose my job in the process, so I

22      continued to do the work.

23 Q.   Okay.  Let me show you what we'll mark as Exhibit 8 to
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1      your testimony.

2                 (Exhibit No. 8 was marked

3                 for identification.)

4                 MS. BENTLEY:  Was it your understanding

5      that if you didn't receive the CIO position, that you

6      would no longer work for the Health Department?

7 A.   Yes, because that's happened before.  There are

8      multiple examples of that happening.

9 BY MS. PORTER:

10 Q.   Before we look at Exhibit 8, why don't you give the

11      examples that you're thinking of.

12 A.   The director of nursing is one that comes to me

13      immediately.  Recently we had that happen actually

14      with our Ryan White HIV programming.  And if grants

15      run out at the Health Department as well, whether it's

16      SEMHA or city, staff no longer had positions.  So it

17      happens all the time.

18 Q.   Now we're looking at Exhibit 8 to your testimony,

19      which is a memo dated October 25, 2017 where

20      Mr. Lawther is asking that a salary increase from

21      80,000 to 95,000 be processed for you.  Do you see

22      that?

23 A.   Yes.
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1 Q.   And it says the budget is sufficient to accommodate

2      the salary per the finance manager, and then there is

3      a little scribble there, right?

4 A.   Yes.

5 Q.   At that time who was Joseph Mutebi, M-u-t-e-b-i?

6 A.   The finance manager.

7 Q.   For what?

8 A.   The City of Detroit Health Department, but really

9      funded through ODFS, the finance department.

10 Q.   And when we look a little further down, it describes

11      you as a SEMHA employee, right?

12 A.   Correct.

13 Q.   And it's talking there is not going to be a change in

14      your position, just a change in your salary?

15 A.   Correct.

16 Q.   And was it your understanding at this time that this

17      was a salary increase that was being paid through

18      SEMHA?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   For the special associate position?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   Was it your understanding that if you didn't get the

23      CIO position, that you would just stay on as special
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1      associate at $95,000?

2 A.   No, the position would be removed.

3 Q.   What is your understanding of why you were getting a

4      salary increase at this time?

5 A.   Because of the increased responsibility that was

6      happening.  I was working 60 to 80 hours a week

7      creating materials at 11:00, 12:00 p.m. or a.m.  I was

8      supervising additional staff, I was doing -- I was

9      just doing a significant amount of work with increased

10      responsibility.

11 Q.   Now, my understanding -- you can turn that one over.

12                 MS. HA:  Can I just ask one question about

13      this Exhibit 8?

14                 So if I'm listening correctly, it's your

15      understanding that your position as the special

16      associate director position was going to be eliminated

17      by SEMHA, correct?

18 A.   Correct.

19                 MS. HA:  So when you received this memo,

20      was it your understanding that your position was going

21      to be eliminated?

22 A.   Yes.

23                 MS. HA:  It just strikes me as odd that you



11/22/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 69

1      could still get a pay increase for the same position,

2      but it's going to be eliminated.

3 A.   Yes, it was.

4                 MS. HA:  Didn't it strike odd to you?

5 A.   Yes and no.  We had been talking about my increased

6      responsibility, and so it didn't seem odd to get the

7      increase, the raise.  The title seemed irrelevant to

8      me.  I knew that I was doing increased work.  So that

9      is what I was focused on.  And honestly I felt it was

10      well-deserved, and especially if I wasn't going on to

11      move on to the next position, which at that time I was

12      considering not even applying for the CIO position.  I

13      thought it was warranted because of all the additional

14      work I was doing.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  At the time you received the

16      pay increase, did they give you any kind of indication

17      as to what the time frame would be before the position

18      was eliminated?

19 A.   They said as soon as possible, but it had been my

20      experience that because of all the drafting of, you

21      know, position descriptions and how long HR has taken

22      historically through the city, I was assuming that it

23      was going to take a while.



11/22/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 70

1 BY MS. PORTER:

2 Q.   So let's pick up right there.  My understanding is

3      that the CIO job was ultimately posted by the City of

4      Detroit around February of 2018.  Does that sound

5      about right?

6 A.   That sounds about right.

7 Q.   Did you play any role at all in causing that position

8      to be posted?

9 A.   No.

10 Q.   Once the position had moved from being a SEMHA job to

11      being a job offered by the City of Detroit, did you

12      have any role in revising or updating the job

13      description?

14 A.   No.  And as I mentioned before, SEMHA employees -- the

15      City of Detroit, the recruiters at the Human Resources

16      Department, they wouldn't even talk to SEMHA

17      employees.  There was a very strict -- I mean, they

18      would -- we could email them all day long, but most of

19      the time they we would say we can't talk to you or

20      just ignore our emails, because they were two separate

21      HR processes, and there had been some sort of

22      litigation between SEMHA and the city in the past, and

23      they didn't want to go down that road again.
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1 Q.   That was your understanding?

2 A.   That was my understanding.  And there was a rumor -- I

3      don't think it was just a rumor.  I think it actually

4      happened.  I don't know the details, though.

5 Q.   We talked before about City of Detroit job

6      classifications, and the fact that the CIO job that

7      was ultimately posted was posted as a PHDA, right?

8 A.   Correct.

9 Q.   Did you do that?

10 A.   No.

11 Q.   Were you any part of that decision-making process?

12 A.   No.

13 Q.   Before the job was publically posted, did you even see

14      how the City of Detroit had changed the job

15      description that you had written?

16 A.   No.

17 Q.   Once the CIO job was posted, did you immediately apply

18      for it?

19 A.   No.

20 Q.   Why not?

21 A.   Again, I didn't feel at the start that it was the

22      right move for me job-security wise.  I had to

23      consider my family.  I had to have a serious
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1      conversation with my husband and my sister and see

2      where I needed to go next.  I was looking for other

3      places of employment at the time.  I didn't find

4      anything that spoke to me the same way that I felt the

5      CIO position did.  So ultimately the day before the

6      posting went down, I applied.  And I know that because

7      I went I logged in the next day, and the posting was

8      gone.  I just wanted to make sure everything in my

9      application looked good and that I didn't -- I don't

10      know, you just sometimes want to double check things,

11      and the next day I noticed that the posting was gone.

12      So I really waited to the last minute.

13 Q.   You talked some about considering your family in

14      making this decision.  Were there any differences

15      between what the job would have been under SEMHA and

16      what it was going to be under City of Detroit that

17      made you think about your family?

18 A.   Well, I had been spending a lot of time away from my

19      family for this work.  I knew that financially it

20      would be great, but I was concerned about the amount

21      of stress that I would be under.  I was concerned

22      about job security again.  And I just -- I didn't feel

23      like I could trust the system.
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1 Q.   Okay.  Let me talk for a minute -- before we talk

2      about your interview for the job, let me talk a little

3      bit about what was happening before you ultimately got

4      the CIO job.  So between October 2017 when you and

5      Dr. Khaldun are talking about this job description and

6      March 2018, were there times that Dr. Khaldun referred

7      to you as her chief integration officer or her acting

8      chief integration officer?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   Did you understand there to be anything wrong with

11      that?

12 A.   No, because it was my experience, and it's still my

13      experience, that people at the City of Detroit and at

14      SEMHA operate in functional titles.

15 Q.   Even before you worked for the City of Detroit or

16      anything associated with the City of Detroit, have you

17      experienced anything like that in your career before?

18 A.   Yes, at Wayne State.  That's a very common practice.

19 Q.   Explain your experience with that?

20 A.   Yes.  So at Wayne State numerous positions are hired

21      or are posted through their website, through their

22      system, and I don't know what the percentage is, but a

23      good amount of the positions are either research
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1      assistants or research associates.  And then when

2      you -- you know, and then there is that actual title,

3      and then the functional title that, you know, you

4      function in every day.  So, for example, my

5      Linkage-to-Care coordinator position, it even says

6      slash research position, because, yes, legally and on

7      paper research assistant, but if I told my clients

8      that are 13 and newly diagnosed with HIV, hi, I'm a

9      research assistant, that doesn't resonate with them,

10      that doesn't mean anything to them.  Actually even the

11      title Linkage-to-Care coordinator, I'm not sure if it

12      meant something to them, I had to explain it.  But the

13      idea was that I'm coordinating your linkage, I'm

14      getting you the care.  And so that made more sense,

15      and that is what I functioned in.  I never wrote

16      research assistant in my signature or anything like

17      that.  And the same thing goes for the study

18      coordinator position.  You know, research assistant is

19      what -- because it was a community-based participatory

20      research, but I was a coordinator of that coalition

21      and that study.

22 Q.   And were you the only person doing that?

23 A.   No, every -- everyone I worked with did that except
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1      for the -- actually, no, they would have, too.  They

2      were research associates.  The PIs, the principle

3      investigators in the city were also research

4      assistants.

5 Q.   And just because lots of people do something doesn't

6      mean it's okay, but did you think there was something

7      wrong?

8 A.   No, I thought it was common practice.  I didn't think

9      it was wrong.

10 Q.   You mentioned that this was also something you had

11      experienced at City of Detroit and SEMHA.  I want to

12      show you what we're marking as Exhibit 9 to your

13      testimony.

14                 (Exhibit No. 9 was marked

15                 for identification.)

16 BY MS. PORTER:

17 Q.   Now, Exhibit 9 consists of some examples that you

18      pulled together, recent emails from a variety of

19      people at the City of Detroit using functional titles,

20      is that right?

21 A.   Correct.

22 Q.   Let's march through them.  The first one, Aimee Surma,

23      her email identifies her as program manager, Lead
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1      Intervention and Prevention.  In your understanding is

2      that her actual title with the City of Detroit?

3 A.   In my understanding and in my records from the most

4      recent documentation from our former deputy director,

5      Tim Lawther, and SEMHA, her title is nurse program

6      lead.

7 Q.   And what is her understanding why she might use the

8      title program manager, Lead Intervention and

9      Prevention, instead of the actual title that she's

10      classified under for the City of Detroit?

11 A.   So this would be a SEMHA position.

12 Q.   I'm sorry, SEMHA.

13 A.   That's all right.  There are multiple reasons.  Some

14      reasons, and I'm not saying this is the example for

15      Aimee, but some reasons are that individuals or

16      supervisors hadn't caught up with paperwork, you know,

17      we had again hired people overnight and brought back

18      entire programs.  Some other reasons are that.  You

19      know, salary ranges were different.  Other reasons are

20      like she's using this title specifically so that it

21      could distinguish herself from the other lead manager

22      we have, so hers specifically says intervention and

23      prevention, and she you oversees the budget and the
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1      staffing for this program.

2 Q.   Below that we see Latrice Johnson who is in her email

3      using the title Vision and Hearing program manager.

4      What is the actual title?

5 A.   Team lead.

6 Q.   And is that through SEMHA or City of Detroit?

7 A.   SEMHA.

8 Q.   If we turn the page, Kanzoni Asabigi?

9 A.   Yes.

10 Q.   Mr. Asabigi is using the title senior public advisor.

11      What do you understand his actual title to be?

12 A.   Public health division administrator.

13 Q.   And is that with SEMHA or City of Detroit?

14 A.   City of Detroit.

15 Q.   The one below that is Yolanda Hill-Ashford, who lists

16      her title in her email as director of Family and

17      Community Health.  What do you understand her actual

18      title to be with City of Detroit?

19 A.   Public Health Division administrator, and I believe

20      she's the Healthier Maternity subclass.

21 Q.   If we turn the --

22                 MS. HA:  She's a City of Detroit employee,

23      right, not SEMHA?
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1 A.   City of Detroit, yes.  Both of those on that page are

2      City of Detroit.

3 BY MS. PORTER:

4 Q.   On Page 3 of Exhibit 9, Adaora Ezike is using the

5      title Trauma and Behavioral Health manager.  What is

6      Ms. Ezike's actual title?

7 A.   Public Health project leader.

8 Q.   Shirley Gray is using the title manager, Sister

9      Friends, Detroit.  What do you understand her actual

10      title to be?

11 A.   Public Health Division administrator.

12 Q.   And then on the last page at the byline David Bowser

13      is using a title human services manager.  What do you

14      understand his title to be?

15 A.   David Bowser at the time was Public Health project

16      leader.  He was recently promoted to Public Health

17      Division administrator.

18 Q.   Did you think that these folks were doing anything

19      wrong in using functional titles?

20 A.   No.

21 Q.   Is this a rampant problem where people are just

22      calling themselves the wrong thing, or at least in

23      your understanding is something different going on?
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1 A.   It's -- yes.  No one just makes up their own title.

2      It is something that internally within the department

3      itself is approved by a senior leader, and it is

4      something that helps the public better resonate or it

5      helps, you know, with that relationship with the

6      public and also with staff.  And again it happens for

7      multiple reasons.  As the needs of the department have

8      changed rapidly -- I mean, David Bowser is a good one.

9      For example, we are picking up and creating a human

10      services division now at the Health Department, and he

11      is now the human services director.  So as

12      responsibilities enhance and the needs of the

13      department change and grants come in, and -- you know,

14      it makes sense to changes the roles with that.

15                 MS. BENTLEY:  How did you know what their

16      legal title was versus the functional title for these

17      individuals?

18 A.   Right.  So as the -- in my current role I'm part of

19      the senior leadership team, so I have access to that

20      information.

21                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  I just have a quick

22      question.  You mentioned that when they used these

23      functional titles, these are based on either the
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1      program that they're overseeing.  You also stated that

2      the senior leaders approve them using that?

3 A.   Yes.  Someone at some point has to approve it.  You

4      can't just like appoint yourself your own title.  So

5      it goes up the chain of command.

6                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  So I just wanted to

7      understand that your testimony was that when they used

8      these functional titles, that they are approved by the

9      senior leaders?

10 A.   The senior leaders in the department, correct.  But

11      there is no formal paperwork to have that title, so

12      that's --

13                 MS. PORTER:  And I think it's important to

14      note, I don't think that you guys would take it this

15      way, but Ms. Djelaj is not accusing anybody else of

16      wrongdoing.

17                 MS. HA:  No, no.

18                 MS. PORTER:  She's not explaining.

19                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  I understand.

20                 MS. PORTER:  She's just providing some

21      context.

22                 MS. HA:  Can I ask a question?

23                 MS. PORTER:  Of course.
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1                 MS. HA:  Going back to Exhibit 8, when you

2      received a raise through SEMHA, it's dated

3      October 25th, 2017.  What functional title, if any,

4      did you have with the Health Department at this point

5      in time?

6 A.   I'd have to look at my notes.  I know I did not change

7      after reviewing everything after our session, I know I

8      did not change my email signature until after the new

9      year.  So I would have probably still been under

10      special associate.  I'm not sure if Dr. Khaldun

11      started referring to me as that at that time or not.

12      Again it was more so special associate didn't resonate

13      with people throughout the City as well as throughout

14      the community, it didn't mean anything, and so it

15      wasn't something that they understood, so she would

16      kind of explain that.

17                 MS. HA:  So who would or actually who gave

18      you the functional title of chief information -- I'm

19      sorry, chief integration officer?

20 A.   Dr. Khaldun.

21                 MS. HA:  Dr. Khaldun.  Do you know about

22      what time period?

23 A.   I don't.  I know there was conversation after the New
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1      Year.  Again, I was doing all the responsibilities, so

2      she had said, you know, in the interim you can do

3      this.

4                 MS. HA:  And it was before the chief

5      integration officer was posted through the City of

6      Detroit Human Resources Department?

7 A.   Correct.  And again that's without a guarantee that I

8      would be able to fill that role, but just that there

9      was be someone in the interim doing that.

10                 Another example of us doing that was the

11      animal control director.  We had an interim director

12      for quite some time in animal control, and she was

13      just functioning as the animal control director for I

14      think almost a year actually.

15                 MS. HA:  Okay.

16 BY MS. PORTER:

17 Q.   That's exactly what I wanted to follow up on as well.

18      So in that time before the job was posted, there was a

19      time period when with Dr. Khaldun's permission you

20      were using that CIO title?

21 A.   Correct.

22 Q.   Did you think you were doing something wrong in doing

23      that?
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1 A.   No.

2 Q.   Were you trying to claim that job as yours?

3 A.   No.

4 Q.   Were you trying to intimidate anyone to prevent them

5      from applying for the job?

6 A.   No.

7 Q.   I mean, at this point you knew it was going to be

8      posted, right?

9 A.   Correct.

10 Q.   Were you trying to say, you know, this is mine, keep

11      your hands off?

12 A.   No.

13 Q.   Why were you doing it?

14 A.   I was doing it because I was being told, and I was

15      doing my work as I felt I needed to do my work.

16                 MS. HA:  Did you ever ask Dr. Khaldun why

17      she would give you the functional title of chief

18      integration officer, and yet she would post the

19      position where you would have to apply like everybody

20      else?

21 A.   No.  I don't believe I ever asked it point blankly

22      like that.  I think it just seemed like common

23      practice, so it didn't seem that odd.  Again, the
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1      animal control director was doing the same thing.  I

2      just thought this is the way things operate at the

3      Health Department.  Again, I came from Wayne State,

4      which was very odd as well with functional titles.  So

5      I didn't look into this too much.  Again, I was

6      working 60 to 80 hours a week.  I didn't have time to

7      think about positions, titles.  I cared about, oh, we

8      have a Hepatitis A outbreak, we have this, we have

9      this due, a mayor meeting in the morning.  I know

10      maybe other people would think about that, but I guess

11      titles just didn't seem important.

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  So when you got the salary

13      increase on October 25th, it was basically I believe

14      from your testimony that you were essentially doing

15      the CIO job functions.  So was there -- I'm sorry, is

16      that correct?

17 A.   Correct.

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  I shouldn't assume.  And was

19      there any discussion at that time to change your

20      functional title to reflect what it was that you were

21      doing and what you were being paid for?

22 A.   No.  Honestly I don't think we had the conversation

23      until right before the holiday, if not right at the
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1      New Year or the day we came back or something, because

2      she had referred to me as CIO in an email, and I

3      remembered just thinking, oh, okay, so this is

4      happening as, you know, an interim kind of thing, and

5      that's fine, just as we're doing with the animal

6      control and just as we're doing with whatever other

7      divisions we had.  I think we changed like Healthier

8      Maternity to whatever Yolanda's position is now.  So I

9      just thought it was common practice, and then that was

10      her official sign on, but I was still anticipating,

11      you know, when the position would be posted, and if I

12      wanted to apply for it.

13                 So I didn't change my signature until

14      months later, because I kept hearing as soon as

15      possible, as soon as possible.  So I just assumed, oh,

16      I don't want to make any assumptions, I don't want to

17      jump to conclusions, I don't want to -- you know, I

18      don't want anyone to misinterpret what I'm doing.  But

19      then months after I felt, okay, if she's referring to

20      me as this, and in my email signature I'm saying

21      something else, how silly does that sound when I'm

22      responding to an email thread and I have a different

23      signature and she's calling me something different.  I
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1      thought it looked a little inconsistent.  So I do

2      remember just having a conversation and saying is this

3      what you want me to do, and she's like, yes, until the

4      position is posted.  And I don't remember like when

5      about we had it, I just felt like -- it didn't seem

6      like a significant conversation.

7 BY MS. PORTER:

8 Q.   And to be very clear -- I'm sorry.

9                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  I do have another

10      question.  I'm just trying to understand.  I know that

11      you stated that you found out that the position was

12      going to be posted.  Did she say anything about the

13      funding being paid for that position, was it coming

14      out of another funding?

15 A.   I don't know if she said it.  I think we say stuff

16      around the Health Department a lot like, oh, it's

17      general funds or, oh, it's SEMHA.  That's usually the

18      two buckets we say.  I don't remember if they

19      specifically said that.  I just know we say it very

20      loosely at the Health Department, because there really

21      are only two buckets.  There are multiple foundations

22      that fund us as well, but those are usually very

23      significant, like we make those very clear.  So it's
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1      either SEMHA or general funds.  I don't think we even

2      say city, I think we say general funds.

3                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  Because I was just

4      trying to understand, you know, your apprehension as

5      far as applying for the position.  So, you know, I

6      hate to assume.  So even though we knew it was going

7      to be another position, we just knew that it wasn't

8      going through SEMHA, it was going through the city?

9 A.   Yes.

10                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  The other question I

11      had was with the position, did she say that it was

12      going to be up under another supervisor, or was it

13      still going to be up under Dr. Khaldun?

14 A.   At some point she mentioned having -- and I can't

15      remember -- Tim Lawther changed his position multiple

16      times.  He was the chief of staff, and then he wasn't,

17      and then she kind of rethought what she wanted chief

18      of staff to do.  And she had mentioned that she wanted

19      her senior leadership team to report to a chief of

20      staff, but I can't remember the exact timeline.  I

21      don't think that was before the position.  But

22      eventually I did report to the chief of staff and I

23      did not report to Dr. Khaldun, but that was after I
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1      applied for and received the chief integration officer

2      position.

3                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  And was the chief

4      integration officer, was it still being up under the

5      same department the same responsibilities as what you

6      were doing now as interim?

7 A.   That was my understanding.

8                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  So basically if you

9      decided to apply for the position, it was really just

10      doing exactly what you were doing?

11 A.   Well, exactly what I was doing, but I guess more

12      regularly.  So there was some administrative work that

13      I was doing as special associate that an additional

14      person was taking on, so writing some memos and

15      writing Dr. Khaldun -- like ghostwriting for

16      Dr. Khaldun for her newsletter and things of that

17      nature.  It would be more focusing on that fiscal

18      management and budgetary kind of responsibility for

19      the programming and braiding and launching

20      programming.

21                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  I was just trying to

22      understand exactly what the difference was, and it

23      just sounded to me like the difference was just that
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1      it was going through the City of Detroit and not

2      through SEMHA and being directly appointed, and that

3      was the reason why you were taking the time to

4      consider whether or not you wanted to apply for the

5      position since it wasn't --

6 A.   Yes.

7                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  Okay.

8 A.   But I do want to say again that, yes, that piece I

9      definitely didn't -- it wasn't the sticking point for

10      me, because so many other positions were like that.  I

11      knew other positions.  There were rumors about funding

12      and funding going away, and us not being able to

13      balance our budget, and I don't know where they

14      started exactly, but it was -- and actually I think it

15      was the bankruptcy, so people just constantly feared

16      us closing one day.  But I knew that or I felt I heard

17      enough that I knew that positions were moving to the

18      city.  So whether it was the exact same position or a

19      different position as the organization evolved, that

20      was common, so I didn't really think about it that

21      much.

22                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  Okay.

23 BY MS. PORTER:
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1 Q.   Just to sort of sum up this part, and then we'll move

2      on, is it fair to say that between October 2017 and

3      March 2018, so during that time frame it's clear that

4      Dr. Khaldun wants there to be a CIO.  She now knows it

5      can't be done through SEMHA, it's going to have to be

6      done through City of Detroit.  That much is clear,

7      right?

8 A.   Right.

9 Q.   But also during that time frame that integration work

10      and responsibility still needed to be performed,

11      right?

12 A.   Right.

13 Q.   And you were the person doing it?

14 A.   Right.

15 Q.   And so when you got that raise in October of 2017,

16      that was SEMHA funds, right?

17 A.   Right.

18 Q.   And so from October 2017 through March of 2018, you're

19      being paid through SEMHA funds and using a functional

20      title to do the CIO job, right?

21 A.   Correct.

22 Q.   And then March 2018 is when the interviews for the

23      position happened?
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1 A.   Correct.

2 Q.   And at some point after that somebody is going to be

3      the official CIO being paid by City of Detroit, not by

4      SEMHA?

5 A.   Yes.

6 Q.   So that whole raise that you got and all that, that

7      goes away and somebody is going to be CIO?

8 A.   Right.

9 Q.   I just want to be sure that was clear on the record.

10 A.   Yes.

11                 MS. HA:  Can I just ask also how these

12      raises are triggered at SEMHA?  Because it seems like

13      you got a raise on March 23rd, 2017, that's Exhibit 2,

14      and then the next raise, at least based on the record

15      presented here, was on October 25th, 2017, so that's

16      about what, seven months?

17 A.   Mm-hmm, yes.

18                 MS. HA:  And in that seven months -- your

19      first increase on March 23rd was a 14.28571 percent

20      increase, it went from 70,000 to 80,000.  Then on

21      October 25, to be effective October 16, your increase

22      in pay was 18.75 percent, and your salary from $80,000

23      went up to $95,000?



11/22/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 92

1 A.   Correct.

2                 MS. HA:  What triggers these raises?

3 A.   So at SEMHA up until recently, nothing.  I'm going to

4      be frank, just staff talking to their supervisors.

5      One of the policies that I helped draft with our

6      interim health officer just recently was a salary

7      approval memo, salary adjustment memo and SOP, because

8      what I was finding while doing this integration work

9      is managers and directors that have been working for

10      the Health Department for X amount of years were just

11      adding raises for themselves in their budget or their

12      staff with no justification.  So that was something

13      that I actually informed our health director at the

14      time.  And then it took a while to develop the

15      policies.  But we actually have one in place.  Staff

16      are actually pretty upset about it because they were

17      just used to asking for a raise and getting it with no

18      justification.  But that is something that we put into

19      place because there was no policy, and SEMHA was very

20      hands off when it came to that.

21                 MS. HA:  So how did you get your increase

22      in March and in October?

23 A.   That was without this policy, because I wasn't a
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1      member of the senior leadership team to make this

2      policy.  But I asked for it based on the amount of

3      responsibility.  Again, I was just, you know,

4      creating -- from clinical engagement coordinator, you

5      know, creating newsletters for physicians and having

6      meetings with physicians, and creating a CME program

7      and coordinating all that.  Yes, that's a lot of

8      responsibility.  But to managing directors and then

9      creating or redrafting directors reports that they

10      submitted and redoing budgets, and that was a lot more

11      responsibility, and council memos and news to the

12      mayor, the responsibility increased.  And then in

13      addition to that, I was supervising additional staff

14      as needed.  And, I mean, I even had to at some point

15      go over to animal control, and when our associate

16      director was out and our director was out, I had to go

17      and manage the staff there at a moment's notice.

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  Who did you ask for the

19      raise?

20 A.   I spoke with our -- and again I don't know, he had so

21      many titles, I think he was the chief of staff at the

22      time or the deputy director, but Tim Lawther, and

23      Dr. Khaldun.  But Tim Lawther managed our budget, so
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1      he knew what was allowable and what was not.  I first

2      had a conversation with Dr. Khaldun and asked, you

3      know, can I have this conversation with him, and then

4      she allowed it.  And then she would make the final

5      approval.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  Thank you.

7                 MS. HA:  Thank you.

8 BY MS. PORTER:

9 Q.   Great.  Why don't we move forward to talking about

10      your interview for the CIO job.

11 A.   Okay.

12 Q.   Did you prepare for the interview?

13 A.   Yes.

14 Q.   How did you prepare for the interview?

15 A.   I prepared probably more than I've ever prepared for

16      any interview, and I, you know, researched questions

17      online.  I did a couple of mock interviews with my

18      husband, with my aunt.  I had -- I lost a lot of

19      sleep.  I ensured I was wearing the property attire.

20      I mean, I looked up everything.  I did everything I

21      could to prepare and think through every question and

22      possibility that would be asked.

23 Q.   Why did you do that?
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1 A.   Again, I knew if I didn't have the job, I would -- my

2      position as special associate would go away.  I

3      finally made a decision to commit to the City of

4      Detroit, and I was afraid of someone with again, you

5      know, years of experience coming in and being able to

6      do the work.  I still felt pretty confident that I

7      would get the position, but again, I knew it would be

8      a large pool.  I know the City of Detroit is a coveted

9      place to work, and, you know, people want to come

10      here, so I was concerned that we would have -- I would

11      have very high competition.

12 Q.   And why did you feel confident that you would get it?

13 A.   Well, I felt that -- I mean, I was already doing the

14      work, so it would make sense.  But, you know, I had

15      spoken to Tim Lawther in one of my supervision

16      sessions with him, and he made a remark, it was a

17      joke, but I didn't take it as such.  He said, you

18      know -- or maybe it wasn't a joke, I'm not sure.  But

19      he said we have really steep competition you know.

20      People have been applying from around the world.  And

21      that made me nervous.  And so I was very stressed.  It

22      was a lot.

23 Q.   And did you have any access one way or another to who
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1      applied?  Did you have any idea?

2 A.   No.

3 Q.   Did you know how many people applied?

4 A.   No.

5 Q.   To this day do you know how many people applied?

6 A.   No.

7 Q.   Where was your interview?

8 A.   It was at the administration building.

9 Q.   Who was present during your interview?

10 A.   Tamara Tarrance, Dr. Khaldun, and Alexis Adams-Wynn.

11 Q.   Who is Ms. Adams-Wynn?

12 A.   She is the executive -- I don't know her title.

13      Excuse me, I think she operates in a functional title.

14      She is executive associate I believe to the health

15      officer.

16 Q.   What is your understanding of why she was present

17      during the interview?

18 A.   Because if the CIO was kind of an extension of the

19      health officer, she was also that.  It also was my

20      understanding that a City of Detroit employee had to

21      be on the panel with Dr. Khaldun, and we had a very

22      small leadership team at the time, and she was one of

23      the only people that were available to be frank.  And
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1      I don't know if -- just for the room -- as the City of

2      Detroit Health Department kind of grows, again I

3      mentioned that there are -- there is interest in

4      moving staff from SEMHA to the city.  And so at one

5      point when I first started I think it was a 25/75

6      split, with 75 percent being SEMHA employees.  Now

7      we're closer to 50/50.  So it was -- it's much easier

8      to get other individuals for the panel.

9                 MS. HA:  How do you know that you were

10      functioning as the chief integration officer for the

11      City of Detroit Health Department?  Did you know that

12      before you applied for the actual position that was

13      posted?

14 A.   No.  I think because they mentioned it was moving

15      toward the city.

16                 MS. HA:  Yes.

17 A.   That I just assumed it was a lot of the same

18      responsibilities.  I mean, now in hindsight I can

19      easily say I was doing most of if not all of the

20      responsibilities.  But at the time I don't even know

21      if I would have said that, I wouldn't have known.  But

22      again it's so hard to say definitive dates things

23      happened.  Every day you come into work and then,
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1      okay, additional responsibility.  And it was never

2      unethical to do any of these, so I didn't ask

3      questions.  It was just, oh, this was the need, do

4      this, and then I would make sure it happened.  But

5      again in hindsight I can say, oh, yes I was doing the

6      responsibilities of the CIO.

7                 MS. HA:  So when you were applying for the

8      City of Detroit Health Department chief integration

9      officer position, you had to look at the job posting,

10      correct?

11 A.   Yes.

12                 MS. HA:  And you had to read through the

13      job description, correct?

14 A.   Correct.

15                 MS. HA:  Was it the same job description as

16      the one that you had created for SEMHA?

17 A.   To me at quick glance it did.  Maybe even the same

18      one.  To this day I have not compared them side by

19      side, so I'm not certain that they are.  Because,

20      again, I have just seen the examples we have, we have

21      two examples of the CIO position if not three.  There

22      was so many drafts that I can't remember unless I

23      compare them side by side, but I never took that time.
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1      But I knew that generally it seemed like the same

2      role.

3                 MS. HA:  Okay.

4 BY MS. PORTER:

5 Q.   About how long did the interview last?

6 A.   I think 45 minutes, maybe an hour.  I think closer to

7      45 minutes.

8 Q.   What do you recall happening during the interview?

9 A.   I remember Tamara Tarrance going through her initial

10      few questions that she asks everyone, are you a

11      resident of Detroit, are you a veteran, just the basic

12      questions, looking at my ID.  And then the group round

13      robined with questions.

14 Q.   Do you remember any of the questions?

15 A.   I remember one specifically.  Shoot.  Oh, it was tell

16      me about a time where you failed to meet a deadline.

17      And I remember this question because I used an example

18      of something that had occurred at the Health

19      Department.  And I knew I was taking a risk by using

20      this example, because it is not that it painted

21      Dr. Khaldun in a bad light, but it just showed that I

22      needed to learn how to manage up, and she needed to

23      learn how to, you know, take push back from staff.
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1      And I was really concerned about it, but I didn't have

2      a better example, so I used it and went with it.  And

3      to this day I've used it in other interviews as an

4      example, because I think it's a good example.

5 Q.   Before the interview did anybody say anything to you

6      or do anything to suggest that the interview process

7      was not going to be authentic?

8 A.   No.

9 Q.   During the actual interview process did anybody say

10      anything or do anything that made you think that the

11      interview process was not authentic?

12 A.   No.

13 Q.   After the interview process and after you got the job,

14      has anything happened or has anybody said anything to

15      you or indicated anything to you that made you think

16      this was a sham and was not an authentic process?

17 A.   No.

18 Q.   What do you know about how interviewees are scored in

19      interviews for City of Detroit positions?

20 A.   I've been on multiple interviews panels with Tamara

21      Tarrance, and it depends.  I've even had conversations

22      with Darryl, Tamara's supervisor.  I can't think of

23      his last name right now.  And he said each recruiter
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1      has a different process, which still doesn't make

2      sense to me, but apparently they do.  And there are

3      score sheets that are given in the interviews with

4      Tamara, and questions that are asked and agreed upon

5      before candidates or panelists take turns asking

6      questions.  They must ask the same questions to each

7      candidate.  And then each candidate or each panelist

8      scores each candidate.

9                 And then often times there is a very clear

10      high score, you can just sense it in the room, and you

11      can also -- I mean, after the last candidate leaves,

12      we debrief a bit, and usually there is a very clear,

13      definitive candidate that is selected, and then we

14      say, oh, yes that person is selected, and we turn in

15      our score sheets, and Tamara tallies it either before

16      or after.  I usually tally my own just because, I

17      don't know, I just like tallying my own, and then we

18      go from there.

19 Q.   I want to ask you about Christina Hall.  Do you know

20      who she is?

21 A.   Yes.

22 Q.   Are you familiar with her resumé?

23 A.   No.
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1 Q.   Are you familiar with her work before she worked in

2      connection with the Health Department?

3 A.   No.

4 Q.   Do you have any idea whether she has the same sort of

5      background or experience as you?

6 A.   No, I really don't.

7 Q.   Do you have personal knowledge of how she performed in

8      the CIO interview?

9 A.   No.

10 Q.   Who do you think would know that?

11 A.   I think the panelists, so the interview panelists.  So

12      Tamara would, Dr. Khaldun, and Alexis would.

13 Q.   If they were the same people who interviewed her?

14 A.   I do know that we have to have the same interview

15      panelists.  Very rarely in an emergency situation,

16      one, that is the only time that I know we swapped out

17      a panelist.  So I'm assuming -- I would have known

18      about the emergency that day because I would have

19      taken the call.

20 Q.   Okay.  How long after the interview did you learn that

21      you had been selected for the CIO position?

22 A.   Just a couple of days I believe, not a week -- yeah, a

23      couple of days.
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1 Q.   How did you learn?

2 A.   Via email.  I got an offer letter.

3 Q.   And what was your reaction?

4 A.   I think mixed emotions.  I was very excited, but again

5      in the pit of my stomach I was a little uncertain.

6      This whole process was an arduous process.  I felt --

7      I don't know, I just felt that I couldn't -- I don't

8      know.  I kind of held back from celebrating, but I was

9      excited, so I did.  I don't know.

10 Q.   Let me show you what we'll mark as Exhibit 10 to your

11      testimony.

12                 (Exhibit No. 10 was marked

13                 for identification.)

14 BY MS. PORTER:

15 Q.   Exhibit 10 is a letter dated March 28, 2018 from

16      Tamara Tarrance to you.  She says that

17      congratulations, your name has been selected from the

18      public health division administrator, and then it says

19      in parentheses, chief integration officer eligibility

20      list.  Do you remember if this is what you received,

21      or like what you received by email?

22 A.   Yes, this is the letter I received.

23 Q.   Okay.  In that first sentence or the second sentence I
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1      guess that I just read, there's a reference to public

2      health division administrator, and then it says chief

3      integration officer in parentheses.  Do you know why

4      it's described that way?

5 A.   At the time, and I am a little uncertain about it now,

6      but at the time I understood it to be a subclass of

7      the public health division administrator role.

8 Q.   Are you the person that decided that it should be

9      described that way?

10 A.   No.

11 Q.   Do you know who was?

12 A.   I'm assuming either class compensation, or a

13      combination of class compensation and our health

14      officer and Tim Lawther.  Again, I don't know his

15      title at the time, so.

16 Q.   And you said that's an assumption?

17 A.   That's an assumption.  It's just usually the

18      department head makes that decision with HR.

19 Q.   Okay.  Look with me, please, at the second page of

20      Exhibit 10.  It says at the bottom as a new employee,

21      you were required to attend new hire orientation?

22 A.   Yes.

23 Q.   That gives you a date and a time.  Did you attend new
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1      hire orientation?

2 A.   Yes.

3 Q.   Why did you do that even though you had been around

4      for a while?

5 A.   Because I knew it was mandatory, and I wanted to -- I

6      wanted to abide by the rules.

7 Q.   Okay.

8 A.   And I was hoping to learn more about the city's HR

9      process.

10                 MS. HA:  Was it your understanding that if

11      you did not get this chief integration officer

12      position with the Health Department, that you would be

13      out of a job?

14 A.   Yes.

15                 MS. HA:  Okay.

16 A.   Again it's happened before, so I knew -- not for me,

17      but for others.  So I knew that it was a possibility.

18                 MS. BENTLEY:  I'm just going to redact the

19      address again.

20                 MS. PORTER:  Thank you for being sensitive

21      to that.

22                 MS. HA:  Did you ever discuss your concern

23      about the fact that you may not have a job after the
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1      health department picked someone else?

2 A.   I did not.  Again, it was just common practice, so I

3      didn't think it was an option to be frank.  I didn't

4      think I had any wiggle room, or it seemed like the

5      decision was made, so I didn't think that that was an

6      option.

7                 MS. HA:  You mean you didn't think there

8      was an option talking to --

9 A.   I mean, I just felt it was pointless conversation.  It

10      was very clear to me that it was -- the CIO position

11      through the City of Detroit was decided that was the

12      path we were taking, and I had known of other people

13      losing their job this way.  And it didn't make sense

14      why I would be the exception.  So I just assumed this

15      was common practice.

16                 MS. HA:  So you never talked to Dr. Khaldun

17      about the possibility?

18 A.   No.

19                 MS. HA:  Okay.

20 BY MS. PORTER:

21 Q.   Not that you recall?

22 A.   Not that I recall, yes.

23                 MS. PORTER:  One of the things that I was
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1      planning to do today was going to be to introduce the

2      City of Detroit White Book which identifies the

3      various positions.  And the purpose of that would be

4      to make the point that the CIO position and the PHDA

5      position is not an appointed position, it is something

6      that had to be interviewed for.  I take it there is no

7      need to do that?

8                 MS. HA:  No.

9                 MS. PORTER:  We're going to skip that part.

10                 MS. HA:  Thank you.

11 BY MS. PORTER:

12 Q.   I do want to ask you about an issue in the draft OIG

13      report about the minimum job requirements for a PHDA

14      position.  One of the topics that arises in the draft

15      OIG report is this concept that the city had a PHDA

16      position, and that the minimum requirements for that

17      can't be changed?

18 A.   Correct.

19 Q.   Now, I understand that you're not taking a position

20      here about whether HR is doing that right or wrong,

21      but I just want to talk about your knowledge on that

22      issue for a moment.  So I want to show you what we'll

23      mark as Exhibit 11 to your testimony.
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1                 (Exhibit No. 11 was marked

2                 for identification.)

3 BY MS. PORTER:

4 Q.   What is Exhibit 11?

5 A.   It is the City of Detroit posting for the public

6      health division administrator director of operations.

7 Q.   How are you familiar with this posting?

8 A.   I believe this posting went out around the same time,

9      if not the same time, as the CIO posting.

10 Q.   And before I ask you questions about that, let me show

11      you one more which we'll mark as Exhibit 12 to your

12      testimony.

13                 (Exhibit No. 12 was marked

14                 for identification.)

15 BY MS. PORTER:

16 Q.   What is Exhibit 12?

17 A.   It is a City of Detroit posting for the public health

18      division administrator director of policy.

19 Q.   So did you have anything to do with writing either of

20      these job descriptions?

21 A.   To my recollection, no.

22 Q.   Okay.  If we look at Exhibit 11, in the section called

23      Minimum Qualifications on Page 3, this says that the



11/22/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 109

1      minimum qualifications for this PHDA position for

2      director of operations is a Master's degree in public

3      administration, business administration, public

4      health, or a related discipline, and seven or more

5      years experience managing the operations of a public

6      agency or related entity, right?

7 A.   Right.

8 Q.   And again do you recall having anything to do with

9      writing that?

10 A.   No, I don't believe so.

11 Q.   Do you know where that came from?

12 A.   I believe Tim Lawther drafted this PD, but I can be

13      for certain.

14 Q.   And in terms of minimum qualifications, do you know if

15      those were the same or different than the requirements

16      for just a standard PHDA position?

17 A.   These appear to be different.

18 Q.   And do they appear to be tailored to the job?

19 A.   Yes.

20 Q.   And if we look at Exhibit 12 to your testimony, at the

21      second page under minimum qualifications for this PHDA

22      position, it talks about having a Master's degree or

23      higher in law, sociology, public policy, economic,
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1      statistics, public health, or related discipline.  Do

2      you see that?

3 A.   Yes.

4 Q.   With three or more years of experience in an applied

5      research environment preferred?

6 A.   Mm-hmm.

7 Q.   Is that a yes?

8 A.   Yes.

9 Q.   And then it says experience working directly with

10      senior governmental officials and community

11      stakeholders required, right?

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   And does that also appear to you to be tailored to a

14      director of policy type of position?

15 A.   Yes.

16 Q.   So again not commenting on whether HR is right or

17      wrong to do this, but just in your experience, do the

18      minimum qualifications for these PHDA positions vary

19      depending on the particular job at issue?

20 A.   Yes.

21 Q.   Before this investigation, did anyone raise with you

22      the suitability of the way that City of Detroit wrote

23      or posted the CIO job description?
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1 A.   No.

2 Q.   I'm going to show you what we'll mark as Exhibit 13.

3                 (Exhibit No. 13 was marked

4                 for identification.)

5 BY MS. PORTER:

6 Q.   This is an email chain that starts on Page 3 of

7      Exhibit 13, and then an October 22, 2019 email from

8      Denise to you copying or -- I'm sorry, to Tamara

9      Tarrance copying you.  Do you see that?

10 A.   Yes.

11 Q.   And the subject of these emails is PHDA director of

12      nursing, is that right?

13 A.   Correct.

14 Q.   Just give the folks here an overview of what is going

15      on in this email chain?

16 A.   This is communication between our new health officer

17      and Tamara Tarrance, our recruiter, and myself about

18      the public health division administrator director of

19      nursing posting.  It was -- we had a vacancy for that

20      position.  We wanted to repost and make some

21      amendments to the position description.  We did.  We

22      interviewed candidates.  We did not select any of the

23      candidates interviewed.  We didn't feel as though they
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1      were the proper -- they had the proper experience.

2                 So after the posting or actually at the

3      interviews, Tamara Tarrance pulled me aside and said

4      something about the posting isn't correct, we made it

5      correct.  So if you don't want to move forward with

6      these candidates, we'll have to repost the new

7      position.  So this is Denise following up with Tamara

8      about the position Tamara had reposted with the

9      corrections.  She didn't tell us what the corrections

10      were.  But we wanted to make some additional revisions

11      because we felt that the candidate pool wasn't

12      sufficient.  We thought we were missing something with

13      -- for experience.

14                 And so we were exploring that option, but

15      Tamara Tarrance forwarded -- I guess already posted

16      the position with her corrections, forwarded Denise

17      the new applicants, and then this is Denise sharing

18      her confusion a bit.  And then I jumped in and shared

19      my confusion as well trying to figure out what it was

20      that Tamara changed in the posting because I wasn't

21      sure.  And I don't know if she ever actually sent it.

22 Q.   I want you to look at the second page here at the

23      email on the bottom where Ms. Tarrance is responding
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1      to you about this posting.  She says in the second

2      line of the email, "Please also be advised that the

3      public health division administrator job title has a

4      general job specification, and there are some specific

5      subclass public health division administrator, ie.

6      PHDA healthier childhood, healthier maternity special

7      projects."  Then she says, "Those are the only PHDA

8      classifications that have a city-created by

9      classification compensation job specification.  All

10      other PHDA positions have preferred qualifications

11      based on the specific area identified by DHD, ie.

12      director of operations, chief integration officer,

13      director of nursing are not City of Detroit created

14      subclass titles."  What did you understand her to

15      mean?

16 A.   I actually didn't really understand her explanation,

17      so I followed up with an email asking for

18      clarification and really trying to understand, because

19      it was so important that we hire a director of nursing

20      as soon as possible.  I wanted to just better

21      understand whether or not it has been appropriately --

22      the job description, position description had been

23      appropriately approved through all the necessary
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1      channels, and if she could provide any details or

2      guidance on that.

3 Q.   Now, this is an email that you received during the

4      course of this investigation, right?

5 A.   Correct.

6 Q.   What issues did this raise for you in terms of trying

7      to understand what the IG's concerns were about your

8      own job position and title and what has happened here?

9 A.   Well, if the OIG thought that things were happening

10      inappropriately, I wanted to ensure that things were

11      happening appropriately as we were further developing

12      the organization.  So it appeared to me that although

13      HR is overextended, they do a lot of great work.  I

14      was concerned that based on the draft OIG report, that

15      these -- that this position was not appropriately

16      approved either, so I wanted to ensure it was

17      approved.

18 Q.   And as a matter of just best HR principles, do you

19      have any idea which one is right, you know, whether

20      you can tweak the minimum qualifications or you can't

21      tweak them?

22 A.   No, I would look to HR for guidance on that.

23 Q.   I want to talk with you about the interviews that you
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1      had with the OIG earlier this year.  What is the first

2      notice that you received that OIG was conducting an

3      investigation and wanted to talk to you?

4 A.   I received an email from Beverly, I can't remember the

5      date exactly, but requesting to meet.  I was a little

6      caught off guard.  I had assumed that it had to do

7      with another OIG investigation that was occurring with

8      one of the programs that I oversee in connection with

9      the city.

10                 So I had asked our interim health officer

11      if -- because our interim health officer was giving us

12      regular updates on communication with our staff.  I

13      didn't realize I was on the list of people to be

14      called, and I just wanted to get the same type of

15      guidance that she provided to any of the other staff.

16      And then I believe Jean Ingersoll, our interim health

17      officer, emailed someone here, maybe a combination of

18      people, and asked if it was related to the same

19      investigation, and there was notice saying it was not.

20      So I didn't know what to expect, but I scheduled the

21      interview and came in.

22 Q.   Were you reluctant to come in?

23 A.   No.
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1 Q.   Were you hesitant to come in?

2 A.   No.

3 Q.   When you got here, what happened?

4 A.   Beverly met me at the front door and let me in.  I was

5      interviewed by Jacqueline and Beverly.  I sat over

6      here.  There was a recording that was -- actually I

7      think we did the Garrity letter first.  I initialed

8      things and signed off on the process.  Then they

9      started the recorder.  I really wasn't sure about the

10      recorder, but I wanted everything I said to be on the

11      record just in case.  Just I didn't want anyone's

12      notes to be incorrect.  I just wanted to make sure

13      everything that I said was what I said.

14                 And then we initially -- then the team

15      started asking me questions.  I can't remember who

16      started.  And then I think it was maybe two or three

17      questions in I actually asked that we pause for a

18      second so I could hear the Complaint, because I didn't

19      know what it was.  And then Beverly read the Complaint

20      or the allegation or whatever we call it.  And then --

21 Q.   Were you surprised?

22 A.   Yes.  I really didn't understand it.  I didn't

23      understand -- yes, I really just didn't understand it
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1      and I was really caught off guard.  And then the team

2      started asking me questions, and I really can't

3      remember all of them or even a good amount of them,

4      because I was so caught off guard.  I just remember

5      thinking, you know, I'm answering the questions just

6      as they're being read to me, but I kept thinking the

7      SEMHA and City of Detroit relationship is very

8      confusing.

9                 So after I left the session, I slept on it,

10      I thought about it overnight, and I think it was the

11      next day, maybe the day after I decided to contact

12      Beverly again and ask for a followup interview,

13      because I felt as though the questions were confusing

14      and -- not that they were confusing, but they were

15      confusing because I didn't have anything to reference.

16      The time lines were confusing, I really wasn't sure

17      about the dates.  I left a lot of questions saying I

18      don't know, and it wasn't because -- I couldn't

19      think -- something about it, it was just I wasn't

20      certain about dates and I didn't want to lie.  I was

21      so concerned about just -- I don't know, I was just

22      concerned about the entire process and not feeling

23      prepared for it that I didn't want to say anything
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1      that could hurt me or paint me in the wrong light or

2      make it seem like I'm lying.  So I just tried to be --

3      I tried to answer the questions that I knew.  And even

4      that, I felt like I needed to expand upon some of

5      them.

6                 And I went back to my notes, I went back

7      into my former emails, which is in a completely

8      different email system than the one we have now.  So I

9      went back, I tried to remember like the dates and

10      times that everything happened, but again it was so

11      confusing to me, and it's still confusing because, you

12      know, my role was evolving over time.  The work I was

13      doing was evolving, so it's difficult to say on this

14      exact day, yes, I have a letter saying this.  But it

15      doesn't make sense because these responsibilities just

16      came in frequently, and it just kept evolving over

17      time, so it's hard to pinpoint days and times.

18 Q.   Let me stop you for a minute.  Why was it important to

19      you to actually go back and look at the old emails and

20      documents?

21 A.   Because I didn't want to feel like I was lying or I

22      didn't want to be painted in the wrong light.  I knew

23      how serious an OIG or I thought -- what I knew about
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1      it, it was serious, and I wanted to make sure I was

2      doing everything appropriately and saying everything

3      appropriately.

4 Q.   The topics that these folks were asking you about in

5      November of 2019, you know, how the CIO position was

6      created, what particular role you had had, was that

7      something that you had thought about at all in the two

8      years preceding your interview at OIG?

9 A.   No.

10 Q.   And before coming to talk to these folks in November

11      of 2019, had you been able to do anything to prepare

12      for that or look to get the chronology in your mind?

13 A.   No.

14 Q.   Were you doing your best to answer the questions in

15      your first interview with OIG?

16 A.   Yes.

17 Q.   Now, you said after the interview you went back and

18      thought about it and you went back to your notes and

19      you decided to reach back out and request a second

20      meeting?

21 A.   Right.

22 Q.   Why did you do that?

23 A.   I wanted to ensure I was giving all the proper answers
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1      to all the questions that were asked.  I still wasn't

2      certain about some things because a lot of it was

3      just, you know, informal conversations, drafts that

4      maybe Dr. Khaldun and I were writing on that I didn't

5      keep.  And then that SEMHA-City dynamic, I was

6      concerned -- I mean, it is a confusing dynamic to be

7      honest.  I mean, I was a SEMHA employee.  I still

8      don't completely understand all the nuances between

9      the City of Detroit and SEMHA.  And I'm a city

10      employee now, and yet I still don't understand all the

11      nuances.

12                 So I think it's -- I mean, even explaining

13      it to you, it's a dynamic process, so I felt as

14      though -- and maybe they had experience with it, but I

15      felt as though I had to at least attempt to explain

16      that dynamic a little bit and explain what is

17      appropriate SEMHA processes versus appropriate city

18      processes, which both actually have very little

19      documentation on them, you know, all the appropriate

20      processes.  Like you mentioned with the raises and

21      such, SEMHA doesn't have that.  We had to make an

22      internal policy at the Health Department.  So a lot of

23      these things are just, oh, this is how it's done, and
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1      so I wanted to make sure I kind of explained it.

2 Q.   Okay.  We're almost done.  I just want to ask about a

3      few of the specific things in the draft OIG report.

4      The draft report says that you stated in the

5      November 9, 2019 interview that you had no prior

6      knowledge of the CIO position, and only became aware

7      of it through the City of Detroit posting?

8                 MS. BENTLEY:  I think we need to correct

9      the date.  You said November 9, 2019.  So that would

10      been --

11                 MS. PORTER:  Oh, no, that's not right.

12                 MS. BENTLEY:  Right.

13                 MS. HA:  It was the August 9th, 2019.

14                 MS. PORTER:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you

15      both.  I appreciate that.

16 BY MS. PORTER:

17 Q.   Let me ask the question again so that it's clear.  The

18      draft report claims that you stated in your initial

19      August 9, 2019 interview that you had no prior

20      knowledge of the CIO position, and only became aware

21      of it through the City of Detroit posting.  Sitting

22      here right now, do you remember the specific questions

23      that you were asked on that topic?
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1 A.   Somewhat.  I remember how I interpreted it.  I don't

2      know if this is exactly the words that were used, but

3      I heard it as do you have any knowledge or did you

4      have any knowledge of the City of Detroit chief

5      integration officer posting.  And so I answered it or

6      what I thought, you know, the time line of the

7      posting, like when it would actually happen.  And

8      again, I was told ASAP, ASAP, ASAP, that's it.  So,

9      no, I didn't know when it was happening.  So I was

10      trying to figure out my life externally to the Health

11      Department, and figure out if I was even going to

12      apply or if I was going it try to stick it out, or if

13      I was going to -- what I was going to do.  So when I

14      heard that, and again I was still -- I was caught off

15      guard, that's how I interpreted it.  I don't know why

16      or how, I don't know if we have records of the

17      question or how it was asked, but I heard it that way.

18      And again, yes, I don't know, I just heard it that

19      way.

20 Q.   So whether you heard it right or whether you heard it

21      wrong, at the time that you're sitting with OIG in

22      August of 2019, did you have any reason to think that

23      you had done something wrong with respect to the CIO
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1      title or the posting?

2 A.   No.

3 Q.   Were you trying to mislead OIG about that?

4 A.   No.

5 Q.   When we read the draft OIG report, it looks like what

6      IG was focusing on was the initial creation of the

7      posting within SEMHA?

8 A.   Right.

9 Q.   Whatever the exact words that were used, to the best

10      of your memory sitting here now, is that what you

11      thought you were being asked during the August 2019

12      interview?

13 A.   I think so -- can you rephrase that question?  It's so

14      confusing.

15 Q.   So one of the things we spent a lot of time unpacking

16      today is that there was a SEMHA job posting that you

17      participated in writing at a time that you thought the

18      job was yours, and that that changed, and there was a

19      City of Detroit job that was actually posted.

20 A.   Right.

21 Q.   And what seems clear from the draft report is that the

22      IG folks believed that you were concealing that you

23      had played some role in drafting the job position on
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1      the SEMHA side.

2 A.   Right.

3 Q.   What I'm trying to ask is were you trying to conceal

4      that?

5 A.   No.

6 Q.   Did you think you had any reason to conceal that?

7 A.   No.

8 Q.   Did you think that you had done anything wrong with

9      that?

10 A.   No.  Because they were two separate entities, so I

11      didn't think anything.

12 Q.   Sitting here right now, do you think you did something

13      wrong in your work for SEMHA?

14 A.   No.

15 Q.   In trying to look at the OIG report and understand how

16      it is that there might be a conclusion that you

17      weren't being straight with them, what do you think

18      may have happened here?

19 A.   I think it was just miscommunication.  I really didn't

20      understand what was being asked of me, and I really

21      see SEMHA and the City of Detroit HR processes as I

22      believe both entities see it as two separate entities.

23      Again, I didn't think anything of it.  I didn't think
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1      that it was unethical or inappropriate or anything.

2 Q.   Now to be clear, we did ask for copies of the

3      recording so we could see exactly what was asked, and

4      I understand it's the policy of the office not to

5      share those.  So we don't know specifically what you

6      were asked or what was answered, is that fair?

7 A.   Right.

8 Q.   And it may be that you were asked specifically about

9      one thing and were confused?

10 A.   Right.

11 Q.   One thing I want to be very clear about is were you

12      intentionally trying to lie to IG or mislead IG about

13      your work on this?

14 A.   No.

15 Q.   There is another aspect of the draft report that

16      claims you made a false statement about why the CIO

17      position was changed from SEMHA to City of Detroit.

18      Again, do you remember the specific questions that

19      anyone asked during your interviews about that?

20 A.   I don't recall that, and I really don't remember

21      talking about SEMHA a great deal at all.  I really

22      don't remember talking about it at all, because one of

23      the reasons I wanted to go back is to really explain
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1      the SEMHA-City of Detroit hiring dynamic, or at least

2      what I thought I could.  So I just really could not

3      remember that.

4 Q.   I want to go back to Exhibit 7 that we looked at

5      before.  In Exhibit 7, this is the October 23rd email

6      from Dr. Khaldun to you and Mr. Lawther, she says at

7      the bottom, "I need to discuss your role.  Because it

8      is so integrated with organizational development with

9      the city, we're unable to push it forward as is

10      through SEMHA, but we have a plan."  Did you regard

11      that as Dr. Khaldun explaining to you why the CIO

12      position was changed from SEMHA to City of Detroit?

13 A.   No.  And also because she never brought this up again.

14      We never talked about this process.  It was more so

15      this is just what we do, we move some positions to the

16      city, and I knew it had something to do -- she

17      mentioned something like very briefly about budgeting,

18      but I didn't know the extent of it.  I now understand

19      it a little better, but even now I still don't

20      understand why it was.  It has something to do with

21      not budgeting the appropriate amount for all the staff

22      that were in this 399 administrative budget, and

23      that's all I know.  I don't know why we did that or
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1      why the city functions that way or the department or,

2      you know, who made that decision.  But aside from this

3      email, which again throughout the investigation, yes,

4      now it refreshes my memory that this was said, but I

5      forgot about this email entirely.  It wasn't

6      significant, and this is never really what we talked

7      about.

8 Q.   Now you say it wasn't significant.  I mean, it was

9      significant that the way the job was going to be done

10      is different?

11 A.   Yes.

12 Q.   So what do you mean when you say that?

13 A.   The why, because it's integrated with organizational

14      development with the city.  That was never elaborated,

15      that was never explained, and that was never something

16      that we discussed.  I had understood that to be some

17      other positions, but not the chief integration officer

18      position.

19                 MS. HA:  You said earlier that when you got

20      this email from Dr. Khaldun, you were out of town

21      attending a conference, right?

22 A.   Yes.

23                 MS. HA:  And you said you were upset with
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1      this email?

2 A.   Yes.

3                 MS. HA:  What did you understand this email

4      to say?

5 A.   All I heard it say is we're not going through with

6      your position at SEMHA.  I didn't hear why.  This

7      meant nothing to me.  Truly even reading it now, it's

8      integrated with organizational development.  Why?  I

9      knew other positions that were integrated with

10      organizational development through SEMHA, so I didn't

11      understand what the reasoning was.  It didn't make

12      sense to me.  So I kind of disregarded that second

13      part, I disregard the first part.  I really just heard

14      things aren't going to work out.

15                 MS. HA:  So you never spoke with

16      Dr. Khaldun about what she meant by we have a plan?

17 A.   Her plan was, oh, we are going to post this position

18      through the city, and you can apply like everyone else

19      can.  I was like this is not a plan.  It seemed -- I

20      don't know, it seemed unfair considering what we had

21      originally spoke about through SEMHA.  So it just

22      seemed like it didn't make sense to me.

23                 Again, I was caught off guard by the entire
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1      process.  So really like even in hindsight I'm trying

2      to recall anything that we talked about regarding

3      organizational development.  That was never a sticking

4      point for this position.  It was not the thing we

5      talked about.  It was the bottom line, how much money

6      do we have in this account.  And that again was over

7      months and months and months of talking, and now in my

8      current position being able to say, oh, I understand

9      that formally we budgeted way too many positions in

10      this account that can't carry this many people.

11                 MS. HA:  So this is an email that was sent

12      by Dr. Khaldun on October 23rd.  So two days later,

13      October 25th, you must have spoken with Dr. Khaldun or

14      Timothy Lawther, because you got a pay raise which

15      became effective October 16?

16 A.   So we had been talking about a raise for quite some

17      time in our individual one-on-one sessions.  But that

18      was just again, I had been continuing to take on the

19      brunt of the work, I had been doing work for directors

20      and managers, redoing their work, and it just seemed

21      appropriate.  I don't even remember if I was in town

22      for when that document was processed or not.  That

23      must have been a conversation that Dr. Khaldun and Tim
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1      had.

2                 Regarding the date, that was a common

3      practice we usually go back to the original pay, the

4      first day of the pay period.  So that's just common

5      practice.

6                 MS. HA:  Okay.

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  So October 16th would have

8      been the first day of the pay period?

9 A.   I'm assuming, yes.

10 BY MS. PORTER:

11 Q.   I think we looked and saw it was a Monday.

12 A.   Yes.

13 Q.   The reason I was returning the focus on this document

14      was just to sort of crystalize the alleged false

15      statement in the draft report is -- as I understand it

16      is that you made a false statement about why the CIO

17      position was changed from SEMHA to City of Detroit?

18 A.   Right.

19 Q.   Again, without having the transcript and knowing

20      exactly what you said and remembering what you

21      remember now, did you do your best to tell the folks

22      at OIG what you understood to be the reason why it was

23      changed and whether you knew the reason?
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1 A.   Yes.  And I actually -- I mean, again, I now feel like

2      I know better now.  I was digging, you know, and

3      talking to our chief operating officer or director of

4      operations just about budgets, and we were budgeting

5      for this next fiscal year, and I was looking at some

6      old budgets and I was just figuring it out, so it was

7      easier -- I mean, I was able to figure it out

8      afterwards, but I don't even remember if I brought

9      that point back up the second time, because I thought

10      I answered appropriately.  And maybe I did, but I

11      never felt like that was something that I didn't

12      explain fully.  I truly did not know, you know, all

13      the details of it.

14 Q.   At least to you the October 23rd email that we're

15      looking at in Exhibit 7, did you feel that this gave

16      you the information that would cause you to know why

17      it is that this position was not going to go through

18      SEMHA?

19 A.   No, I don't feel that way.

20                 MS. PORTER:  Those are all the questions I

21      have.  Ms. Djelaj is willing to answer whatever

22      additional questions you have.  And if you don't,

23      maybe can take a quick break for everybody to stretch,
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1      and then I'd like to talk at you a little bit.

2                 MS. HA:  That's fine, let's take a break.

3                 (Brief recess.)

4                 (Exhibit No. 14 was marked

5                 for identification.)

6 BY MS. PORTER:

7 Q.   There is one additional exhibit we wanted to

8      introduce, and I'm showing you Exhibit 14.  Can you

9      just tell everyone what Exhibit 14 is?

10 A.   Yes.  This is a memorandum from our director of

11      operations at the Health Department to employee

12      services, human resources requesting the raise, my

13      raise, and showing my former responsibilities compared

14      to the new responsibilities that I have taken on over

15      the time.

16 Q.   So this is a very recent document that doesn't have to

17      do with what is in the OIG report, but I wanted to

18      introduce this because you had testified earlier about

19      a change that you caused to be made in the way that

20      salary adjustments were processed.

21 A.   Correct.

22 Q.   Is this document an example of the changes that you

23      helped implement?
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1 A.   So the -- yes.  And the changes through SEMHA are

2      separate than the changes through the City of Detroit.

3 Q.   Okay.  So just explain to us briefly how the changes

4      are manifested in Exhibit 14?

5 A.   So I'm going to be honest.  This was a long process,

6      and I was not a part of all the approval processes.

7      It even went up to Hakim Berry to process because we

8      could not find written documentation of how to ask for

9      a significant raise like this through the City of

10      Detroit.  So what we did was start with a memo.  There

11      was an additional document.  It was an one-pager just

12      saying my name and title, and it had the health

13      officer's signature.  She had left the department.

14      The salary adjustment wasn't even processed yet.  So

15      this is after she had left, and the interim health

16      officer thought it was warranted as well, the raise,

17      and was processing it through the director of

18      operations.

19                 Again, it's similar to SEMHA in that we

20      require justification as to why and how

21      responsibilities have changed or increased when we ask

22      SEMHA employees for raises or if they ask for raises

23      as well.
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1                 MS. PORTER:  Do I need to mark as exhibits

2      Ms. Djelaj's response to the draft report?

3                 MS. HA:  No.  It will be attached to the

4      final report.

5                 MS. PORTER:  Okay.  And my understanding is

6      that Dr. Khaldun also wrote a response.  Is that

7      considered part of the record?

8                 MS. HA:  Yes, as well as the response from

9      the Human Resources Department.

10                 MS. PORTER:  Good, yes.

11                 MS. BENTLEY:  And Dr. Khaldun's hearing

12      transcript and all of the exhibits she submitted.

13                 MS. PORTER:  Okay.  I would like to speak

14      with you just to give an overview of the testimony you

15      heard today and the response that Ms. Djelaj wrote to

16      you.  She takes this very, very seriously.  I hope

17      that comes across to you today.  This is very

18      important to her.  She feels that her integrity has

19      been questioned and is at stake, and she wants to

20      answer any question at all in your mind about

21      anything.  And so let me share some things, and then

22      if you do have remaining questions, please ask them.

23                 I want to talk through each of the
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1      allegations in the anonymous letter.  I won't bother

2      with the notion that she used intimidation tactics.

3      And I understand IG has already concluded that some of

4      these aren't founded.  But I think that the overall

5      thrust of the claim that was made here, and one that I

6      can certainly understand would cause IG concern, is

7      that there was a sham process in place here to promote

8      a friend and pay her too high a salary, and the city's

9      resources and processes were manipulated and wasted

10      for that.  And even though I know you have already

11      picked off parts of that, I won't speak long about all

12      of them, but I think I would like to address all of it

13      just as a piece, because that allegation at its core

14      is not what happened here.  Does that happen in some

15      places?  Yes.  I am from Chicago, I have prosecuted

16      that case.  And I understand that that happens and

17      that should never happen in a city.  It may be

18      happening in Detroit, but it did not happen with

19      respect to this woman, and that's really what I want

20      to focus on.

21                 So first, the anonymous complainant alleged

22      that Dr. Khaldun promoted a personal friend to a

23      high-ranking position and doubled her salary.  There
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1      is not evidence I'm aware of to support the allegation

2      that Ms. Djelaj and Dr. Khaldun were or are personal

3      friends.  Ms. Djelaj respects Dr. Khaldun as someone

4      who was her boss for a period of time, but they were

5      never personal friends, they were work colleagues.

6      They met for the first time when Ms. Djelaj started at

7      the Health Department in 2016, and they have not had

8      anything other than a purely professional relationship

9      ever since.

10                 You did not conclude in your draft report

11      that there was misuse of public funds, and I think

12      that's correct, but I do just want to comment on the

13      allegations about the salary increases.  Ms. Djelaj

14      has had salary increases from the time that she

15      started, and those were appropriate for a couple of

16      reasons.  First they were fully approved through the

17      proper channels.  We introduced documentation of that

18      during this hearing.  People may or may not agree that

19      the processes that SEMHA used to do that are best

20      practices, but that's the processes that they had, and

21      at least from Ms. Djelaj's perspective those were

22      followed.

23                 And all of those increases, including to
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1      this day, were based on her very, very substantial

2      work for the City of Detroit.  I have no idea how the

3      money is allocated across different specialties and

4      professions across the city.  It's a big city with a

5      lot of people doing important work, and so we're not

6      trying to say that Ms. Djelaj is holding up the City

7      of Detroit all by herself, she's not.  But she worked

8      very, very, very hard at her jobs, 60 to 80 hour

9      weeks.  She was very committed to her work, and was

10      someone who was constantly accepting and taking on.

11      You know, there are many employees who don't do that.

12      You put one more thing on their desk, and they say

13      that's not my job, I'm not doing it.  That's not what

14      she did.  And she agreed to keep taking on tasks even

15      though they weren't part of her specific job

16      description, because from the very beginning and from

17      the time that she came here, she cared about the

18      mission, and she wanted the work to get done.

19                 So she did get pay increases over time that

20      were commensurate with the additional work that she

21      was taking on and doing.  And that includes this time

22      period in late October 2017 that is really important

23      in your investigation and in your draft report.  There
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1      is nothing in the draft report, there is nothing in

2      any witness statements that we're aware of to suggest

3      that she wasn't being fairly paid for the work that

4      she was doing during that time frame or that she was

5      being paid in a way that was inconsistent with the

6      city procedures.  So as your report properly

7      concluded, this was not a misuse of public funds.

8                 The anonymous complainant also alleged that

9      Ms. Djelaj lacked the necessary experience to run

10      public health programs.  The draft report didn't say

11      that that's so.  But I think it's important to take

12      her overall qualifications in context when thinking

13      through the bigger allegation, which is this was just

14      a sham to put somebody that Dr. Khaldun wanted in the

15      spot.

16                 Part of the reason that we took the time to

17      walk through Ms. Djelaj's prior work experience, her

18      education and her qualifications is that she's someone

19      who has spent her whole education and career focused

20      on public health issues.  She has a undergraduate

21      degree in social work and a Master's degree in social

22      work, and I'm not a social worker, so I don't always

23      think what that entails.  But for Ms. Djelaj it has
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1      always been about public health and about building

2      communities and help bring folks together and

3      integrate the city processes with community

4      organizations whether it's from people who are HIV

5      positive to, you know, you described many of the other

6      public health issues that she's focused on,

7      Hepatitis A, all the different stuff she's talked

8      about.  I find my client to be very impressive.  She's

9      done a lot in her career so far, and she has been

10      well-suited for the positions that she has earned at

11      the City of Detroit.

12                 The draft from OIG speaks to HR Rule 11 and

13      the minimum entrance qualifications listed in the job

14      specifications for this PHDA class, and as I

15      understand the point that you're making, the argument

16      is that the same minimum qualification is supposed to

17      be used for all PHDA qualifications across the board,

18      and this idea that there are subclasses or tweaks on

19      the PHDA that can have minimum qualifications, what I

20      think you're finding is, that's not right, and HR

21      shouldn't be doing that.  That may be right and it may

22      be wrong, we don't know, and Ms. Djelaj is not taking

23      a position on that.  The important part that I hope
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1      that you will find and take away from this is that so

2      far as she knew, if it's a PHDA position, she's

3      qualified for it, she does meet that minimum

4      qualification.

5                 But more to the point of I think what

6      you're getting at in the report, she did not draft

7      that.  The CIO description that Ms. Djelaj wrote was

8      for SEMHA.  It was at a time where she was working

9      under the SEMHA umbrella.  This was the way all of the

10      positions had been filled.  The staff was growing

11      exponentially.  She's not an HR person, she wasn't

12      trained in HR.  It probably shouldn't be part of her

13      job to write position descriptions, but that was

14      falling on her shoulders because it needed to be done.

15      And, yes, that did include a position, the CIO

16      position which she wrote for herself, and she did

17      think that she was going to fill that position, and

18      Dr. Khaldun thought she was going to fill that

19      position, and they thought that they could through the

20      SEMHA processes.  As we understand it, there is

21      nothing wrong with that.  That was done for many other

22      kinds of jobs.  And, again, maybe it shouldn't be that

23      way, but it wasn't to be a sham and it wasn't to be a
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1      fraud just to put your favorite person in.  It was

2      this is a need we have, Ms. Djelaj is doing that

3      position, it's essential and critical to the

4      functioning of the department, and we need to

5      formalize it, because, you know, this special

6      associate thing really doesn't capture what she's

7      doing.

8                 And I didn't hear Dr. Khaldun's testimony,

9      but in my understanding from Ms. Djelaj in her

10      testimony today and the response that she wrote to

11      you, this was a time when the department was changing

12      a lot and growing a lot.  And so figuring out what

13      positions we need and what should we call them and

14      where should they be and how are we going to pay for

15      them was very fluid.  We are not trying to throw HR

16      under the bus.  It's a hard job, it's a big city,

17      there is a lot going on.  And it wasn't helped a whole

18      lot by having SEMHA on the one hand and the City of

19      Detroit on the other maybe not working together in the

20      most seamless way.

21                 And I think part of what's happened here is

22      you just had a complaint to investigate.  You're not

23      trying to get to the bottom of whether every job
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1      position is done right.  You have a complaint and

2      you're trying to see if the allegations are founded,

3      which is fine.  What I'm concerned about is Ms. Djelaj

4      getting caught in the cross hairs of that in something

5      that may just be happening in a widespread way, but

6      not because she's doing something wrong or because

7      other people are doing wrong, but just because people

8      need to do a better job on these processes.  And when

9      I say some people, I don't mean my client, I mean --

10      I'm talking about HR.

11                 On whether this job was made for

12      Ms. Djelaj, on the SEMHA side she concedes that it

13      was, but that changed.  And that important divide in

14      the time line is in late October of 2017 where

15      something happened which all of you may know but she

16      doesn't know behind the scenes that causes Dr. Khaldun

17      to tell her we can't do it this way any more, we can't

18      process this through SEMHA, but we have some other

19      plan.  And the other plan turned out to be it's going

20      to have to be posted through City of Detroit, it's

21      going to be a competitive process, it's not an

22      appointed position, there are going to be interviews,

23      maybe you'll get it, but maybe you won't.  That is
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1      what everyone told Ms. Djelaj, and that is what she

2      believed.  And she was scared, and she thought that

3      she was going to lose her job.

4                 At the time that you wrote the draft

5      report, you had some information, but you didn't have

6      Ms. Djelaj's full perspective, you didn't have

7      Dr. Khaldun's perspective.  You had Christina Hall's

8      perspective.  I don't know who wrote the anonymous

9      complaint, but I would put my money that it was

10      Ms. Hall, not because I'm trying to identify a

11      complainant, but because it matters some.  You know,

12      somebody who has been passed over twice for jobs that

13      Ms. Djelaj happened to get may have an issue with

14      Ms. Djelaj and think it's not fair.  And all of us

15      want to think that we're the ones who should get the

16      job and we're the most qualified.  I don't know

17      Ms. Hall's qualifications, and Ms. Djelaj doesn't know

18      Ms. Hall's qualifications, but we do know Ms. Djelaj's

19      qualifications.  She was very qualified for the jobs

20      that she earned.

21                 And the way the CIO thing came about, for a

22      while she was the one doing the job.  This functional

23      title thing is complicated, because on one hand you
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1      have a whole set of classifications and formal titles,

2      but it's very normal in other big cities and Detroit

3      for people to use these functional titles, and I don't

4      think it's meant to be sinister.  I don't think anyone

5      is trying to cheat.  It may make it confusing, but I

6      think the idea is to deal with the practical needs

7      while the technical stuff is working itself out on the

8      HR side.  And that's what happened here, Ms. Djelaj

9      was the acting CIO.  Whether it was called that

10      immediately or called that later, she was doing that

11      job at the time.

12                 I don't know what Dr. Khaldun told you or

13      why she decided to refer to Ms. Djelaj that way, but

14      that wouldn't be uncommon given the practices of the

15      City of Detroit at that time for people to refer to

16      folks in these functional titles.  Nor would it have

17      been improper or uncommon for Ms. Djelaj to refer to

18      herself that way, which she told you she started doing

19      later in time.

20                 Some of the exhibits we produced in the

21      hearing, the postings and correspondence regarding

22      some of these other titles show that that is a routine

23      practice.  If it's wrong to do that, and the IG thinks
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1      folks shouldn't be doing that, there is a place for

2      you to make that point and talk about the practices of

3      the city.  I actually don't think it is wrong.  I've

4      seen it in so many different places, I think it's

5      common.  But if it's wrong, it's not because

6      Ms. Djelaj is out on a limb or Dr. Khaldun is out on a

7      limb with some creepy practice that they made up to

8      try and protect this position for Valentina.  That is

9      not what happened here.

10                 Ms.  Djelaj had no intent in using that

11      title to ward other people off or protect that turf as

12      her own.  She was scared she wasn't going to get it,

13      that is true, but she used the title because it was

14      the functional title, and it was the job she was doing

15      at the time, and that did not diminish her fear when

16      she went in to the interview process that she very

17      soon might be out of a position.  She prepared for the

18      job, the job interview, she crammed for it with her

19      family.  She, you know, looked in and at the needs of

20      her family and thought about whether this was going to

21      be the right thing, and she went to the interview.

22                 You know, again at the time you wrote the

23      draft report, you didn't have as much information as I
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1      hope you have now.  There is another witness, Alexis,

2      I'm sorry, Adams-Wynn.  I don't know what she might

3      have to say about the interviews, but at least the

4      experience that my client has shared with you, and

5      again I don't know what Dr. Khaldun had to say about

6      this, but my client's understanding was that this was

7      a real interview.  She believed it to be a real

8      interview before she went for it, after she went for

9      it, during the interview.  And the fact that she did

10      win and get the job doesn't mean that the process is

11      rigged.  It could mean that, but in this case it

12      doesn't mean that.

13                 We don't know how many other people applied

14      for the job or how many other people were interviewed

15      besides Ms. Hall, but what we do know is that

16      Ms. Djelaj is an extremely qualified and talented

17      woman who had been working within the department for

18      almost two years at a critical time helping build it

19      out.  And that integration function, that job is a

20      complicated job that requires a lot of knowledge of

21      the inner workings of the department.  So the fact

22      that she got this does not mean that it was rigged,

23      and I hope that when you sort of take into account the
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1      additional information that you've received, that that

2      will cause you to change that finding.

3                 One other note on the interviews.  I know

4      you have already based on what City of Detroit

5      apparently told you acknowledged that not only was the

6      notion that this was an appointed position incorrect,

7      but also this notion that it couldn't have been done,

8      that they would have known who would get the job right

9      away, it couldn't have been scored quickly, that is

10      not Ms. Djelaj's experience, and it doesn't seem

11      consistent with what would have happened here.

12                 Again, without knowing how many other

13      people were interviewed, it's hard for me to say, but

14      if for example the only people that were interviewed

15      were Ms. Djelaj and Ms. Hall, I don't think that would

16      have been a tough decision.  I say that not to

17      diminish Ms. Hall, but because of all the evidence

18      you've heard about Ms. Djelaj's qualifications for

19      this position.  If there were five other very, very

20      qualified people, I can't speak to that.  I would like

21      to -- you know, if there were more folks at issue, we

22      would like the opportunity to address that, but I

23      don't know what your evidence is, so I can't talk
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1      about that.

2                 One of the other allegations in the

3      anonymous complaint was that internal candidates who

4      applied were told that they should have known the

5      position was created for Valentina.  We haven't seen

6      any evidence of that.  To the extent that Ms. Hall is

7      the person saying that, the OIG we suggest should

8      speak to whoever allegedly told her that.  I don't

9      know who that would be.  That's not what Dr. Khaldun

10      told Ms. Djelaj.  It's not what Tim Lawther told

11      Ms. Djelaj.  They told her exactly the opposite of

12      that.  But our understanding is that that is not

13      substantiated.

14                 I think that addresses all the points that

15      I have for you about the complaint.  I want to turn to

16      the report, the draft OIG report statement that

17      Ms. Djelaj was dishonest during her interviews.  I

18      urge you to reconsider this knowing everything you

19      know now and having had the opportunity to hear from

20      Ms. Djelaj.  And if you're not convinced by the time

21      I'm done talking, please ask more questions, because

22      she did not lie in her interviews to you.  She had no

23      reason to lie to you.  I'm not asking you to take my
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1      word for it.  I'm asking you to ask her, and really

2      question what would be the motive for her to do that.

3      It would have to be that this really was a sham

4      process and that she had done something wrong and she

5      was trying to cover it up.  That didn't happen here.

6      It certainly didn't happen from Ms. Djelaj's

7      perspective.

8                 In terms of context, I can absolutely

9      understand why in advance of calling somebody in for

10      an interview you might not want to tell them what it's

11      about.  I've done that a lot of times myself, and that

12      is a fair choice of interviewers to make.  But it also

13      makes it important to consider it from the subject's

14      perspective.  She didn't know what it was about.  She

15      actually thought it was about something else.

16                 Ms. Djelaj, I don't know if you've seen it

17      today, I certainly have, is -- she thinks very

18      carefully about her answers.  If she's not 100 percent

19      sure it's right coming out of her mouth, she doesn't

20      want to say.  She was nervous.  And again there are

21      good reasons not to tell someone in advance what

22      something is about.  Sometimes there's good reason not

23      to show people the documents that you know exist.  But
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1      she had not been back through her files, she had not

2      looked at these things.  And I think to her credit

3      when she did know what it was about and when she did

4      go back and look, she had concerns, you know, maybe I

5      didn't answer everything they've asking me.  I need to

6      go back and explain more.

7                 The draft report talks about her recanting

8      earlier comments that she had made.  I urge you to

9      strike that characterization and think about what's

10      the proper way to think through what she was telling

11      you.  I think a more fair description of what may have

12      happened here is that through nobody's fault I think

13      OIG was earnestly trying to get to the bottom of this

14      complaint and ask questions about some complicated

15      personnel issues.  I believe Ms. Djelaj was earnestly

16      trying to answer those for you.  There may have been

17      times that you were talking past each other whether

18      it's about the SEMHA-City of Detroit issues or

19      something else, I don't know.  Without listening to

20      the recording, I can't be sure exactly what happened

21      here.  But I'm going out on a limb a bit because I

22      haven't heard it, but that's -- from what Ms. Djelaj

23      has recalled about the conversation or what she's
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1      explained in her testimony today, that seems to me to

2      be a fair assessment of what happened.

3                 It's important here, it's very important

4      because our truth telling and our willingness, you

5      know, especially in the context of an important

6      investigation is in many ways more important than the

7      substance of the work that we do.  It is critical to

8      Ms. Djelaj.  It's one of the reasons that this has

9      been so deeply upsetting for her, the idea that you

10      think that she lied when she, A, didn't lie; and, B,

11      didn't have a reason to lie; and, C, doesn't want you

12      to think that she lied.  All of those things are very,

13      very important to her.  So I really urge you to

14      reconsider your conclusions on that in light of the

15      new information and additional information that you

16      have heard.

17                 The specific issues in the first interview,

18      the August 9th, 2019 interview, the draft OIG report

19      is focused on what she told you about job

20      descriptions.  I just want -- again, maybe you can

21      relisten to the recording and this will make sense,

22      and maybe it won't, so this is a risky argument for

23      me, but I -- my sense is there may have been some
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1      confusion about whether the job description that was

2      being asked about was the SEMHA job description versus

3      the City of Detroit one.  Even more fundamental than

4      that it's a -- it's a series of events two years

5      earlier that Ms. Djelaj did not know was important and

6      did not know was a problem and had not reviewed.  So I

7      ask you to look back on your notes or your recording

8      with compassion for someone who is trying to answer

9      something without having had the opportunity to go

10      back and review her notes or emails and today not

11      hearing the recording.

12                 Same thing on this idea that Ms. Djelaj

13      made a false statement for saying she wasn't aware why

14      the position was changed from SEMHA to the City of

15      Detroit.  To this day it's not clear to me that

16      Ms. Djelaj really knows why.  What she does know in

17      that October 23rd, 2017 email was it wasn't going to

18      happen the same way any more, but she wasn't -- no one

19      really explained to her why that was.  She has pieced

20      things together over time, but she didn't have access

21      for example to the email that you site in the report

22      that she was not copied on from maybe a legal memo.

23      That's not something that she was privy to, it's not
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1      something that anyone explained to her.

2                 The draft report also concludes that

3      Ms. Djelaj was not honest about using the CIO title in

4      emails before the position was posted.  The evidence

5      that you cite for that in the draft is that you have

6      found an email from January 2018 in which she used the

7      title.  Without hearing the recording, I can't be

8      100 percent sure of the argument I'm making to you,

9      but from your report it seems like what she told you

10      is she didn't remember using the title.  The fact that

11      you were able to find an email from January 2018 where

12      she did use the title doesn't mean that that's a lie.

13      She is acknowledging to you that she used the title,

14      and she's tried to explain to you why that was and why

15      she thought that was okay.  But I urge you to

16      reconsider the conclusion that she wasn't honest with

17      you about it.  She was doing her best to remember when

18      she used the title or whether she did at that

19      particular point in time.

20                 My understanding is that under the rules

21      that you sent to me in Paragraph 12, issues a report,

22      it says if the Inspector General elects to issue a

23      formal report based on findings from the
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1      investigation, a copy of any written response and/or

2      transcript of the hearing shall accompany the report.

3      If the Inspector General elects not to issue a formal

4      report, the affected agency or person shall be

5      notified in writing.

6                 My wish, number one, is that you elect,

7      Inspector General, not to issue a report at all.  This

8      was an anonymous complaint.  You have investigated it,

9      you've collected a lot of information, the allegations

10      aren't substantiated by you.  So my hope is that you

11      don't issue any report at all.

12                 If you do issue a report, please, please

13      consider all that we've presented and that you've

14      heard from other witnesses.  This has happened to me

15      before.  I think this happens a lot where you have

16      some information and it looks one way.  I hope that we

17      have shown you some other facets of this that would

18      cause you to reconsider the conclusions that you've

19      drawn.

20                 And so if you were going to issue a report,

21      I hope that it's rewritten to account for the evidence

22      that we've presented today both as to the substance

23      and especially as to the concept that Ms. Djelaj made
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1      false statements to you.  She has a long career ahead

2      of her I hope, and she is doing great work for people,

3      and I would hate for a misunderstanding to cause her

4      not to be able to fulfill every bit of her potential.

5                 So is there anything else?

6                 THE WITNESS:  No.  Thank you.

7                 MS. PORTER:  Do you have questions?

8                 MS. MURRAY:  I do.  I have a couple.  I

9      would like to thank you for all this information, and

10      it's been helpful in helping clear up some things, and

11      we will definitely take it into consideration when

12      we're reviewing our report.

13                 MS. PORTER:  Thank you so much.

14                 MS. MURRAY:  So I know that, Ms. Djelaj,

15      you say that there may have been some confusion about

16      how the question was asked in the initial and probably

17      the followup interview.  So I just would like to ask

18      the question now and get a clear answer, because there

19      were a couple of things that we were trying to

20      address, the first one being -- well, you've already

21      answered that.  The first one is if you had a role in

22      writing the position description, and I think that you

23      made it clear that you had a role when the position
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1      was being posted through SEMHA.  You were not sure at

2      the time that the same position description was given

3      to the City of Detroit, so I understand that better

4      now.

5                 But the second one was if you had any prior

6      knowledge of the position before it was posted, and

7      again I think the answer to that is --

8 A.   So for SEMHA, yes.  City of Detroit, yes, I had

9      knowledge of the position when it would be posted.  I

10      think that's where I honed in, or, you know, the time

11      line or that -- I guess I was thinking that way would

12      be unfair or, I don't know, but that's where I was

13      focused.  So, yes, I had had knowledge of both

14      positions on the SEMHA and the city side, but not the

15      way it was written, right, on the city side, just the

16      way it was written on the SEMHA side.

17                 MS. MURRAY:  So when the decision was made

18      that the position was going to be posted with the City

19      of Detroit, you did get information from Dr. Khaldun

20      that it was no longer going through SEMHA, it was

21      going to be a City of Detroit process?

22 A.   Yes.

23                 MS. MURRAY:  So is it your testimony that
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1      you don't have -- you don't understand why that was or

2      you don't know have any idea of why that came about?

3 A.   I think the why is still a bit unclear.  I think now

4      sitting here today I think it's the most clear, and it

5      has something to do with the budget and not having

6      enough in the administration budget.  That piece about

7      organizational development wasn't thoroughly expressed

8      or explained to me.  I do know that was expressed to

9      other people for other positions, but that was not

10      something that I really thoroughly understood.  It was

11      more so the -- and this is constant throughout the

12      years, not having enough money in our administrative

13      budget.

14                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay.  You did testify earlier

15      that at the time the department was growing and that

16      other positions at SEMHA were being moved over to the

17      City of Detroit.  So when Dr. Khaldun made the

18      statement, did you think that it was just part of that

19      process that it was being moved?

20 A.   Yes.

21                 MS. MURRAY:  And based on how those other

22      positions were moved, did it work the same way?  Did

23      all of the people have to apply and then go through a
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1      --

2 A.   Yes.  And there are multiple examples.  Some people

3      chose to not apply, they moved on from the city.  And

4      I think in my response I gave a couple of examples.

5      Some individuals did apply and actually get their

6      position.  Some individuals did not get their position

7      and the positions were never filled because we didn't

8      find good candidates for that role.  And because the

9      budget shifts often and leadership changes their mind,

10      some were removed from the budget altogether and other

11      amendments were made.  But, again, I don't know all

12      the nuances, and I wasn't apart of many of those

13      decisions, so I wouldn't know how to elaborate

14      further.

15                 MS. MURRAY:  I do have some questions that

16      came up through some of the things you said earlier

17      that I just wanted to ask.  The Hepatitis A work that

18      you were describing, do you remember how that came

19      about?  Is that something that Dr. Khaldun directed

20      you to do?

21 A.   Yes, yep.  So the state health department called us

22      and said that there were increased Hepatitis A

23      exposures in the city.  We knew the location, and it
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1      was around food handlers.  And so, yes, Dr. Khaldun

2      instructed me to stand up a clinic.  And again, with

3      very little experience doing so, I actually had to do

4      everything from again creating the documents we used,

5      to helping with the press release, to actually doing

6      the intakes at the session one day.  It was actually

7      just myself doing the intakes, a nurse, and

8      Dr. Khaldun because we were so short staffed.

9                 MS. MURRAY:  And when Dr. Khaldun was

10      promoted, was there a new medical director, or did she

11      still remain?

12 A.   She actually filled both roles, and this is more of a

13      technical thing, which is interesting.  We had a chief

14      medical advisor that started, but for the State of

15      Michigan, only Dr. Khaldun was qualified to be both

16      the health director and the medical director.  So she

17      functioned in both roles.  But we did have a chief

18      medical advisor that did a lot of the logistics work

19      that Dr. Khaldun used to do in her medical director

20      role.  But, again, that's per the public health code,

21      and there are all of these qualifications that I could

22      always get for you and send.  But it was new and

23      interesting and we had to learn the process when
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1      Dr. Khaldun had to become both the medical director

2      and health officer.

3                 MS. MURRAY:  So when she became both, did

4      the position that you held previously, the clinical

5      engagement coordinator, did that position still exist?

6 A.   No.  So those roles and responsibilities evolved.  One

7      of the individuals I ended up supervising was the

8      physician detailer.  So some of the work I had done

9      through the clinical engagement coordinator role,

10      educating providers, doing CME work, continuing

11      medical education work, that was shifted to a

12      physician detailer who did this 100 percent of the

13      time for various public health issues.  So it was a

14      need -- again, through the evolution of the positions

15      and the department, we saw a bigger need with

16      educating providers, so we created an entire role that

17      was solely focused on going door to door, clinic to

18      clinic and doing this work.

19                 MS. MURRAY:  And the specialist associate

20      position to the health officer, was that a position

21      that existed prior to Dr. Khaldun becoming the health

22      officer?

23 A.   Yes.
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1                 MS. MURRAY:  Okay.  And when you learned

2      that this position was going to be posted with the

3      City of Detroit instead of being processed through

4      SEMHA, I believe you stated that you expressed

5      concerns with Dr. Khaldun -- to Dr. Khaldun and Tim

6      Lawther.  Did you express concerns to anyone else

7      about your future employment with the Health

8      Department?

9 A.   I'm sure in casual conversation, because when

10      people -- even when people saw the position, people

11      thought I was leaving the department.  And other

12      people were like are you not working with Dr. Khaldun

13      any more?  You know, just casual conversation I'm sure

14      I did.  I don't recall, though, the specific

15      conversations.

16                 MS. MURRAY:  That's fine.  Do you recall if

17      you applied for any other jobs between October and

18      February?

19 A.   Yes, I believe I did, a couple.  I would have to look

20      in my emails and see what those are.

21                 MS. MURRAY:  Were they jobs within the

22      Health Department or outside?

23 A.   No, outside the Health Department.
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1                 MS. MURRAY:  And do you recall if you

2      interviewed for any of these positions?

3 A.   No, I did not interview.

4                 MS. MURRAY:  And prior to your interview

5      for the chief integration officer position, did you

6      have a working relationship with Alexis Adams-Wynn?

7 A.   Yes.  Yes, a work relationship, yes.

8                 MS. MURRAY:  Would you say that that was --

9      what kind of relationship?  I'm not sure of her role

10      exactly.

11 A.   Oh, just -- she was the assistant -- I think she was

12      executive assistant to the director at that time.

13                 MS. MURRAY:  Did you supervise her at all

14      or anything like that?

15 A.   No.  And she was a city employee.  City employees

16      cannot be supervised by SEMHA employees.  So that was

17      never --

18                 MS. MURRAY:  Those are all the questions

19      that I have.

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  I don't have any additional

21      questions.

22                 MS. HA:  Did you ever speak with

23      Dr. Khaldun after your initial interview here on
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1      August 9?

2 A.   I spoke with Jean Ingersoll.  Dr. Khaldun, yes, I

3      believe emails.  She is one of my references on my

4      resumé.

5                 MS. HA:  Did you ever talk to her about

6      your interview here?

7 A.   Not about the details of the interview here, no.

8                 MS. HA:  Okay.  Has she talked to you about

9      her response or the fact that she got a copy of the

10      report?

11 A.   Yes, yes.

12                 MS. HA:  Okay.  And did she tell you about

13      her hearing?

14 A.   Well --

15                 MS. PORTER:  The question is about your

16      communication with Dr. Khaldun, and you can answer

17      that.

18 A.   Yes.  So Dr. Khaldun and I actually sought the same

19      legal counsel.  So I knew she was having a hearing and

20      that lawyer had to -- I had to -- we had to separate

21      and I had to get myself a new lawyer.  So I did know

22      that she was doing that.

23                 MS. HA:  Okay.  I don't have any further
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1      questions.

2                 MS. HENDRICKS-MOORE:  I just wanted to

3      piggyback on that, because I believe there was a

4      question that was asked Dr. Khaldun had an

5      administrative hearing here.  So did she have a

6      discussion with you after the administrative hearing

7      she had here about what we had --

8 A.   No.

9                 MS. PORTER:  So you're asking about a

10      discussion.

11 A.   A discussion, no.

12                 MS. PORTER:  Why don't you answer fully,

13      though, whether there was any communication.

14 A.   Oh, yes.  So she sent me a happy birthday, a message,

15      it was my birthday.  And she had text me -- I had

16      asked her -- I don't know if I want me to pull it up

17      and see exactly what she said.  I knew it was her

18      hearing date because of communication with the two

19      lawyers, and she had said that it went well, and

20      that -- I don't know.

21                 MS. HA:  Did she ever ask you to say

22      something that you are not comfortable discussing?

23 A.   No.
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1                 MS. HA:  Did she ever ask you to -- did she

2      say anything like don't forget to mention this or

3      that?

4 A.   No, no.

5                 MS. HA:  Okay.  I don't have anything

6      further.

7                 MS. BENTLEY:  So just procedurally-wise, we

8      obviously have a lot of new information to go through.

9      Pursuant to the administrative hearing rules we need

10      to make a final decision within 30 days unless we

11      require additional information.  So I know you

12      mentioned potential additional witnesses, and we'll

13      just take a look at everything and see if we need to

14      do that.  So if we do need to do that, it would be 90

15      days -- we would have to issue something within 90

16      days from actually Dr. Khaldun's hearing, which was

17      the 13th I believe, so just to give you a time frame.

18                 MS. PORTER:  Thank you for that.  Just let

19      us know if you're able.

20                 MS. BENTLEY:  Yes, I can certainly let you

21      know if it will be the 30 days or extend beyond that.

22                 MS. PORTER:  Okay.  Do any of you have

23      other questions?



11/22/2019

313-962-1176
Luzod Reporting Service, Inc.

Page 166

1                 MS. BENTLEY:  I do not.

2                 MS. HA:  No.

3                 MS. PORTER:  If you decide you do, like if

4      you have that burning question, please, please ask us.

5      We'll either come back or do it by phone or whatever.

6                 MS. BENTLEY:  We'll certainly reach out if

7      we have additional questions.

8                 MS. PORTER:  Thank you.

9                 MS. HA:  Off the record.

10                 (Hearing concluded at 1:28 p.m.)
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1

2                    C E R T I F I C A T E

3

4                 I, Diane L. Szach, do hereby certify that I

5      have recorded stenographically the proceedings had

6      and testimony taken in the above-entitled matter at

7      the time and place hereinbefore set forth, and I do

8      further certify that the foregoing transcript,

9      consisting of (167) pages, is a true and correct

10      transcript of my said stenograph notes.

11

12

13                         ------------------------

14                         Diane L. Szach, CSR-3170
                        (Acting in Wayne County)

15                         Oakland County, Michigan
                        My Commission Expires:  3/9/24
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